
CITY OF TULSA BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT 
Regularly Scheduled Meeting 
Tulsa City Council Chambers 
175 East 2nd Street, 2nd Level 

One Technology Center 
Tuesday, July 11, 2023, 1:00 PM 

 
Meeting No. 1319 

 

 
If you wish to present or share any documents, written comments, or exhibits during the 
hearing, please submit them by 9:00 a.m. the day of the hearing. Remember to 
reference the case number and include your name and address.  
Email: planning@cityoftulsa.org 
Mail or In Person: City of Tulsa BOA c/o Austin Chapman, 175 East 2nd St. Suite 480 Tulsa 
74103 

MINUTES 
 

1. Approval of Minutes of April 25, 2023 (Meeting No. 1315). 

 

2. Approval of Minutes of May 9, 2023 (Meeting No. 1316). 

 

3. Approval of Minutes of May 23, 2023 (Meeting No. 1317). 

 

UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
 

4. 23530 - Nathalie Cornett 
Action Requested: 
Special Exception to permit a Small (up to 250-person capacity) Indoor 
Commercial Assembly and Entertainment use in the CS District serving alcohol 
within 150-feet of a residential zoning district (Sec.15.020, Table 15-2); Special 
Exception to permit an alternative compliance parking ratio to reduce the 
required number of parking spaces (Sec. 55.050-K) Location:  1330 E. 15th St. 
(CD 4) 

 
5. 23541 - Twister Concrete Work 

Action Requested: 
Special Exception to increase the permitted driveway width in a Residential 
District (Section 55.090-F.3) Location:  South of the SE/c of E. Tecumseh St. 
and N. Xanthus Ave.  (CD 1) 

 
 
 



 

NEW APPLICATIONS 
 

6. 23542 - Dodson Building Group INC 
ACTION REQUESTED: 
Special Exception to increase the permitted driveway width in a Residential 
District (Section 55.090-F.3) Location:  4339 S Atlanta Ave (CD 9) 

 
7. 23544 - Chris Stevens  

Action Requested: 
Special Exception to permit a Small (up to 250-person capacity) Indoor 
Commercial Assembly and Entertainment use in the IL District (Sec.15.020, 
Table 15-2) Location:   
6504 E. 44th St. (CD 5)  

 
8. 23545 - Raul Cisneros, Jr.  

ACTION REQUESTED: 
Special Exception to permit a duplex in the RS-3 district (Table 5.020, Table 5-2, 
Table 5-2.5) Location:  1746 S. Jamestown Ave. (CD 4) 

 
9. 23548 - Joseph L. Hull, IV 

ACTION REQUESTED: 
Variance to increase the permitted size of Temporary Mobile Storage Units on a 
non-residential lot (Sec. 50.030-F.2.C) Location:  35 E. 18th St. (CD 4) 

 
10. 23549 - Criminal Justice and Mercy Ministries of Oklahoma, Inc.  

ACTION REQUESTED: 
Special Exception to permit a Transitional Living Center Use in the RS-3 (Table 
5.020, Table 5-2); Location:  5707 S. Memorial Dr. (CD 7) 

 
11. 23550 - Cyntergy/ Linda Waytulsa 

ACTION REQUESTED: 
Variance to allow drive-through facilities to be located on the street-facing side of 
the property (Sec. 55.100-C.2) Location:  NE/c of S. Braden Ave. and E. 51st 
Street S. (CD 5) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 

OTHER BUSINESS 
 

NEW BUSINESS 
 

BOARD MEMBER COMMENTS 
 

ADJOURNMENT 
 

Website: tulsaplanning.org E-mail: esubmit@incog.org 
CD = Council District 

 
NOTE: If you require special accommodation pursuant to the Americans with 
Disabilities Act, please notify Tulsa Planning Office at 918-596-7526. Exhibits, Petitions, 
Pictures, etc., presented to the Board of Adjustment may be received and deposited in 
case files to be maintained by the Tulsa Planning Office at the City of Tulsa. All 
electronic devices must be silenced. 
 



BOA-04-25-2023 (1315) 1 
 

BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT 
MINUTES of Meeting No. 1315 
Regularly Scheduled Meeting 
Tulsa City Council Chambers 

175 East 2nd Street, 2nd Level, One Technology Center Tuesday, 
April 25, 2023, 1:00 P.M. 

 
Meeting No. 1315 

 
MEMBERS PRESENT 
 
Barrientos 
Bond, Chair 
Radney, Vice Chair  
Stauffer                    
Wallace 
 

MEMBERS 
ABSENT 
 

STAFF 
PRESENT 
A. Chapman 
S. Tauber 
D. Wilkerson 
J. Banes 

OTHERS 
   

A. Blank, Legal 

The notice and agenda of said meeting were posted in the City Clerk’s office, City Hall, 
on April 19, 2023, at 2:33 p.m., as well as at the Office of INCOG, 2 West Second 
Street, Suite 800. 
 
 

*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*. 
 

Mr. Bond called the meeting to order at 1:02 p.m.  
 
 

*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*. 
Mr. Chapman read the rules and procedures for the Board of Adjustment Public 
Hearing. 
 

*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*. 
 

MINUTES 
 

On MOTION of Barrientos, the Board voted 5-0-0 (Barrientos, Bond, Radney, Stauffer, 
Wallace “ayes”, no “nays”; no “abstentions”) to APPROVE the Minutes of April 11, 2023 
(Meeting No. 1314). 
 
 
 
 
 



BOA-04-25-2023 (1315) 2 
 

 
*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*. 

 

UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

 
Review and approval, approval with modifications, denial, or deferral of the following: 
 
23507 – Oscar Garcia 

Action Requested: 
Special Exception to permit Personal Vehicle Sales in the CS District (Sec. 
15.020, Table 15-2); Variance to permit the outdoor storage and display of 
merchandise in the CS district within 300-feet of an abutting R District (Sec. 
15.040-A) Location:  12430 E. 11th St. S. (CD 6) 

 
Presentation: 
Ahmed Davila, 56 East Place, Tulsa, Oklahoma 74105, stated that they were on 
several things in this site plan. We have been informed multiple times that there is a 
flood zone in that area. We are going to be working with not just a site plan, but an 
actual engineer to make sure that this is a safe space not just for ourselves, but for the 
neighborhoods. We need more time for engineering, this is not something that we can 
just draw on the board, we need to make sure that everything is done accordingly. He 
has been informed that the site plan needs more detail and of course we are still 
working on that as well. 
 
Mr. Bond asked if he was requesting a Continuance at this time. We will hear from 
interested parties and entertain that.  
 
Interested Parties: 
Christian Bengal, 175 East 2nd Street, Tulsa, Oklahoma, 74103, stated that he was 
here again, on this application. It is no small task to create a small business model that 
one determines as their path to success. They also must traverse the bureaucratic 
process for permitting and along with property acquisition. As you can tell, this was a 
simplistic application, there was not much planning or thought process behind the 
application. At the last hearing it was incorrectly identified this property location as being 
part of the Route 66 Overlay. As I indicated during the initial hearing, he was confident 
the Board will determine this intended development does nothing more than we did 
individual interests and deny its implementation. It does not elevate anything associated 
to the overlay, nor the vibrance of the community. Additionally, he was not aware of any 
community engagement that has been done on this application. As this Board is aware 
of the Route 66 Commission has invested significant resources and time to elevating 
Tulsa to being the capital of this historic Route. Through facade neon sign grants and 



BOA-04-25-2023 (1315) 3 
 

advocacy for the reconstruction of Avery Cyrus Ridge. This commission is tirelessly 
promoted through marketing, to entice business owners and developers to take part in 
preserving and memorializing the historic significance that Tulsa owns. It is our 
responsibility as elected officials, boards and commission members to respect the work 
being done by these preservationists, but also as Tulsans to validate the reference, my 
colleagues of the council who are here with me today, along with the Route 66 
commission members, along with Mr. Ken Busby, Executive Director and CEO of the 
Route 66 Alliance stand united to make sure that developments along this corridor 
continually meet a higher standard of approval and cater to developments that foster 
mutual benefit to not only historic preservation, but to the more localized community. 
That is a beautiful, undeveloped green space intended to duplicate two other 
businesses, less than a quarter of a mile away. One failed, which he suggested the 
applicant pursue ownership of and the other still operates. Clearly there is no need to 
establish with this application, no intent to create a significant economic impact, nor 
intended to create employment. The exception this application intends to bring is towing 
service while the board has already established that this is not allowed. He submitted 
respectfully that at some point, this will be implemented and left for the community to 
abate. If the applicant's intent were to exclusively sell classic cars with neon signage, 
this would be an application worth serious consideration. He wants the applicant to 
understand that even if our mayor were here today with the same proposal, he would be 
standing here speaking against him. He wants the applicant to understand this is not 
personal in a way, he sees no hardships being presented. Unfortunately, East Tulsa has 
suffered from a free reign and closed eye approach, where issuance of partial license 
has led to liberties that have decimated aesthetic inviting thoughtful and regulated 
business practices. So again, he stands here today hoping you will deny this 
application, because again, it does nothing for the community.  
 
Mr. Bond asked the Councilman if he would prefer that we hear this matter today or 
would you be agreeable to a continuance like the applicant’s request. 
 
Mr. Bengal stated that he would appreciate you just rejecting this application. The green 
space is beautiful. We have two developments that are already within a quarter mile of 
this intended development, and he did not think you would be doing a disservice by 
ruining this green space that is undeveloped right now. 11th Street does not mean 
another car lot. 
 
Ms. Radney stated that she would make that Motion. 
 
Mr. Bond stated that no matter what the revised plans say, especially for the sake of the 
applicant, it sounds like they are spending a lot of time and capital on this. He would 
prefer to hear this today. He would give the applicant the outcome that would give them 
the benefit of the doubt on whatever plans might come back.  
 



BOA-04-25-2023 (1315) 4 
 

Christa Patrick, 175 East 2nd Street, Tulsa, Oklahoma, 74103, stated that she is the 
Chair of the City Council. She is on the Route 66 Commission, and we have issued a 
letter previously in the planning to INCOG to plead that no more car related industry be 
allowed on the Route 66 Corridor unless it is specifically targeting the tourism or vintage 
aspect. We are overpopulated with especially used cars and car-related industry in that 
corridor. We are putting so much investment into creating tourism. It is a detriment to 
the area. On top of that, as the applicant pointed out, it is a floodplain and car lots 
require concrete, which would not be an option for a floodplain. If you concreted over 
that green space, it would cause detrimental flooding to the areas around it because 
there is no place for the flooding to go. There are lots of empty car lots along that 
corridor. So, if he really wants to put in a car lot, she will also suggest that he seek 
someplace that is already designed and set up for that so that we are not creating more 
dead concrete than we already have on that Route. She would respectfully ask that you 
take into consideration that Route 66 official letter on record asking to please not allow 
any additional car lots on the road.  
 
Grant Miller, 175 East 2nd Street, Tulsa, Oklahoma, 74103, stated he is the City 
Council for District Five. Right now, you are trying to get whether people object to 
continuing this. So, with that in mind, he would object to continuing the matter. 
 
Mr. Bond stated that they were trying to take the bull by the horns. We are going to go 
on and hear the matter today. 
 
Mr. Grant stated that with that being said, just what my colleagues have mentioned, 
there are some things that people cannot agree on within neighborhoods, but something 
that most people can agree on as far as Route 66 goes, is that there are too many car 
dealerships already in place, and that adding additional car dealerships will not be a 
benefit to the communities that are along that Route.  
 
 
Jeannie Cue, 175 East 2nd Street, Tulsa, Oklahoma, 74103 stated as someone that 
helped initiate the Route 66 Overlay who started the Route 66 Commission with Mayor 
Dewey Bartlett, she wanted to say we want to improve Route 66. We are the capital of 
Route 66, the home of where it started, and 11th Street is a key factor. She supports 
citizens. She does not want them to spend a lot of time and money and continue cutting 
back and it is something that will not pass anyway. There are so many open car sales 
lots on 11th Street that they could do things. That is why we put that overlay in because 
we do not want people coming into Tulsa, the thousands, and hundreds of thousands 
with the new Route 66, 100 Year Celebration to see car lots. We want great 
development. We want signage, we want beautification along there. She could not 
support this, and she hoped you did not.  
 
 



BOA-04-25-2023 (1315) 5 
 

Rebuttal:   
Ahmed Davila, 56 East Place, Tulsa, Oklahoma 74105, stated that he thanked 
everyone for being there. He too loves Route 66, as well as anybody else in this place. 
The owners want to develop this area. Regardless of if this is going to be a car lot, or 
something in the future, the purpose of this empty lot is to redevelop, we need to grow 
as a city and expand the city. A lot of times, to grow, you need to invest money, and we 
are willing to invest money in this property. He did not understand why this lot had not 
been developed in the past. This is one of the reasons; there are many car lots on 
Route 66. There are plenty of them. In fact, which is one of the main reasons why 11th 
Street has been famous, and a lot of folks keep forgetting that. If you go to Route 66, 
and you go through Tulsa, the first thing you see is the car lots, perhaps some of them 
are classics, some of them are old, and some of them are new. We need more 
development in this area. They would love to redevelop this area, making sure that 
development is not just safe for the neighbors, but for the whole community. We need to 
make sure that this new facility is not just a car lot, it is a space for him to grow once 
that development has been implemented safely, we could be something else that would 
be a commercial shop, we can develop something else. The bottom line is it needs to 
be developed. That is what we are saying here before you, letting the Board know that 
we are new in this development process, and we are learning from the Board. Please 
tell us what we need to do to make sure that this development is not just safe for the 
next-door neighbors, but for the future as well.  
 
Mr. Bond stated that we in the City appreciate your willingness to work with them on 
that. Can you articulate a hardship? 
 
Mr. Davila stated that the hardship that we are facing right now is the flooding. For the 
Variance of course, we want to do a car lot and now the car lot is facing a hardship and 
in that specific Variance. Well, thank you all for your patience. This hardship has 
multiple reasons, one is the location where it is at, and 11th street. It is three hundred 
feet from the neighborhood. We would like to put cars in the front of the street so we 
can present those cars in that way.  
 
Ms. Radney asked the applicant had done some investigations that relate to the 
floodplain that crosses the lot. 
 
Mr. Davila stated that they have been speaking with some engineers who have told us 
that there is something called a slow process that does it from what had been formed is 
that it slows down the flow of water and thus does not create overflow in that area. We 
need to make sure that the back area is secure for that specific location. 
 
Ms. Radney asked what percentage of the lot you would say is usable. 
 



BOA-04-25-2023 (1315) 6 
 

Mr. Davila stated that the front part. The back area is going to be a flood area. An 
example would be that there is a Starbucks Mingo Creek. That area is next to a flood 
zone. What they did is redevelop that area, and make sure that the water of the flooding 
area is secure for that specific space. There is plenty of space in the front for it to be 
used for commercial zoning. We will need some digging. We need to make further 
investigations into that, there is plenty of space in the front to develop. 
 
Ms. Radney stated that on the 11th street side of the property she saw that you are in 
the adjacent properties have driveways that come across, that come off 11th Street and 
go to the south. Is that an open trench there or how difficult would it be to create an 
entrance into this property that we are looking at opposite 11th Street? 
 
Mr. Davila stated that it was not difficult at all, because the trench goes through the 
backside of the area. The water flow will go through the back area into the creek that is 
there. We just need to make sure that development in that back area will work properly 
forward for that sector. Slowing down the flow of water will also help that area. There is 
an entrance on we can use the 11th Street as a main entrance. 
 
Ms. Radney asked if they would not need the 124th East Avenue entrance.  
 
Mr. Davila stated not necessarily. 
 
Ms. Radney stated that she apologized. She was multitasking, and not paying attention 
to when you were talking about the portion of the land that would remain with the 
vegetation on it. Could you remind me a little bit more about what that would look like or 
what you were talking about?  
 
Mr. Davila stated that they had not presented the Board with more details, but what our 
vision is in that area is something more of a space for parking, for starters. There will be 
plenty of space for a building as well, a small building that could be rentable, in the 
future for commercial business. The front part area is very stable, and very usable for 
the commercial lots. 
 
Comments and Questions: 
Mr. Wallace thanked the applicant for coming that day and for asking for a continuance.  
with asking for a variance and a special exception. He did not see that this was being in 
harmony with the neighborhood. We have several councilors here representing their 
communities. From his perspective, he did not want to continue this and have the 
applicant spend more dollars. Hopefully, the councilors have some ideas that what can 
be utilized for this property that can generate some growth here. He was going to be 
voting nay today.  
 



BOA-04-25-2023 (1315) 7 
 

Mr. Barrientos stated that he thought he would vote the same way. Although he 
appreciated the willingness to develop the area. This is not the right location to have 
another car lot.  
 
Ms. Stauffer stated that she felt the same way. She did not see the hardship. She did 
not see that it meets the standards for reasons. 
 
Ms. Radney stated that she did not necessarily concur with those arguments. She 
thought that this commercial lot has not been developed because it is difficult to 
develop. There are times that incremental development can at least begin to move you 
in a direction towards being able to have something that is at a greater, higher, or better 
use of the future. She was just going to say that she is agnostic about whether we have 
too many or not too many car lots. 11th Street has that reputation because car culture is 
embedded in the Route 66 narrative, we might not necessarily like all the locations that 
the car lots are sitting on. All up and down the Route, they may or may not be the best 
and highest use in those locations, but she did not know that she was able to say that 
that there are too many, if the market will bear them, then the market bears them. We 
are only looking at this site. She was setting aside that part, and she was appreciative of 
the importance in the work of a commission, specifically one that wants to elevate its 
historical asset of the city. That having been said, she did agree that we have not 
actually had a good hardship that has been described for us, although she did actually 
think that the topography of this lot does make it very challenging, and to a certain 
degree, at a relatively low impact, commercial use, like a car lot, does not seem terribly 
inappropriate for this location. So in for that reason, she would have been inclined to 
support it, and she would vote accordingly. 
 
Mr. Bond stated that at the risk of being redundant here, we do our best here not to 
interpret policy. That is the sole purview of the City Council, we simply have a left and 
right limit to make decisions based on the limited allowances that they give us. Two of 
the most important things here are first the hardship, and although there are some 
unique things to this property, he did not see a hardship which is tied to the proposed 
use. That would be different than the ability to not simply just have a car lot but would 
be something which will be tied to geographic uniqueness. He did not see that here. 
Secondly, the thing that prevailed is almost a third rail and that is getting into trying to 
interpret the Comprehensive Plan. That is the full purview of the City Council and the 
Mayor to pass. In the event that this goes on to any other venues that the 
Comprehensive Plan, which goes over completely, the idea that we as a city can pass 
overlays, and the idea that it is up to the City to legislate overlays and to protect them, 
he found that this application would be very much violative of that event. Since no clear 
hardship has been articulated for this matter, and because he did find this to be violative 
of the City's Comprehensive Plan, as well as harmful to the surrounding neighborhood, 
given its intended use, he would vote nay as well.  
  



BOA-04-25-2023 (1315) 8 
 

Board Action: 
On MOTION of Barrientos, the Board voted 4-1-0 (Barrientos, Bond, Stauffer, Wallace 
all “ayes”, Radney “nay”, no “abstentions”) to DENY  Special Exception to permit 
Personal Vehicle Sales in the CS District (Sec. 15.020, Table 15-2); Variance to permit 
the outdoor storage and display of merchandise in the CS district within 300-feet of an 
abutting R District (Sec. 15.040-A).   
 
Mr. Bond thanked everyone for their time as well as the applicant for their interest. He 
knows that the City of Tulsa goes out of its way to try to work with people with 
applications.  
 
For the following property: 
 
LT 2 BLK 1, EAST CENTRAL PLAZA, CITY OF TULSA, TULSA COUNTY, STATE OF 
OKLAHOMA 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



BOA-04-25-2023 (1315) 9 
 

23510-WAGONER - August Wakat 
Action Requested: 
Appeal of the Administrative Decision by a Neighborhood Inspector in Case 
69279-2023 that the subject property is in violation of sections 60.020-A, 70.080-
A, 80.040-B.2, and 80.040-F of the City of Tulsa Zoning Code, in accordance 
with Section 70.140. Location:  23780 E. Admiral Pl. (CD 6) 

 
Presentation: 
Mike Rider, 175 East 2nd Street, Tulsa, Oklahoma, 74103, stated that he was the 
Zoning and Sign Official with the City of Tulsa, Working in Neighborhoods (WIN) 
Department  and he wanted to begin by pointing out, in discussion with City Legal, we 
are going to drop section 80.040 from the Notice, which would also include the sentence 
on the Notice that says any new non-conforming uses such as the recycling use must 
also be approved through the Special Exception process. That section conflicts with a 
little further down in the same section and should not have been on there. 
 
Mr. Rider wanted to run the Board through a quick summary of the case. We initially 
received a complaint about this property, which is found to be a nonconforming salvage 
use around the end of November 2020. The aerial images that we researched of this 
property revealed that there had been a significant expansion of the property since they 
had been annexed into the City of Tulsa, in 2001. We found no permits as a part of any 
of those expansions. We explained this to the owner, Mr. Wakat, and subsequently to 
his legal counsel. This is a big issue. In one sense, Mr. Wakat has painted himself in a 
corner by expanding the nonconformity. Our objective was to try to work with him 
recognizing that this did not occur overnight, and it is not going to be solved overnight 
and trying to get him on a path towards compliance outside of an official notice. We tried 
to work with him on that and then subsequently his legal counsel. We were not able to 
get anywhere through those means.  
 
Then Mr. Wakat contacted us, and then began to reassert that he did not believe that 
his property was within the City of Tulsa. At that point, we issued a Notice so that he 
could come here before you all and make that case. There is a time lapse video that 
kind of shows how the property progressed for you. While that is playing, Mr. Rider 
wanted to explain to you some of the background. He and his supervisor, Tim Cartner, 
first investigated this property and the original complaint. We were met by the property 
owner, Mr. Wakat, who showed us around the exterior of the property. We found 
nonconforming salvage use there and in an Agricultural Zoning District. We found the 
property and salvage to be tidy. It consists of several buildings and there was a metal 
processing area near the southeast of the property in the central south part of the 
property, and a dynamic display sign had been installed along the north property line. 
When asked, Mr. Wakat admitted to having expanded this salvage used to the new 
areas of the lot and constructing new buildings since he had purchased the property 
many years prior. He also stated here to establish this new recycling use involving the 



BOA-04-25-2023 (1315) 10 
 

processing of scrap metal, and that was the bar taking place near the south central and 
southeast portion of the lot. He mentioned he attempted to establish a medical 
marijuana use at the property that had been denied by the planning office. He was 
asked if he had any building permits, sign permit, or zoning clearance permits. Mr. 
Wakat stated that he did not and that is when he first mentioned that he did not feel like 
his property was within the City of Tulsa. He was asked to double-check that as best he 
could as part of my investigation. Mr. Rider invited Mr. Wakat to send him anything he 
had on that matter that in theory, then send it to City Legal, but he never received 
anything. Mr. Rider did try to research the issue, found the ordinance, and certainly was 
satisfied himself that Mr. Wakat was within the City of Tulsa as best he could tell. He 
explained to Mr. Wakat that these expansions of his property violated the City 
Ordinance because they had not been permitted, and they were they jeopardized his 
non-conforming status of the property. He answered Mr. Wakat’s questions and asked 
him for a plan to voluntarily return his salvage to the scope it had in 2001 when the 
property had been annexed.  
 
After many months, Mr. Rider finally received a phone call from an attorney, Martha 
Blackburn. This was September 2022. He updated her on our previous discussions, 
provided her with aerial images from the Planning Office from 2001 to 2022, and 
referred to Section 80.040 as what he had been looking at. He explained to her in the 
email, and he quoted “These photos show demolitions of old structures, additions of 
new structures, and expanded non-conforming use towards the east and southeast. He 
did not believe there had been any issued permits for any of these demolitions, 
additions, or the digital sign. He had also welcomed her thoughts on anything that might 
support the position of nonconformity, anything that we may have missed. She let me 
know she would follow up with me after she reviewed, but he did not hear back from her 
at all.  
 
Then February of 2023, is when Mr. Wakat had reached back out to us and stated he 
was not being represented any longer, wanted us to close our case, and send out a 
letter that it was resolved. Mr. Rider told him that he could not do that, and that we were 
going to send him a Notice. If Mr. Wakat believed that his property is not in the City of 
Tulsa, he could appeal against it and see if the Board will hear that. So accordingly, a 
Notice was issued, and it included Section 60.020-A, a sign for which no permit has 
been issued as a prohibited sign, we did not have any sign permits. 70.080 A is the 
requirement that any property owner obtain a Zoning Clearance Permit before moving, 
structurally altering any building, or before establishing or changing the use of any 
building or the lot. Then 80.040-B-2 through F clearly prohibits the expansion on to the 
other parts of the lot.  
 
Mr. Rider would save you from reading that verbatim, but it was clear that a pattern of 
expansion had occurred. In this next slide, he had placed the two photos side by side 
just so you can see this was what we are going off, and there were quite a few changes. 



BOA-04-25-2023 (1315) 11 
 

On the next slide is just a larger photo from 2001. He asked our communications 
department to enhance this and try to sharpen it just a little bit. It is slightly better and 
the same thing on the following slide from 2022. He also highlighted the changes that 
would require some kind of permit somewhere along the way. There are fourteen 
different sections on the property where changes occurred from 2001 to the present. 
That would have required, at the very least, a Zoning Clearance Permit. Often more, a 
Building Permit, a Right-of-Way Construction Permit, or a Curb Cut Permit those, but it 
all is rooted in the expansion without authorization and without any permits. There are 
fourteen expansions.  
 
There are a few relevant ordinances that Mr. Rider has covered. The ones in the notice, 
and he had referred as well to Ordinance 20244, which annexed the subject property 
into the City of Tulsa and was signed by the Mayor on November 13, 2001. In addition 
to those ordinances, there is section 70.140G-3, which empowers you as the Board to 
affirm, reverse, or modify the decision to issue that Notice to Mr. Wakat by a vote of at 
least three members. There is subsection G-4 in the same section that places the 
burden of persuasion on the appellant to show that an error occurred. 140HH, same 
section requires that the Board affirm the official’s decision, absent any finding of error. 
Also included is section 85.070, which discusses how notices are to be given when 
there is a zoning violation, because that was one of the few things that had been 
included in the Appeal.  
 
Mr. Bond asked if he could backtrack a moment at your beginning. Was it at 80.040? 
Was it B or F? 
 
Mr. Rider stated that it was B that needed to be stricken. It conflicts with F, which is the 
more restrictive and he wished he could explain to you how that happened. He had a 
presumption of correctness. But he did not mind telling you, he cannot make sense of 
that at this point. He had a copy of the Notice in here, as well as the Wagoner County 
Treasurer screenshot, showing the property owner.  
 
Then to just respond to the arguments that are contained in the Appeal, and Mr. Rider 
would follow the same format of the Appeal. The argument responses are kind of 
difficult because the appeal is kind of vague. It does not clearly say here is what 
Inspector Rider did that violated the ordinance, it even questions in the document that 
we have tried to answer many times. On Section 1.1, the City would submit that on 
November 5, 2019, the subject property had been in the corporate limits of the City of 
Tulsa for 18 years. Obtaining a sign permit from Wagoner County does not satisfy the 
requirements of the Tulsa Zoning Code. The City of Tulsa should have issued any sign 
permit. The Wagoner County Permit does not help comply with Tulsa’s ordinance. 
Under 1.2, the Oklahoma Jury Instruction 3-1 that was referenced, we submit as 
irrelevant. This is not a court hearing. This is on the appellant to show that the official 
erred in issuing the notice. In Item 2-1, there was no argument asserted. We have no 



BOA-04-25-2023 (1315) 12 
 

response for that. In 2.2 they are the document that has marked as Wakat Exhibit 
Three, it is a receipt from the City of Tulsa Permit Center. That was associated with 
attempting to establish a Marijuana Dispensary or medical marijuana use. It is not a 
permit. It is an application, and that application was denied by the Permit Center 
because that use was prohibited in the AG Zoning District and since that application has 
expired in our system. No permits have been issued at the property by the City of Tulsa 
since its incorporation into the City Limits. On 20244 
 three, returning the property to the scope it had when it was accidentally tucked into the 
City is not impossible, ridiculous, or sublime. It is very possible, and we work things like 
this out all the time, voluntarily. 
 
Mr. Wallace asked when was the annexation or the incorporation? 
 
Mr. Rider stated that they believe it to have been on November 13, 2001. 
 
Mr. Wallace asked if there was any way to verify that. 
 
Ms. Blank stated that their officer looked at the Annexation Ordinance and the Statute 
and we believe it was all in order. 
 
Mr. Rider stated that argument number three of the Appellate Court of Appeal. We are 
aware that this property has been salvage use for a long time that it held a non-
conforming status with Wagoner County prior to him being annexed into the City of 
Tulsa, but no violation would exist if it stayed exactly like it was at that time and not 
been expanded. Also was submitted February the 20, 2023, the date that the Notice 
was issued is not a City of Tulsa holiday. Our offices were open. So that was issued on 
a city workday. We have an issued Annexation Ordinance to Mr. Wakat as well as two 
different attorneys that have represented him over the life of this case.  
 
Finally, we would submit we are not aware of any alleged fraud related to the abstract. 
We did not view the abstract or amended it in issuing this notice in any way. He 
included for you our permit search results; this is a screenshot that he took that shows 
the permits that we have on file in the system for the property. One was voided. The 
other two are expired. None of them had an issue date; that column is blank. The next 
slide is the permit from that permit receipts submitted by the Appellate with the 
highlighted areas showing the permit status has expired and showing that the next step 
in the workflow would have been for the applicant of the permit to resubmit their plans. 
On the next slide is a screenshot from the city website. It covers the period showing that 
Presidents Day is not observed holiday and we were there working. The following slide 
is an email to Mr. Wakat and emailed to his previous attorney and then a letter to his 
next and most recent attorney all where we had included the photographs, along with 
that Annexation Ordinance attempting to achieve a voluntary resolution. In conclusion, 
we would submit that no error occurred in the issuance of the Notice. We would submit 



BOA-04-25-2023 (1315) 13 
 

the Notice was issued lawfully pursuant to Section 85.070, on non-emergency matters, 
and only after all attempts to achieve voluntary compliance have been exhausted. We 
respectfully request that the appeal be denied and that the notice issued on February 
20, be upheld as modified.  
 
 
 
Appellant: 
Ronald Durbin, 1602 South Main Street, Tulsa, Oklahoma, 74119, stated that he was 
the privileged person to be the third attorney for Mr. Wakat on this matter. He did not 
know why that was relevant, but there were two prior attorneys. He was here the last 
time just to point out to the Board, interestingly, as in the last hearing, when the City 
asked for additional time to investigate the zoning issue, he provided his information to 
the City. Nobody contacted us from the City to discuss any of these, including the 
gentleman who just spoke. He found it disingenuous that they have tried to work this out 
with my client when they did not bother to reach out in the last couple of weeks 
regarding their decision and opinion on this case. Unfortunately, he did not know if you 
depend on City Legal for your legal advice, but if you do, you are getting bad legal 
advice. He was going to walk you through why that is the case. They want to keep 
talking about the ordinance that incorporated and brought this property by Mr. Wakat 
into the City of Tulsa. Ordinance number one, that is what they keep talking about, this 
is the Zoning Ordinance, and you have it in your packet.  
 
Mr. Durbin stated he would ask you to direct your attention to it and look at it. He will 
show you how they are wrong. It is very, very simple. If you look at Ordinance One, the 
first page of it looks like this. He will show it to you. You see this, you got this so 
everybody can see. All right. So, if we go to Ordinance One and we go to Exhibit A. Let 
us look at Exhibit A, we will all agree that Ordinance One is the ordinance which the City 
of Tulsa alleges brought Mr. Wakat’s property into the City of Tulsa. That is not an 
argument, and everybody is on the same page there, right? Ordinance One is what they 
are saying gives them authority over Mr. Wakat’s property. If we look at Exhibit A, that 
document we are going to see Section Four, we see that it says Section Four, it says 1, 
2, 3, and 4. In section four, it says quote, “All of Section Four, except the west one half 
of lot one. That is Mr. Wakat’s property, it is excluded in this ordinance number one, 
which created the town of Fair Oaks from being owned by the town of Fair Oaks. Mr. 
Wakat’s property is that excluded west half of lot one. Now, if we go and look at when 
the City of Tulsa annexed Fair Oaks, which is Ordinance number 2024.4, the City 
messed up. They put in Section Four of what they were adopting from the City of Fair 
Oaks, they put, quote, “All of Section Four.” What is a very simple legal concept that 
somebody cannot grant something that they do not own. The Town of Fair Oaks did not 
have Mr. Wakat’s property as a part of it and began to look at Ordinance Number One 
that created the town of Fair Oaks.  
 



BOA-04-25-2023 (1315) 14 
 

There is nothing presented to you that is shown apart from that they annexed Mr. 
Wakat’s property. When the City of Tulsa adopted it, they incorrectly stated that they 
were getting all the Section Four. The town did not have that to grant to the city. If you 
look, my client has tried to explain this to the city more times than he cares to try to 
explain it. Mr. Wakat provided you with two separate legal opinions on this issue. If you 
look at the first one, it is from an attorney named Amy Collins. Ms. Collins conducts an 
independent examination of the title of this property. Ms. Collins, an attorney licensed in 
the State of Oklahoma and provided to you, concluded that this property was not part of 
the Town of Fair Oaks and therefore not parts of the adoption of the town or the 
incorporation of the Town of Fair Oaks into the City of Tulsa. Ms. Collins stated that very 
clearly. You have a copy of that, that Mr. Wakat did not rest on that, because he wanted 
you to have a bunch of attorney’s opinions. So, he goes to Richard L. Gary and 
Associates and asks him for an independent title opinion related to his property. This 
has been provided to you. But if you look at page number four that it says at pages 205 
- 212 of the abstract of title appears ordinance number one filed of record in the office of 
the Wagoner County Clerk on the 13th day of February 2023 and book 2886 pages 689 
through 6396, reciting the annexation of property to the town of Fair Oaks, Oklahoma, 
however, does not appear that the abstracted property is included in the annexation. 
Again, it is a very simple legal concept, he could you a document that says he grants 
you all of New York City, even if I own a tiny little part of it. That does not mean you can 
use that document to claim that you own the entire city. 
 
Mr. Bond asked if he meant you as an individual or you as a government actor. 
 
Mr. Durbin stated me as an individual or government actor, either one. A government 
actor can grant you something, but they cannot grant you something that they do not 
have title to it. One of the fundamental concepts in the law is to grant somebody an 
interest in something, you have the first step title of it.  
 
Mr. Bond asked again, for transfers of title you as an individual, or you as a government 
actor. 
 
Mr. Durbin stated both. The town of Fair Oaks cannot grant the power of the City of 
Tulsa to take over its annexed territory when it did not annex that territory, and it does 
not have authority over it. Additionally, if you go and look and he did, this is the last 
hearing, and you go to the State Library Archives and pull the 1971 Statutes and we did 
this of what it takes to create a town. He could also tell you that the Town of Fair Oaks 
and if you look at Ordinance Number One does not comply in any way, shape, form, or 
fashion how you create a town. There is no proof of Notice, there is no Notice Clerk 
signature, there is no independent authorization on that. They don't meet any of the 
1971 requirements of creating a town and he wanted to point out to you that there's no 
grants of property for many of the property owners contained in the Ordinance Number 
One that he referenced and this Mr. W.W. Repschlaeger, both sides is the only person 



BOA-04-25-2023 (1315) 15 
 

other than an alleged town clerk signed it.. There is no ordinance approving this. There 
is no ordinance or records of that in the Town of Fair Oaks establishing who this 
gentleman was. There is nothing in the State Archives that has been turned over to 
them. He has been told that the City still maintains records with a private individual, but 
that is not a government record being properly maintained in the Oklahoma Open 
Records Act.  
 
Mr. Bond stated that there is there is no clear title for this property.  
 
Mr. Durbin stated that there is clear title for this property, and it is held by Mr. Wakat, 
under Wagoner County.  
 
Mr. Bond asked what the title of Mr. Wakat’s property says, and which city does it say.  
 
Mr. Durbin stated that the title does not list the city. Wagoner County is listed. 
 
Mr. Bond asked if the title is completely ambiguous as to which town is located. 
 
Mr. Durbin stated that he would have to go back and look at the title, but it would not 
matter what the title says with regards to the city. The city cannot have a piece of 
property even if the title said it was City of Tulsa. The City of Tulsa must go through a 
proper process to annex something. He thought as an attorney, you would understand 
that, but there is a process regarding that. They did not follow that if they did not have 
the authority to annex a piece of property. So, you, sir, as an attorney should certainly 
understand the way you grant property and be interested in a property. 
 
Mr. Bond stated to Mr. Durbin that he did, and he looked forward to an appellate opinion 
on this, which is about to affirm his own opinion on this.  
 
Mr. Durbin asked if Mr. Bond was indicating that he had already made up his mind 
before he came into this hearing. Did you have a discussion regarding that?  
 
Mr. Bond stated that they had not discussed this case prior to this hearing. If you stick to 
your presentation, you have about three and a half minutes left. 
 
Mr. Durbin stated he did not have anything else unless you have questions. This is a 
simple issue of the City of Tulsa did not properly annex this property. They need to go 
through that process. They should not have issued a Change Order, a Notice or 
anything regarding signs or anything on the property because they do not have 
jurisdiction over the property due to faulty annexation.  
 
Mr. Bond asked if he was saying that they have no jurisdiction over this property, but 
you are here for them today.  



BOA-04-25-2023 (1315) 16 
 

 
Mr. Durbin stated that because they sent him a violation. So, we had to appeal to the 
process. So, we filed an appeal. 
 
Mr. Bond stated that you filed that appeal here, not to the district court claiming that we 
had to go through knowing that we have no jurisdiction or venue for this matter. Instead, 
you came here voluntarily, correct? 
 
Mr. Durbin stated that no, you made us. There is no voluntary thing, which was and 
there it was a violation issued. So, there is a proper process for coming here, sir. You 
should understand your rules. 
 
Interested Parties: 
Mark Swiney, 175 East 2nd Street, Tulsa, Oklahoma, 74103, stated that he was Senior 
Assistant City Attorney in the City of Tulsa Legal Department. With the rest of the City of 
Tulsa Legal Department, he had been asked to review these documents and he would 
like to comment. First, he would like to say he objected, and he took affront at Mr. 
Durbin's comment that the City of Tulsa Legal Department does not know what we are 
talking about. He presented Ordinance Number One of Fair Oaks annexing a certain 
property. That is irrelevant to what we are talking about today. The City of Tulsa went 
and annexed the property that Mr. Wakat owned into the City Limits. He had the 
Annexation Ordinance. The City of Tulsa did not annex Fair Oaks Town. In fact, Fair 
Oaks is only mentioned once in this ordinance and it is the Fair Oaks Ranch, which was 
the owner of a majority acreage in that area, and we had the consent of that owner. Fair 
Oaks Town is irrelevant. Ordinance Number One that Mr. Durbin has shown us is 
irrelevant. It does not matter whether Mr. Wakat was within the Town of Fair Oaks or 
not. What you see here is Ordinance Number 20244 of the City of Tulsa, not Ordinance 
One of Fair Oaks, which has nothing to do with the City of Tulsa. What you see here is 
an ordinance by the City of Tulsa passed in 2001, annexing certain property. The fourth 
page has a legal description. The legal description of the areas that are being annexed 
and they are identified by sections, township, and range as is proper for legal 
description. If you look on this fifth page, it says all of Section Four the City of Tulsa is 
annexing into the City Limits. It does not say anything about Fair Oaks, and it does not 
have to say anything about Fair Oaks. Fair Oaks town is irrelevant. The City of Tulsa 
lawfully annexed what Mr. Wakat’s land is included in that section. That is the basis. Mr. 
Durbin and Mr. Wakat are simply mistaken. They think that the Ordinance of Fair Oaks 
town annexing or not annexing certain property has anything to do with the annexation 
by the City of Tulsa. It does not. We in the legal department are satisfied that we do 
have jurisdiction over Mr. Wakat. Why? Because his land is clearly within the City Limits 
of the City of Tulsa. This board has the jurisdiction to rule on that appeal. Thank you. 
 
Christian Bengal, 175 East 2nd Street, Tulsa, Oklahoma, 74103, as the councilor for 
District Six, he has met and spoken to Mr. Wakat since he has taken office and even 



BOA-04-25-2023 (1315) 17 
 

before, and he has tried to represent him as a Council Member. He thought about the 
issue here and again, it is a contentious issue for him specifically. He thought he 
advised him multiple times what he thought when he has a legal representative, and the 
City has its legal view. The challenge here is on the annexation that may have occurred 
in 1971. Whether that was legal or whether the one in 2001 was legal, it is a challenge 
for the District Court. This is not a fight that he can take up for Mr. Wakat specifically 
with the Council, but I am not sure who advised him that he could bring it before the 
Council and we can resend or reverse an ordinance, it has already been passed. He 
just wants this gentleman to finally get the resolution that he needs and understand 
where his path of resolution is.  
 
Joe Robson, 23515 East 31st, Catoosa, Oklahoma, 74014, stated that he is the 
manager of Fair Oak Ranch LLC. He has been involved with this situation for several 
years, we own the property on three sides of Poe Boy’s Salvage. He presented to the 
Board a list of documents. This property has been a non-conforming use, not just since 
2001 but since 1981, when Wagoner County passed their ordinance. He gave you the 
three non-conforming use statutes, which is Wagoner County, the City of Tulsa from 
2001, until the latest revision and he cannot remember whether that was 2016 and from 
2016 to today. All three of them are the same thing. You cannot expand a non-
conforming use, period. There's very little language change in all three ordinances that 
have been affected since 1981. He also included some pictures from 2001 to 2023. The 
first picture in your packet is from 1981. So there have been abuses on the non-
conforming use side since 1980. When you compare 1981 to what it is today, it has 
expanded, it has grown. You know, there are benefits that people get when they have a 
non-conforming use. You do not have to have setbacks, you can use it the way you 
have done it, you just cannot expand it. It is simple. That is what has happened in this 
case. He would just encourage the Board to support Staffs recommendation.  
 
 
Rebuttal: 
Mr. Rider stated the Board heard from the best source on annexation legal department. 
He could not give you a legal opinion or conclusion. There really was not any alleged 
error in anything that he could explain to you. But if you have any questions for me, he 
would be happy to answer. 
 
Ms. Radney asked what would be the remedy that you propose to the property owner. 
 
Mr. Rider stated that they would ask Mr. Wakat to return the property to the state that it 
was in 2001 or apply for permits to change the zoning and try to make what he has 
done there lawful some other way. There will be some demolition permits that will be 
needed, just because of the nature of construction and having to take it down. 
 



BOA-04-25-2023 (1315) 18 
 

Ms. Radney asked Mr. Chapman if he could show us again what that condition was in 
2001.  
 
Mr. Rider stated that the highlighted slide was a better one to show. These are the 
fourteen separate things that have changed over that course. The one benefit of waiting 
to do it, you can do it all under one permit now rather than having to do fourteen 
permits. They can just submit this and answer any letters of deficiency that may come. 
There will be a little bit of overlapping ordinances, like curb cut permit, which may also 
be applicable that compliance is also required with those things. That is what we will be 
looking for is to either make all that lawful or to return the property and keep it as it was 
in 2001. 
 
Ms. Radney asked Mr. Chapman where this was in our packet. 
 
Mr. Chapman stated that this was sent out as an addendum. 
 
Ms. Tauber stated that he should have it on your table. 
 
Mr. Barrientos asked what kind of business activity is happening on those metal 
buildings.  
 
Mr. Rider stated that as best he knew, it is an extension of the salvage operation. If it is 
not that, then it is an unpermitted new use that has been established that we do not 
know exactly and we are not aware of. He knew one of the structures, he did not know if 
it was new, but the marijuana use was set to go in that structure on the northwest corner 
of the lot. That is where that was. That is the only thing that we remotely had on file. But 
again, that was not finalized. 
 
Mr. Bond stated that the applicant will give you three minutes and 45 seconds. 
 
Mr. Rider stated no, sir, he would agree with you that they recorded it says section four. 
Absolutely. It says section four correctly. 
 
Respondent: 
Mr. Durbin stated that he said it the last time and he was going to say it again. You are 
getting terrible legal advice from the City of Tulsa Legal Department, and quite frankly, 
as an attorney, he gets very upset when attorneys argue positions that they know are 
incorrect. Because to me, there is this rule as an attorney of Candor to the Tribunal, and 
he thought that arguing something that you know is incorrect. 
 
Mr. Bond stated that there is also an equal rule that you will conduct yourself as a 
professional and not insult individuals and fellow members of the bar. 
 



BOA-04-25-2023 (1315) 19 
 

Mr. Durbin stated that they are lying, sir, to you, and if you look at the request for action 
ordinances, the problem is that they are willing to lie to you even though they had the 
documents. If you look at this document, this is requests for ordinance, this is the 
request for ordinance that was that Tulsa's zoning ordinance that the city attorney just 
talked about lied to you about. 
 
Mr. Bond asked what the date of that was. 
 
Mr. Durbin stated that it is filed, stamped, and approved by the City Council on 
November 8, 2001. It is dated 11/10/2001 on the bottom of the page is request for 
action ordinance city of Tulsa. It is what precipitated 20244. He was going to read this a 
section to you. Going back to what I said about you can't annex something you don't 
have, or can grant something you don't have in the summary section it says, quote, in 
response to a request from Fair Oaks Ranch LLC, and upon research and evaluation, 
the Mayor has requested the legal department prepare the necessary documents to 
annex the town of Fair Oaks. It annexed the town of Fair Oaks as it existed in 2001 at 
the request of Fair Oaks Ranch, LLC. It cannot annex property the City of Fair Oaks did 
not own. It is that simple. It did not own it. Mr. Wakat was not a party to this. The 
gentleman who just got up and spoke Fair Oaks Ranch, LLC is the one who requested 
this. So again, he would urge you to make the correct decision that the City of Tulsa 
should not have issued any notices regarding this property because the city did not 
annex. 
 
Mr. Bond stated that was on November 8 of 2001, and a month later, in December of 
2001, in Book 1183, page 361 as Mr. Swiney pointed out the recording deed states, all 
those sections four. Do you dispute that it was recorded? 
 
Mr. Durbin stated that no, sir, he would agree with you that they recorded in said section 
four. Absolutely. It says section four.  
 
Mr. Bond stated that in totality, without exception did your client or anyone who had an 
interest in the land at that time dispute the recording of that document. 
 
Mr. Durbin stated they had no notice, sir, which is the problem.  
 
Mr. Bond asked if this was filed with the respective county clerks correct. 
 
Mr. Durbin stated that but when you go through the adoption of a city and the way the 
city did this by ordinance, as opposed to a normal. Just a second, let me answer the 
question before you interrupt because these people might not know the answer, or 
might not have the predisposition to this issue that you do. When you annex a piece of 
property and when you bring it in through an ordinance, you can take it into an 
ordinance if the people agree with it, which is what the City of Tulsa was doing here. 



BOA-04-25-2023 (1315) 20 
 

Fair Oaks, LLC, wanted the city to adopt this property, Fair Oaks represented all the 
property that it owns in Fair Oaks. The problem is that when the city took that grant from 
the people that had the legal authority to do it, they also took all of Section Four. For the 
people who granted the City of Tulsa the entire power to do this did not have the 
authority and the city did not give anybody like the person who owned the property, 
proper notice to annex their property because they did not intend to annex anything 
other than what Fair Oaks Ranch LLC had the authority to grant them. 
 
Mr. Bond asked if he was not disputing that it was filed with by Wagoner County, 
correct?  
 
Mr. Durbin stated that for the 50th time we are not disputing that it was filed. You have a 
copy of the file. 
 
Mr. Bond stated that on the one hand they have no notice, but you are also telling the 
other hand that it was filed. 
 
Mr. Durbin stated that they have no proper notice under annexation statutes, or they 
would have noticed that they did a title opinion search. Those two attorneys concluded 
the same thing. You are the only person that does not conclude that, well, you and the 
City Attorney incorrectly conclude the same thing. You all do what you are going to do, 
but it is an incorrect annexation. 
 
Mr. Durbin stated totality, without exception. Did your client or anyone who had an 
interest in the land at that time dispute the recording of that document?  
 
Comments and Questions: 
Mr. Bond stated that the idea that someone would come here and raise their voice to 
the Board and wave their arms and insulting members of the City of Tulsa, he found 
repugnant, but looking past that to their legal argument, which is because the City of 
Tulsa did not properly annex this. That there is no jurisdiction there and things like that. 
He agreed with the Councilman and that is properly a matter for the District Court. 
Before us, we give the city a presumption of correctness until that has been rebutted. 
We saw someone voluntarily appealing products in this matter, which is something 
which is a book and page recorded by the County of Wagoner, plainly stating that they 
annexed all of section four. He thought this argument is not mentioned by any standard 
to be valid, and it is not recorded, which moves us on to the actual issue and that is 
whether the City Inspector did this and acted appropriately and has shown us evidence. 
Let me back up a little bit that the evidence that the City Inspector has given us has not 
been shown to be incorrect by the applicant in this case. He thought it is clear for 
anyone to look at one or any standard of law that this has been a massive expansion, 
almost doubling from what it appears to me and the size that was originally made. There 
was a non-conforming use that that is what was expanded. He thought that is all that is 



BOA-04-25-2023 (1315) 21 
 

an issue today is whether the use expanded from the solid photos that we had or 
whether it did not expand it. So that is where he was putting his vote on. He thought 
except for Section 80, that the City Inspector pointed out that he wishes to withdraw, he 
thought they acted appropriately under the circumstances. The idea that we simply do 
not have jurisdiction over this because proper title was not conveyed, is bluntly 
nonsense. It is nonsensical. It is just nonsensical to me, and it is to anyone else that is 
going to look at this at a future date.  
 
Mr. Wallace stated that to stay on topic for the items that are presented today, whether 
the City Inspector, everything was shown to for him to affirm the administrative decision 
by the neighborhood inspection to move forward with affirming that. The property is in 
violation. 
 
Ms. Radney asked Mr. Wallace, in that you have been that the expansion of the use of 
a non-conforming use has been demonstrated by WIN through their presentation today 
to occurred. 
 
Ms. Radney stated to Mr. Chair that his assertion is that the argument that the violation 
cannot occur where there is no jurisdiction is outside the scope of this Board. 
 
Mr. Bond stated that he thought that it was recorded, even if it is not outside the scope 
of this board, it was recorded. In a recording state, which is notice. We can get into the 
legal complexities of it, but if you had a jurisdictional issue with this, that should have 
been filed in the District Court. It was not and they are here speaking with us. If we want 
to use that analogy, going back, ad infinitum, to the idea that a governmental actor must 
convey clear title to something else. If that is the case, then he needed to write in my 
taxation check to the to the Sovereign Creek Tribe. Whether it is a Scriveners error… 
 
Mr. Durbin stated Point of Order, sir. 
 
Mr. Bond said, “No Sir. We are in discussion.”   
 
Mr. Durbin stated Point of Order again. It is improper for a chairperson to give are 
making legal advice per Robert's Rules of Orders are pointed. 
 
Mr. Bond stated that the Board was in discussion and not going to recognize Mr. Durbin. 
 
Mr. Durbin stated “Point of Order” several times and said you are providing legal advice 
improperly. Point of Order. Deny my Point of Order.  
 
Mr. Bond asked the City Staff to get a security guard for us, he would appreciate it. As 
he was saying, even if it is a Scriveners Error, which would have been a plausible 
argument, it was recorded. For him, that would not matter. That is not an issue. This is 



BOA-04-25-2023 (1315) 22 
 

obviously going to be appealed. The jurisdictional issue like this, he thought that the City 
Council is correct, it needs to be decided by a District Judge. We are a quasi-judicial 
body. We are simply here to help interpret the narrow left and right limits of the zoning 
code. That zoning code, simple, non-conforming use that was expanded, there has 
been no evidence that it was not expanded. He simply has a jurisdictional and venue 
argument here. 
 
Ms. Radney stated that she was abstaining from a discussion about that aspect of it. 
What she was really getting at is that from a procedural standpoint because they 
received a notice from the city that they were not in compliance, which escalated to the 
point where we are now. There was a question about why the applicant had appealed to 
this Board. She thought that was just an administrative step that is required to the City's 
process as it relates to these violations. Right? She thought that coming before our 
Board really does not have any bearing at all on the process that they would take about 
whether the city has any jurisdiction. 
 
Mr. Bond stated that would be something that would appeal to the District Court. He 
thought that is something which is a moot point for him. If you would like to entertain 
that he has an opinion on it. He thought that the relevant portion of this is whether this is 
an expansion nonconforming use or not. 
 
Ms. Radney stated that to your point is that as far as we are concerned as a Board for 
this particular matter that is presented in front of us, do we believe that the city's agent 
through WIN made an error in judgment, and in terms of the his process, as an 
inspector, in terms of the activities, legal or otherwise, that were happening at this 
property. If we are just looking at his actions, they seem reasonable and appropriate, if 
they had jurisdiction to do to make them. 
 
Mr. Bond stated that was correct.  
 
Ms. Radney asked if it factored into our thinking at all, given the councilor’s point, 
whether the City did or did not have jurisdiction in the first place? For the portion of this 
matter of this conflict that we have in front of us at this Board. She would be inclined to 
say that it makes a difference whether the WIN Department had standing to even have 
risen, gotten to this point. She did not think that was moot. She did not think that is not a 
question. She just does not think we can address it, because then he is in front of us 
administratively, because this is where you come when you appeal, the decision to WIN 
right? 
 
Mr. Bond stated that we have five or six lawyers in the room and may get five or six 
different opinions. He did not think this was properly before us, because of the 
jurisdictional issue. It needs to be taken up with the District Court.  
 



BOA-04-25-2023 (1315) 23 
 

Ms. Radney stated that is what she just wanted to make sure she understood because 
this is not going to be the last time that a case like this comes before us. She just was 
thinking in her mind about how we think about questions of jurisdiction, because there 
are a lot of areas around the city that have been incorporated into the city recently. And 
there are lots of areas in the city that have been bypassed. She wanted to think about 
that, because what she is charged to do is to think about the administration of the city's 
ordinances. Having said that, her thoughts have been since we have been sitting in the 
room, she has heard all sides and she has an opinion, and she would be inclined to 
agree that WIN has acted appropriately and has not made an error. 
 
Mr. Bond stated that the point was well taken.  
 
Board Action: 
On MOTION of Wallace, the Board voted 5-0-0 (Barrientos, Bond, Radney, Stauffer, 
Wallace all “ayes”, no “nay”, no “abstentions”) to AFFIRM THE DECISION by a 
Neighborhood Inspector in Case 69279-2023 that the subject property is in violation of 
sections 60.020-A, 70.080-A, and 80.040-F of the City of Tulsa Zoning Code, in 
accordance with Section 70.140. Finding that the neighborhood inspector acted 
appropriately in the administrative decision by a neighborhood inspector and 69279- 
2023 case and subject property is in violation of Section 60.02-A, 70.08-A, and 80.040-
F. For the following property: 
 
04-19-15 A TRACT OF LAND BEING A PORTION OF THE W 10.14 AC OF L-1 DES C 
COMM FROM THE NW CORNER OF SD TRACT ON A BEARING OF S 01 DEG 35'25" 
E A DIST OF 283.13' TO POB - N 88 DEG 45'34" E A DIST OF 660.91' TO A PT ON 
THE EAST LINE OF TH EW 10.14 AC OF SAID L-1 -S-01 DEG 32'28" EA DIST OF 385 
64' TO PT ON THE S LINE OF SD L 1 - S 88 DEG 40'38” W A DIST OF 660.57' TO PT 
BEING THE SW COR OF L-1 - N 01 DEG 35'25" W DIS OF 386.59' TO POB CONT 
5.86 AC (W2 OF L-1 CONT 10.14 AC), CITY OF TULSA, COUNTY OF TULSA, STATE 
OF OKLAHOMA. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



BOA-04-25-2023 (1315) 24 
 

*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*. 
 

NEW APPLICATIONS 
 
 

23518 - Christian Vaughn  
Action Requested: 
Special Exception to allow an Accessory Dwelling Unit in an RS-3 District 
(45.031-D); Variance to allow a Detached Accessory Building/ Dwelling Unit to 
exceed one story or 18-feet in height and to exceed 10-feet in height to the top of 
the top plate in the rear setback (Section 90.090-C2);Variance to reduce the 
required 50% open space for a non-conforming lot (Sec. 80.020-B);Variance to 
permit more than 30% coverage of the rear setback by  Detached Accessory 
Buildings/Dwelling Units (Sec.90.090-C, Table 90-2): Location:  1508 E. 20th St. 
(CD 4) 

 
Presentation: 
Christian Vaughn, 1508 East 20th St., Tulsa, Oklahoma, 74120, stated that this is my 
first time going through a process like this, but from what he understood, one point was 
to point out a hardship, and also to consider the intent of the zoning code, which is to 
promote the general welfare of the city. As far as the hardship. The first matter at hand 
is expanding the existing residence, which is a two bed, one bath, 1,211 square foot 
house built in 1921. When the house was built, it was before the current zoning code 
was enacted, in the late sixties, early seventies. That house is becoming obsolete. 
While it is very charming, and we have worked closely with the Historical Commission to 
preserve the historical nature of it, it is becoming impractical for a family living today to 
live in a house of the size of this age, without improving it. What we have done is we 
have taken the historical materials and created a plan to add a third bedroom, and 
second bathroom to the main residence by expanding out towards the south side of the 
property. It does not change any to the elevation of from the front side of the street. That 
was important to the Historical Commission, to just maintain the historical character of 
the neighborhood. With the accessory dwelling unit, there is an existing single car 
garage, and single bathroom and bedroom in that structure. To allow for a car that has 
manufactured in the last 20 to 30 years to fit in there, it is going to need to be expanded 
it was built her car in the 1920s. Cars have gotten a lot bigger. He is unable to fit my 
Chevrolet Silverado in there by any shot. Our idea was to preserve the existing 
bathroom that is there by extending it to the second story while allowing space for a 
modern car to be parked in the garage. He wrote hardship down just for you to articulate 
here. The hardship with the Accessory Dwelling Unit is that it already exists, it is an 
existing structure that has functional use for the property. Without it being moved to the 
second story, we are going to eliminate that if there is ever going to be a car parked in 
that garage. The hardship is twofold, and we are either getting rid of the Accessory 
Dwelling Units, or we are not allowing a car of modern standards to be parked in a 



BOA-04-25-2023 (1315) 25 
 

garage. With the extension of the house, the hardship is the home is becoming obsolete 
at over one hundred years old, with no renovations to the exterior. We wanted to invest 
in the house and make sure a family could live there for the next one hundred years. 
 
Mr. Bond asked if he had a chance to speak with neighbors about this.  
 
Mr. Vaughn stated that he had spoken with a neighbor directly south of him right before 
this meeting. She had some questions about what the construction process would look 
like, how long it would take, as well as the extent of the plans. We had a great 
conversation after he told her the expected construction would be around four months 
and exactly what we are doing she had no concerns. He also had conversations with 
the neighbors on 20th Street directly to each side of the property. His neighbor just to 
the west had gone through this process with the Board last year about their Accessory 
Dwelling Unit. He asked them questions about their process and if they had any qualms 
about this and did not hear any concerns for any neighbors. 
 
Interested Parties: 
No interested parties were present. 
 
Comments and Questions: 
Ms. Stauffer stated that she found it very compelling and would be in favor. 
 
Mr. Wallace stated that he agreed. An Accessory Dwelling Unit, the house and the 
existing garage predates the comprehensive zoning code and he thought that was 
something that we see in this area.  
 
Ms. Radney stated that she was not super excited about the height but I think that the 
applicant makes a valid point that if we consider at a modern residence the ability to 
park a modern vehicle goes with being a good neighbor robust and sustainable living on 
a city lot the size of this one that there really is no other direction to go in but it is we are 
talking about a pretty tall structure. She was surprised that they did not have any 
comments from neighbors, but she did want to stamp the fact that she agreed that 
taking the least intrusive step, but it is quiet a step. This is tall. 
 
Mr. Bond stated that he agreed that it was tall. It gives me less heartburn because it is 
really in keeping with the design of the house.  
 
Mr. Barrientos stated that he liked that it does not have any windows facing to the 
neighbors. He said he was inclined to support it. 
 
Ms. Stauffer stated to correct me if she was wrong, but the house is on either side are 
both two stories.  
 



BOA-04-25-2023 (1315) 26 
 

Board Action: 
On MOTION of Wallace, the Board voted 5-0-0 (Barrientos, Bond, Radney, Stauffer, 
Wallace all “ayes”, no “nay”, no “abstentions”) to APPROVE a Special Exception to 
allow an Accessory Dwelling Unit in an RS-3 District (45.031-D); Variance to allow a 
Detached Accessory Building/ Dwelling Unit to exceed one story or 18-feet in height and 
to exceed 10-feet in height to the top of the top plate in the rear setback (Section 
90.090-C2);Variance to reduce the required 50% open space for a non-conforming lot 
(Sec. 80.020-B);Variance to permit more than 30% coverage of the rear setback by  
Detached Accessory Buildings/Dwelling Units (Sec.90.090-C, Table 90-2), per the 
Conceptual Plans shown on pages 4.13 through 4.23. 
 
The Board finds that the requested Special Exception will be in harmony with the spirit 
and intent of the Code and will not be injurious to the neighborhood or otherwise 
detrimental to the public welfare. 
 
In granting the Variance the Board finds that the following facts, favorable to the property 
owner, have been established:  
 

a. That the physical surroundings, shape, or topographical conditions of the subject 
property would result in unnecessary hardships or practical difficulties for the 
property owner, as distinguished from a mere inconvenience, if the strict letter of 
the regulations were carried out; 
 
b. That literal enforcement of the subject zoning code provision is not necessary 
to achieve the provision’s intended purpose; 
 
c. That the conditions leading to the need of the requested variance are unique to 
the subject property and not applicable, generally, to other property within the 
same zoning classification; 
 
d. That the alleged practical difficulty or unnecessary hardship was not created or 
self-imposed by the current property owner; 
 
e. That the variance to be granted is the minimum variance that will afford relief; 
 
f. That the variance to be granted will not alter the essential character of the 
neighborhood in which the subject property is located, nor substantially or 
permanently impair use or development of adjacent property; and 
 
g. That the variance to be granted will not cause substantial detriment to the public 
good or impair the purposes, spirit, and intent of this zoning code or the 
comprehensive plan.” 

 
 
 



BOA-04-25-2023 (1315) 27 
 

For the following property: 
 
LT-2, BURNS SUB L5-6 B28 PARK PLACE, CITY OF TULSA, TULSA COUNTY, 
STATE OF OKLAHOMA 
  
Mr. Wallace left the meeting at 2:39 p.m. 
 
Mr. Bond stated before we began the next case, we are an all-volunteer board. We 
certainly do our best because one of our members had to leave for preexisting 
engagement you need three affirmative votes. For your requested relief to pass, we will 
grant liberally Continuances if you feel like you would like the full member, full member 
panel to be here. Otherwise, we are happy to hear your case. today. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



BOA-04-25-2023 (1315) 28 
 

23519-WAGONER - Grady W. Whitaker, Jr.,  
Action Requested: 
Variance to reduce the required 75-foot setback in the IM zoning district from 
abutting AG Zoning Districts (Sec.15.020, Table 15-2). Location:  19504 E. 6th 
St. (CD 6) 

 
Presentation: 
Grady Whitaker, with Whittaker Architects, 316 North Lincoln Avenue, Sand Springs, 
Oklahoma, 74063, stated that they are here representing our clients, DMV Processing. 
Our client purchased this property with all its improvements in 2018. It was originally for 
metal processing. One of his colleagues was a mentor. He purchased the property from 
them, and then used it for the same purpose. The property was at some point, and it is 
from Wagoner County into the City of Tulsa. It was zoned agricultural by Wagoner, and 
it was a non-conforming use what it was annexed in by the City of Tulsa it was again 
agricultural non-conforming use. We find ourselves at a point where our client needs to 
expand some of his operations in this area. All this property is adjacent to this less 
except the southern property, which is truly still used for agriculture. Everything else 
along 6th Street is a small to midsize Industrial Park for lack of a better term. All these 
properties that are adjacent to it are all zoned agricultural and they all are non-
conforming uses. At any rate, because he wants to do expand, there are two buildings 
on the property. He is wanting to expand the property, the building on the east portion of 
the property is to handle some additional machining tools. He could not go through that 
process because he is a non-conforming use. We went to the planning commission, 
applied for a change in zoning to IM, was granted that and just recently was approved 
by the City of Tulsa and is now zoned as IM property. In the zoning ordinance, it says 
that if you are an IM property, you must be 75-foot setback from an AG zone property. 
They understand the intent, but in this case, all of these are non-conforming. The 
hardship would be that the line is 253 feet wide, which would mean that only 103 feet 
would be developed under this 75-foot setback restrictions. We do not necessarily have 
any issue with the setback on the southern border, but the eastern and western borders 
boundaries would be a significant issue. In effect, the building that is built that is 
currently built on the east side of the property is approximately six feet from the property 
line. So, again, they ended with a non-conforming use. The request is that there be a 
Variance to 75-foot setback rule from AG zone properties. Considering the existing 
conditions, the fact that all the other adjacent properties for the exception of the south 
are non-conforming uses as well. 
 
Mr. Bond asked if they had issues with any of the surrounding neighbors. 
 
Mr. Whitaker stated they had not. We only had discussions with the neighbor 
immediately to the east, and he has no issues with the application. 
 
 



BOA-04-25-2023 (1315) 29 
 

Interested Parties: 
No interested parties were present.  
 
Comments and Questions: 
Mr. Bond stated that the Board has itself headaches over this before when an action in 
the city does not mean which creates a nonconformity. This one is easier not because it 
is not so does not necessarily create one. But he is asking now for relief from something 
which would have been the issue it is now. In his mind, which was a hardship. We go 
along with a spirit of zoning change on this to IM. He would be inclined to grant relief on 
this.  
 
Mr. Barrientos stated he was inclined to agree with Mr. Bond. 
 
Mr. Wilkerson stated that he had one thing he would just like to add that when we 
started working with the applicant on this at the Planning Commission, and through City 
Council, we went through that process with our eyes wide open, knowing that the 
zoning remedy really needed to happen probably for the entire subdivision there. But 
since we are only dealing with one lot, that we felt like the best solution, the only 
solution was a two-step process, and that was to go through the zoning, knowing that 
he would need to come here for some relief for the existing structures that are there. 
That is not a surprise to anyone who has been involved in this in the last six months.  
 
Mr. Bond stated that he thought the hardship issues solve the questions, is this harmful 
to the neighborhood or the Comprehensive Plan and he did not it was.  
 
Board Action: 
On MOTION of Barrientos, the Board voted 4-0-0 (Barrientos, Bond, Radney, Stauffer, 
all “ayes”, no “nay”, no “abstentions”, Wallace “absent”) to APPROVE  a Variance to 
reduce the required 75-foot setback in the IM Zoning District from abutting AG Zoning 
Districts (Sec.15.020, Table 15-2), per the Conceptual Plan shown on page 5.8 of the 
Agenda packet.  Finding the hardship to be to either existing or non-conforming 
industrial use and a lot size.  
 
In granted the variance the Board finds the following facts fall to the property owner has 
been established:   
 

a. That the physical surroundings, shape, or topographical conditions of the subject 
property would result in unnecessary hardships or practical difficulties for the 
property owner, as distinguished from a mere inconvenience, if the strict letter of 
the regulations were carried out; 
 
b. That literal enforcement of the subject zoning code provision is not necessary 
to achieve the provision’s intended purpose; 



BOA-04-25-2023 (1315) 30 
 

 
c. That the conditions leading to the need of the requested variance are unique to 
the subject property and not applicable to other property within the same zoning 
classification; 
 
d. That the alleged practical difficulty or unnecessary hardship was not created or 
self-imposed by the current property owner; 
 
e. That the variance to be granted is the minimum variance that will afford relief; 
 
f. That the variance to be granted will not alter the essential character of the 
neighborhood in which the subject property is located, nor substantially or 
permanently impair use or development of adjacent property; and 
 
g. That the variance to be granted will not cause substantial detriment to the public 
good or impair the purposes, spirit, and intent of this zoning code or the 
comprehensive plan.” 

 
For the following property: 
 
The West 253.25 Feet of Lot thirteen (13) Port Area Industrial Park a subdivision of 
Part of Lot Ten (10) and part of the northeast quarter of the southwest quarter (NE/4 
SW/4) of Section Six (6) Township Nineteen (19) North, Range Fifteen (15) East of 
the Indian Meridian, Wagoner County, State of Oklahoma, according to the 
recorded plat thereof. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



BOA-04-25-2023 (1315) 31 
 

 
23521 - Tyler Choate  

Action Requested: 
Special Exception to permit duplexes in the RS-3 district (Table 5.020, Table 5-2, 
Table 5-2.5). Request is to allow up to six duplexes. Location:  six lots located 
on E. 81st Pl. S., South and East of S. Evanston Ave. (CD 2) 

 
Presentation: 
Tyler Choate, 99855 Highway 82, Vian, Oklahoma, 74962, stated that these lots are 
zoned for duplexes now. He would like to continue the development of these six 
available lots we would like to purchase and build new housing for new people. 
 
Mr. Bond asked if he could explain more about how it is zoned for duplexes already. 
 
Mr. Choate stated that it is zoned RS-3, which allows for duplexes and the current 
neighborhood is all duplexes. There is no housing in it. 
 
Mr. Bond asked if he had any comments or issues from the neighbors. 
 
Mr. Choate stated that he was not aware of any. They would come to him directly. 
 
Ms. Radney asked if it was currently held as one parcel that you are going to build a six. 
Tell me a little bit about what we are looking at. 
 
Mr. Choate stated that there are six separate lots.  
 
Mr. Chapman stated that add just a point of context on this. The entire subdivision was 
approved for a Special Exception for duplexes, in 1979. These six lots were not built on. 
The request is there were six individual lots that are left in that subdivision that are 
currently undeveloped.  
  
Interested Parties: 
David Turnbull, 2911 East 81st Place, Tulsa, Oklahoma, 74137, stated that he is a 
neighbor in the area. He saw the big yellow signs and was curious about it. He was 
interested in seeing the plan. He is all about development himself. We want something 
that will foster growth, enhance the neighborhood, and add value. He was curious to 
see what the houses would look like. He would like to see conformity with the 
neighborhood.  
 
Comments and Questions: 
Mr. Bond stated that the normal heartburn for him is whether these duplexes are going 
to be in keeping with an existing neighborhood. He thought the interested party Mr. 
Turnbull had a good point. He wanted to make sure it is in keeping with the overall 



BOA-04-25-2023 (1315) 32 
 

character of the neighborhood. He thought that what is before us is whether putting into 
place itself there would be permissible or not. In his mind, this is one of the easier ones 
that they have seen in a while for a duplex. He would be inclined to support this. 
 
Mr. Barrientos stated that this is a fine design. The whole street has duplexes, so he did 
not have any issues with it. 
 
Ms. Radney stated that when she was looking at 6.4, she does not know why she is so 
thrown by the fact that it is showing just as though it was one parcel. But she guessed to 
the extent that it is all vacant land. It had been previously platted, but she saw the legal 
description. What are we voting on is to allow the construction of up to six lots within this 
boundary or up to six duplexes within this boundary?  
 
Mr. Chapman stated that he would take some blame for that, because he did not have 
our mapping department draw the parcel lines for those lots. He just connected it as just 
gave them that legal and they boundary around the property, but it is for six duplexes, 
which would be a total twelve units across six lots. 
 
Ms. Radney stated that when we are looking at these, the application can be made for a 
bundle of lots at one point in time. 
 
Mr. Chapman stated that in the original subdivision, which is how it happened. It was 
the legal description was all of it was Southwood Terrace, and it was treated as one 
exception. Just as internal policy, we take applications like this. It is the same request 
and our adjacent properties, we can bundle it and if we make it clear in our Notice, what 
has been approved.  
 
Ms. Radney stated that the last one that we did was one that had not yet been split, or 
something like that.  
 
Mr. Chapman stated that there were some townhouses several weeks ago, that they 
still had a preliminary plat and they had to get them, the townhouses approved before 
they would go through the state split the lot. 
 
Ms. Radney stated that she thought that when she looked at this, she thought it was 
one parcel that we would approve the use of, and then it would be moving forward with 
the subdivision plan. You were saying, although it is not drawn here, the underlying lots 
are platted. We are just going to go ahead and give him approval for all the six lots. 
 
Ms. Radney stated that if you look at the zoning map, you can see where those lot lines 
are. 
 



BOA-04-25-2023 (1315) 33 
 

Ms. Stauffer stated that she thought that this Special Exception had already been 
approved but had expired. She would be inclined to approve of this. 
 
 
Board Action: 
On MOTION of Barrientos, the Board voted 5-0-0 (Barrientos, Bond, Radney, Stauffer, 
Wallace all “ayes”, no “nay”, no “abstentions”) to APPROVE a Special Exception to 
permit duplexes in the RS-3 district (Table 5.020, Table 5-2, Table 5-2.5). Request is to 
allow up to six duplexes, per the Conceptual Plan shown on pages 6.8 through 6.10 of 
the Agenda packet.  
 
The Board finds that the requested Special Exception will be in harmony with the spirit 
and intent of the Code and will not be injurious to the neighborhood or otherwise 
detrimental to the public welfare, for the following property: 
 
LT 6-11 BLK 2, SOUTHWOOD TERRACE RESUB PRT ORU HGTS 3RD CITY OF 
TULSA, TULSA COUNTY, STATE OF OKLAHOMA 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



BOA-04-25-2023 (1315) 34 
 

 
 

*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*. 
 

OTHER BUSINESS 
 

*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*. 
 

NEW BUSINESS 
 

Election of Secretary for City of Tulsa Board of Adjustment  
 
On MOTION of Radney, the Board voted 3-0-1 (Barrientos, Bond, Radney, Stauffer, all 
“ayes”, no “nay”, Barrientos “abstained”, Wallace “absent”) to APPROVE Tomas 
Barrientos as the Secretary for the City of Tulsa Board of Adjustments. 
 
 

*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*. 
 

BOARD MEMBER COMMENTS 
 

Ms. Radney stated that she wanted to welcome our new Board member, Whitney 
Stauffer, and she looks forward to working with her in the coming term. 
 
Mr. Bond stated that he wanted to thank City Staff and the Board for their 
professionalism. He did not think that anyone, whether it is volunteer or civil servant, 
should be subjected to rudeness. Being yelled at was not that for which any of us have 
signed up. He thanked everyone for their patience and professionalism. 
 

*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*. 
 
 

ADJOURNMENT 
 

 
There being no further business, the meeting adjourned at 2:58 p.m. 
 
 
      Date approved: ________________________  
 
 

 __________________________ 
  Chair 

 
 



BOA-04-25-2023 (1315) 35 
 

 
 



 

  BOA-05-09-23 (1306) 1 
 

BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT 
MINUTES of Meeting No. 1315 
Regularly Scheduled Meeting 
Tulsa City Council Chambers 

175 East 2nd Street, 2nd Level, One Technology Center Tuesday, 
May 9, 2023, 1:00 P.M. 

 
Meeting No. 1316 

 
MEMBERS PRESENT 
 
Barrientos 
Bond, Chair 
Radney, Vice Chair  
Stauffer                    
Wallace 
 

MEMBERS 
ABSENT 
 

STAFF 
PRESENT 
A. Chapman 
S. Tauber 
D. Wilkerson 
J. Banes 

OTHERS 
   

A. Blank, Legal 

The notice and agenda of said meeting were posted in the City Clerk’s office, City Hall, 
on May 3, 2023, at 3:25 p.m., as well as at the Office of INCOG, 2 West Second Street, 
Suite 800. 
 

*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*. 
 

Mr. Bond called the meeting to order at 1:00 p.m.  
 
 

*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*. 
Mr. Chapman read the rules and procedures for the Board of Adjustment Public 
Hearing. 
 

*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*. 
 

MINUTES 
 

On MOTION of Barrientos, the Board voted 5-0-0 (Barrientos, Bond, Radney, Stauffer, 
Wallace “ayes”, no “nays”; no “abstentions”) to APPROVE the Minutes of April 11, 2023 
(Meeting No. 1314). 
 

 
 
 
 
 



 

  BOA-05-09-23 (1306) 2 
 

*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*. 
 

NEW APPLICATIONS 
 
23520 - Trisha W. White 

Action Requested: 

Special Exception to permit a duplex in the RS-4 district (Sec.5.020, Table 5-2, 
Table 5-2.5); Variance to reduce the required 2,500 square feet of open space 
per unit in the RS-4 District (Sec. 5.030, Table 5-3) 

 
Presentation: 
Trisha W. White, 1447 North Boston Avenue, Tulsa, Oklahoma, 74106, stated that she 
came before them months ago and asked that we rezone this from an RS3 to RS4 to 
build these duplexes. She was back with the second part of this process is to ask that 
we get permission to construct these duplexes on this lot. But in doing so we need to 
get a Variance to deal with the open space requirements. We are also asking for a 
Variance for that reason. 
 
Mr. Bond asked if she had the chance to talk with your neighbors to this lot.  
 
Ms. White stated that when we initially sent out notifications to us to make the change 
for the zoning, we notified them that we would be coming back asking for this special 
exception to do the duplex. 
 
Mr. Barrientos asked if she could please explain the hardship is for the Variance. 
 
Ms. White stated that the hardship in this area is that older neighborhood and these lots 
are small. We want to maximize this space because the Unity Heritage Neighborhood 
Plan is asking for several types of units. We want to put this duplex there. To do that, 
we would not be able to meet the open space requirement because of the size of the 
lot. This is an in lot, so it is not a corner lot where we have any extra room. This is all 
with which we must work. 
 
Mr. Barrientos asked what the square footage for the duplex is. 
 
Ms. White stated that the square footage is two thousand square feet. 
 
Ms. Radney asked if are vintage duplexes that were built around the time that the rest of 
these houses were built in this neighborhood. Do you know approximately where they 
are in relation to where this lot is? 
 



 

  BOA-05-09-23 (1306) 3 
 

Ms. White stated that there was one that was across the street. It has been torn down 
recently. She did not know what they were going to do with that lot, but there were 
several within a mile of there. There is one on Ute Street in the 500 block, and it was 
rehabbed. So, it is a nice new-looking structure. It is a duplex as well. The address is 
517. There are several closer to Martin Luther King.  
 
Ms. Radney stated that your thesis is that this is not necessarily something that is 
unusual for this neighborhood. It is just that the size of the lot and the modern 
restrictions of the code would make it difficult for you to be able to build something that 
is already organically in the neighborhood.  
 
Interested Parties: 
No interested parties were present. 
 
Comments and Questions: 
Mr. Wallace stated that he did not have any issues with this application. This looks like a 
great project for the neighborhood.  
 
Ms. Stauffer stated that she agreed. 
 
Mr. Bond stated that in this neighborhood he thought it is something which is with the 
character and spirit of the neighborhood. There were historic duplexes here. There is 
even one in Zion and Cincinnati too. It is a large one as well. He did not have an issue 
with this.  
 
Mr. Barrientos stated that he did not have any issues with this one. 
 
Mr. Bond stated that before we had a Motion, Ms. White had been through the wringer 
of applications and got a whole civics lesson on it and we thank her for patience.  
 
Board Action:   
On MOTION of Wallace, the Board voted 5-0-0 (Barrientos, Bond, Radney, Stauffer, 
Wallace “ayes”, no “nays”; no “abstentions”) to APPROVE the Special Exception to 
permit a duplex in the RS-4 district (Sec.5.020, Table 5-2, Table 5-2.5); Variance to 
reduce the required 2,500 square feet of open space per unit in the RS-4 District (Sec. 
5.030, Table 5-3), per the Conceptual Plans shown on pages 2.9 through 2.12 of the 
Agenda packet.  Finding the hardship to be the duplex being in character historically 
with the existing neighborhood and the lot line.  

The Board finds that the requested Special Exception will be in harmony with the spirit 
and intent of the Code and will not be injurious to the neighborhood or otherwise 
detrimental to the public welfare. 



 

  BOA-05-09-23 (1306) 4 
 

In granting the Variance the Board finds that the following facts, favorable to the property 
owner, have been established:  
 

a. That the physical surroundings, shape, or topographical conditions of the subject 
property would result in unnecessary hardships or practical difficulties for the 
property owner, as distinguished from a mere inconvenience, if the strict letter of 
the regulations were carried out; 
 
b. That literal enforcement of the subject zoning code provision is not necessary 
to achieve the provision’s intended purpose; 
 
c. That the conditions leading to the need of the requested variance are unique to 
the subject property and not applicable to other property within the same zoning 
classification; 
 
d. That the alleged practical difficulty or unnecessary hardship was not created or 
self-imposed by the current property owner; 
 
e. That the variance to be granted is the minimum variance that will afford relief; 
 
f. That the variance to be granted will not alter the essential character of the 
neighborhood in which the subject property is located, nor substantially or 
permanently impair use or development of adjacent property; and 
 
g. That the variance to be granted will not cause substantial detriment to the public 
good or impair the purposes, spirit, and intent of this zoning code or the 
comprehensive plan.” 
 

For the following property: 

LOT-3-BLK-2, RESERVOIR VIEW ADDN SUB B3 ACRE GARDENS ADDN, CITY OF 
TULSA, TULSA COUNTY, STATE OF OKLAHOMA 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

  BOA-05-09-23 (1306) 5 
 

 
23523 - Terrell Ellison 

Action Requested: 
Special Exception to permit a duplex in the RS-3 district (Table 5.020, Table 5-2, 
Table 5-2.5); Location:  2206 North Main St. and 2/2142 North Denver Blvd. 

 
Ms. Radney stated that before the applicant begins his presentation, she wanted to 
make a quick disclosure. She had absolutely no foreknowledge about this item that is in 
front of us on the agenda today, but she was familiar with Mr. Ellison's development 
efforts in the city of Tulsa. She wanted to disclose that she was not going to recuse, but 
she did want to make that clear. Thank you. 
 
Presentation: 
Terrell Ellison, 8120 East 112 Street North, Owasso, Oklahoma, 74055, stated that the 
purpose of this hearing is to get a Variance on a lot. One of the four lots that he 
purchased was all one lot. It was sale lot 12,11, 10 and 9.  Lot 9, which is in question is 
going to be a duplex, a three-story duplex, all modern. For lots 12 and 11, he has 
distributed exhibits. He wanted to open by saying that he understands the concerns that 
my neighbors had. My signs say Ellison Development, E.I.G, but he plans on living in 
that. He is a developer trying to build in North Tulsa, creating homes that young 
professionals can move to. He has partnered with TDA and other sources to develop 
these properties. He and his wife make up E.I.G. We purchased this land, getting intent 
on building our family home, which is going to be on lots 12 and 11. It is a three story, 
and it is one of the exhibits is going to be 5000 plus square feet and a multi-million-
dollar project. We sold Lot 10 to Charles Harper, to build a similar modern three-story 
home, which you will see in the exhibit as well. It will be a 5000 plus square feet 
structure as well. These projects are going to undermine or compromise this 
neighborhood. It is going to increase home value, and it is going to change that whole 
corner. That corner has been an eyesore. It has been woods, and with rodents. He has 
gotten approval for the two homeowners that will be directly affected. One would be 
Charles Harper, who is going to build a million-dollar house. Then the other homeowner 
next door who is directly affected, Brian Hopkins, sent a letter of approval as well. On 
the duplex, one side would be my daughter, who currently works for Visa and there is 
executive program in San Francisco will live in one and the other one will be designated 
for corporate living. He currently works for Williams. They moved us here six years ago, 
and they had to live in an apartment for six months. He saw a need. The need is for a 
larger home, which has good proximity to downtown. Where, executives can move 
temporarily for four to six months while they build or find somewhere else. They can 
permanently stay. The intent is to keep that property within our family. We are trying to 
create a legacy. His company wants to move him back to Houston. He said no thank 
you because Tulsa is a unique place. The hills are beautiful. He cannot wait to build our 
home on that property. 
 



 

  BOA-05-09-23 (1306) 6 
 

Mr. Bond asked him to use the pointer to point out which one is 9, 10, and 11, and 
which one is going to be the duplex in your proposal. 
 
Mr. Ellison pointed to lots 12 and 11, which is this is going to be his house, and this is 
ten and then this is nine and a half agar that I will do the duplex on. All these structures 
will be modern. He did not think that he would get any objections as far as creating a 
multimillion-dollar property that has created tax income for Tulsa. He saw the emails, he 
wanted to make sure that his neighbors understood that we were moving to this 
neighborhood. If he were an investment company building multifamily homes and living 
somewhere else, he would understand. He is building his own personal home, he has 
no plans to derogate the neighborhood, bringing affordable housing, or any of that. In 
this process of building in North Tulsa, he is trying to address those issues as well. 
Because it is a need, and that is a whole other story. He has quite a few neighbors of 
support and he has neighbors who do not understand our vision in creating this. The 
development group is he and his wife. The supporters are Katie, and Derrick Carpenter, 
who sent in emails. Brian Hopkins and Charles Harper are the neighbors who would be 
directly affected. In that area there are several duplexes. He used the pointer to show 
where the other duplexes were located. He spent a lot of money clearing the lots. Once 
he started clearing it Mr. Hopkins thanked me for clearing it. He has talked to the 
neighbors, and he responded to their concerns. The single-family home and the duplex 
will be three stories. The floor plan is in the package. You can see the garage is on the 
backside.  
 
Mr. Bond asked that on page 3.8 there is the topographic overlay, could you tell me 
what the vertical gain is from the top of the three-story roof. Where is that going to be in 
reference to the height of the house and the lot above you? 
 
Mr. Ellison stated that the topography is a 210-foot variance.  
 
Mr. Wallace asked what the end is when you get to the top of the property. You are 
thirty-two feet from the top of your property to the finished floor, but he did not know how 
tall the building was. Also, how tall are you proposed duplexes?  
 
Mr. Ellison stated that it is going to be within the requirements of thirty-five feet.  
 
Interested Parties: 
Joyce G. Smith Williams,14 East Woodrow Place, Tulsa, Oklahoma, 74106, stated 
that her property is kitty corner to where this duplex is supposed to be. She has lived 
there for 44 years. She observed when the trees were cut down and the brush was 
taken down, but that patch that had been spoken about was not a dumping ground and 
there was no observable trash in it and had lived there for 44 years. She has not had a 
problem with rodents either. And there has been no attempt for anyone to speak with 
her. Mr. Ellison said he had a letter from Mr. Hopkins, but Sunday Mr. Hopkins spoke 



 

  BOA-05-09-23 (1306) 7 
 

about opposition to this duplex being built next to him. Jarrell Key also spoke against it. 
Rashida Caldwell at 2125 which is directly across the street from it, spoke in opposition. 
Valerie Pervy, who owns the house at Seven East Woodrow Place, opposed it and 
there are other neighbors in the area who have also spoken of opposition. She is not in 
any way opposed to a single-family home being built there. She had not talked to 
Charles Hoffer, but she would be curious to talk with him about his position on this 
property and she does not live in the area now. Be curious about that. When we 
welcome development, even though we all hate to see the additional trees being torn 
down, that is all that was a tree line bushy area. It was not a dumping ground. In terms 
of Mr. Ellison's desire to build single family housing. He could take and have that even 
though that three story right there on that corner, you know that this is designed, I do 
not know how that would fit. For my interest, but a single-family home versus a duplex 
situation is a whole other story and these addresses that he is given as it relates to this 
area. When you talk about duplexes on North Denver St., you are going around the 
corner and down the street, away and closer to Pine with most of those duplexes, which 
he is referencing. All the neighbors she has spoken are in total opposition, including 
Brian Hopkins, from whom he says he has a letter.  
 
Charles David Crisp, 2303 North Osage, Ave., Tulsa, Oklahoma, 74106, stated that he 
wanted to clarify the record a little bit here. A little misleading. It is not an approved 
complex that he could find anybody has ever had noticed that was a special exemption 
or anyway. It was a current complaint with the city of Tulsa that it is in non-compliance 
with the City Code. Another thing that clarifies the record, nobody lives in these 
properties. The fact that property talked about first time he heard that name with an 
individual it is under United Kingdom Investments, LLC. He did not even know who that 
was. These properties are empty. Now, the intent of this is it in the spirit of this 
property? This property is in Oak Cliff, plat edition. That is where my property's located. 
It is all RS2 on top of the hill. It is not subject to duplex Special Exemption per the 380-
page codebook state that. The first two lots are RS2 demarcation RS3 is right in the 
middle. This is RS3, yet the RS3 as you read your code to stay in the spirit of harmony 
and intent of the zoning code. RS2 is bigger and wider lots versus RS3 zone codes. 
RS3 codes are a half-acre lot. Where is the RS2 is quarter acre lot. He did not know 
when this was developed but the intent of the neighborhood was single family. If he 
wants to build a single-family property, he is all for it. He has been in this business too. 
It is all about cash flow. You make an investment you must get cash flow. Two revenue 
streams are better than one. Everyone knows that especially when you are making a 
major investment. He wanted to remind you that he currently has a building permit and 
is building a new house on this hill.  
 
Stanford Pape, 2422 North Denver Place, Tulsa, Oklahoma, 74106, stated that he 
thought one of the things that has come out is the duplex thing. But where this property 
is located, to get up to where it is flat, you have, you are talking almost 15 to 20 feet. 
The driveway will have to be about a 30-degree angle going up. Second, when you add 



 

  BOA-05-09-23 (1306) 8 
 

thirty-five feet onto another twenty feet, now you have a fifty-five, tall foot building. 
Anybody who lives a little above that, now looking at the top of it of a roof, they did not 
want to look back. Now, if you live in New York City, he could certainly understand that 
looking at someone else's roof. But when you live on Reservoir Hill, you tend to want to 
look out at the view, not at someone else's roof. He thought one of the considerations 
which is coming, which has not been addressed is the fact of how tall this thing is going 
to be. Once it is set up on a piece of property, that is already going to be about 15 to 20 
feet above the street. You are not going to level it to street level and then build a three 
story. The second thing is all the duplexes that have been mentioned are all single-story 
duplexes on the flat layer. We are not talking about it, a 35-foot story or a 35-foot duplex 
set, going straight up, blocking other people view.  
 
Jenny Roby, 2109 North Main Street, Tulsa, Oklahoma, 74106 stated that the 
northwest portion of my property is across the intersection from Mr. Ellison's proposed 
project. She has had the privilege to live in this community for 14 years, which is a 
shadow of the amount of time of many of my neighbors here. The homes in this 
neighborhood are single family homes. These owners have lived in this neighborhood 
for twenty plus years, they have enjoyed living in this tight knit, single family home 
community. We take pride in our homes; we take care of our properties. She could say 
that she is wholeheartedly in favor of developing these vacant lots that are across the 
street from me. She was very hesitant to feel good about a duplex. 
 
A big part of her hesitation is as you look at this property, she agrees with what Mr. 
Crisp said, and she agrees with what my other neighbors have said about the elevation 
change and what that means to the development of a house. The way that the star 
intersection is set up, if you are going to have multiple families with multiple 
independent cars coming and going, there is no safe way for street parking to occur. 
There are already blind spots. If the driveway and the garage are not amenable to, you 
know, multiple individuals coming in and out independently of each other. That is going 
to be a large problem in that intersection that already has plenty of blind spots. It could 
be a dangerous situation. There are a few things that Mr. Ellison has said that make me 
feel hopeful. The fact that he has said that he wants to live there and that he needs to 
develop it for his own family and his daughter to live in part of the duplex. She loved all 
of that, but she agreed with Mr. Crisps here, that if he were to turn around and sell this 
property and this exemption go with the property and we end up with a with a duplex 
that is not in keeping with the other homes with the desired continued progress of this 
neighborhood. She thought they were going to regret it. As we look at this 
neighborhood, and as you are making this decision, she wanted them to consider that 
Oak Cliff neighborhood is one of the few historical neighborhoods remaining in North 
Tulsa. We want to preserve and protect the integrity of that neighborhood.  
 
Ms. Radney asked what exactly a duplex represents to you that you feel is so 
disturbing. 



 

  BOA-05-09-23 (1306) 9 
 

 
Ms. Roby stated that she was concerned specifically about the amount of traffic that will 
happen at an already complicated type of intersection. She was a little bit concerned 
about the idea of it being rented out with a lot of change and a lot of turnovers. That 
does not happen a lot in our neighborhood. We have people that move there, live there, 
stay there. She did appreciate Mr. Ellison's transparency; she had not had the chance to 
hear what his plans were. It does give me a little bit of hope. She would want strict 
guidelines as to what he can and cannot do. She would really hate it if this could travel 
with the property if he just been determined he did not want to build and decided to sell. 
 
Kim Dixon, 2416 North Denver Place, Tulsa, Oklahoma, 74106, stated that she agreed 
with what everybody has said. If he wants to build a home and live there that is great. If 
you can build a five thousand square foot house, you will have plenty of room for your 
daughter to live.  
 
Bruce Ketchum, 2211 North Denver Place, Tulsa, Oklahoma, 74106, stated that he 
also sent an email in opposition to this duplex. He is directly west, adjacent to the 
subject He would look directly down upon a three-story rental property if it were to be 
built. He spent 30 years growing the forest down below me. It is expensive to build in 
these areas. That is why there was hesitancy to build on a hillside. Everything wants to 
go down the hill. He did not hear from Mr. Ellison regarding any of this. He just picked it 
up on the yellow side and word spread. That is why so many people from Reservoir Hill 
in the Oak Cliff tradition are here. The people there would not have the pride of 
ownership that he had when he bought the house three, four years ago. That is why the 
neighborhood is in such tip top shape.  
 
Chris Kallenberger, 221 W. Woodrow Place, Tulsa, Oklahoma, 74106, stated that he 
had been a homeowner there at the Oak Cliff neighborhood since 1988. This 
neighborhood has retained its desirability and distinctiveness since it was first 
developed in the 1920s due in large part to its distinctive architecture. More importantly 
to the fact that it is single-family owner-occupied residences. It stands in stark contrast 
to the surrounding areas of North Tulsa. It has maintained healthy property values and 
new construction in recent years has included exceptional single-family residences, not 
rental infill. The residents of Reservoir Hill have worked for decades to maintain and 
improve this unique neighborhood. It would be a tragedy to have those efforts 
undermined by the city if there were to be a careless decision about this. He had no 
doubt that the developer Mr. Ellison intends to make the best project that he can. But 
what we all learn after living in our homes or in any building for a long time is that we 
are one person. The decisions that you all make today not only exceed his lifetime, or 
the lifetime of his residence in that duplex, it is available for him to sell. But by then the 
toothpaste is not going back in the tube. He would welcome his building his own home 
on that lot. He drives by it all the time and wonders why somebody has not built there, 



 

  BOA-05-09-23 (1306) 10 
 

but there are implications for the long term. He hoped we could all consider those and 
decline this request. 
 
 
Rebuttal: 
LaShawn Ellison, 8120 East 112 Street North, Owasso, Oklahoma, 74055, stated that 
the common theme is our soon to be neighbors are concerned that we are going to 
undermine the integrity of this neighborhood. We plan to move into this neighborhood, 
and we have the utmost desire to improve upon, at the very least maintain the integrity 
of the neighborhood. We are at the top of the hill with our single-family dwelling within 
walking distance would be temporary housing along with housing for my daughter. She 
underscores temporary housing, there is a difference between temporary housing for 
professional corporate residents versus what she believed her future neighbors 
understand this to be as a rental property. She does not want any riffraff within walking 
distance from my home as well as they do not. We have every intention of moving into 
this property. All we want to do is move in and continue to preserve the integrity of this 
neighborhood. We have zero intention to do anything less.  
 
Terrell Ellison, 8120 East 112 Street North, Owasso, Oklahoma, 74055, stated that 
Charles Harper who lives next door to this property was with him.  
 
Charles Harper, 1125 East 30th Street North, Tulsa, Oklahoma, 74100, stated that he 
was always for great things that full of great things that is going to be happening in 
North Texas, and he would not get a house built there if he thought it was going to be 
any things that will be going on it will not be suitable. He had trust in him and what he 
was trying to do to ensure that neighbors and the community and everyone were okay, 
and what we would be doing there.  
 
Terrell Ellison stated that he wanted to address a couple of comments. The height 
code, we are in compliance. He is building into for the view as well. Directly behind me 
is woods. He does not have a neighbor behind me. 
 
Mr. Bond stated that when he heard regulated height, which is not something that is 
being asked for today. The people behind you when they look out are they going to see 
your house and your roof?  
 
Mr. Ellison stated that there is no one behind me, it is hills. It is all wooded. So that that 
That means a house that is the back of that up on top of the hill. He is concerned that 
do they maintain their yard maintain the trees? So that is my concern, if we are if 
anyone is going to have concerns about what is going to come off those woods and are 
they going to maintain and cut down trees, but he was not here to dispute that right 
now. Another thing Mr. Crisps states that he has a building the house and with a 
secondary house for his daughter would not be considered you know, to occupancy 



 

  BOA-05-09-23 (1306) 11 
 

help home. To him, building a second residents on one lot, how is that any different? 
You want to have two residents on one lot. We have addressed the height. As for the 
driveway, and as far as that corner he would agree that that corner creates an area 
where there's blind spots, but that is regarding if it is one driveway, with one home or 
one driveway with two homes. You are still going to have that issue. His proposal is to 
make sure that the driveway is twenty feet wide. So that will accommodate two cars 
going out or in. In conclusion, he really hoped that after seeing the plans and hearing 
about the vision that my neighbors, you know, would support what we are trying to do 
on this acre and a half tract of land, which is highly wooded, and overgrown. And to 
address when we were cleaning that lot. We pulled out tires and, and parts of cars, and 
everything else in there. He was just trying to address all the questions and concerns. 
Thank you.  
 
Mr. Bond stated that the principal thing that we hear, and this is what I want everyone to 
be clear, we are not devoid of taste that no one wants that. We are not here to decide 
what looks good, what does not, things like that. It is that such as actually was with the 
harmony and spirit intended to code, and it is not injurious to the neighborhood or 
otherwise detrimental to the public welfare. The central question he is hearing is 
Reservoir Hills and Oak Cliff, is this something where a duplex would be out of 
character? 
 
Mr. Ellison stated that if it were a one thousand square foot duplex that was going to 
create the word income for that area, he would agree. A $750,000 house or duplex, he 
has no intent on bringing anything less than professionals, executive professionals on 
one side, and my daughters on the other side. It is not about the money. It is about 
making sure that that whole block is family oriented. That ties into the neighborhood. 
That is the intent. 
 
 
Comments and Questions: 
Mr. Bond stated that he loved this neighborhood. It is eclectic, and in a great way. The 
views are great, and the history of the neighborhood is amazing, too. This is a tough 
one for me because does he think this would be right for any duplex because he wished 
we had more left and right limits on here other than deciding what is injurious to the 
neighborhood or not. Because it would be an easy case for me if this were a small 
duplex or something which was not in keeping with the spirit of Oak Cliff, you bet. That 
would be an open and shut case, in his mind, that Oak Cliff would not be the place for 
that. What gives me pause and where he can truly not decide on this is the magnitude 
of this project. We have a large, nice house, which in and of itself, any one of these 
three houses, duplex or not, would be something which I think anyone would think 
would be a good contribution to the neighborhood. We also have a stakeholder here. It 
also gives me pause that this does run with the land. Once it is sold, you will have a 



 

  BOA-05-09-23 (1306) 12 
 

duplex. You would have a large duplex though. He was interested to see if anyone had 
an opinion on the board to see if they could pull me one way or the other.  
 
Mr. Barrientos stated that he sees that it is going to be injurious to the neighborhood. 
That is what we are voting for. On a duplex. This might be a question to the city. By right 
can you build a single family with an ADU on it? 
 
Mr. Chapman stated that it would require a Special Exception If they wanted to, this lot 
is well beyond the size limits of RS2 that they could split it if they chose to do two single 
family homes on it. 
 
Mr. Wallace stated that he thought the terrain limits that unless you have separate 
structures for one reason, they went up too. 
 
Ms. Radney stated that this is the least injurious way to accomplish what you are getting 
at Mr. Barrientos. She had thoughts on this. Those who know me will know that she 
advocates strongly for historic preservation. She believes in the integrity of 
neighborhoods. She believes in the necessity for style guides, which we do not have 
outside of historical overlays in the City of Tulsa. She says that as a person who grew 
up in California. When people talk about Thousand Oaks, it is because you cannot cut 
the oak trees down. When you go to Santa Barbara, you see the red clay tile, but that is 
a style guide. As a child of Ventura County, she has always referred to the new 
construction at the top of Reservoir Hill as the mountain style houses. She calls them 
that, because as a realtor, when people from out of town come here and they are 
having a good time downtown, they look up and they see those mountain style houses. 
One of the things that she also known as a Californian, is that when you are building on 
steep banks and she is a geophysicist by training, a geotechnical engineer, specifically, 
when you are building on steep banks like this, oftentimes you do have to build 
vertically. And it is not just because you want the height, sometimes it is because that is 
what you need to get a good stable footing for that structure on a steep hill, and it is 
quite steep here. She had asked the applicant about a different property. And it turns 
out it is not on this section, but it is down near where Elwood comes up, and it hits 
Victoria. The way that property that is sits there, it has a garage on the ground floor and 
has a walkout deck and then two-story house above it. It is quite different from the 
bungalow style houses that are just below it on Elwood, and she imagines that the folks 
in those bungalows were not ecstatic about it. This is Oklahoma, where property rights 
reign, king or queen, for better for worse. She would also say that typology, like the type 
of structure, does not make for a neighborhood. As an African American person sitting 
on this Board, she was keenly aware of the ways in which we have used the zoning 
code and the categories in the zoning code to include or exclude people, as opposed to 
matters of living. She wanted to say that, and then add that a duplex is still a home to 
somebody. The fact that one might live in a home for six months versus 60 years does 
not make it any less of a home to them. She thought that we as Tulsans, are 



 

  BOA-05-09-23 (1306) 13 
 

envisioning the growth and development of North Tulsa where there is a huge 
abundance, often not for the good, of buildable land. It is a mere happenstance that 
there is as much raw land and vacant lots in this part of the city. That is also by design. 
As we look at the development of that has old and new citizens of the district, we must 
consider the fact that we do not want to repeat the same mistakes that we made before. 
She says that to say that there's real estate, and then there's housing, which is a 
category of a structure. And then there are homes and neighborhoods made by the 
people who live in the houses in a neighborhood. She does not agree with the idea that 
duplexes by nature degrade a neighborhood. I live in a neighborhood that is extremely 
eclectic and has always been eclectic. It is near Parkside. One of the things that we 
have always understood about our eclectic neighborhood, which is made up of all 
diverse kinds of typologies. You know, she lives in a single-family home, they are 
duplexes in quad plex’s and its historic. We welcome all the people, and the rest of the 
city probably appreciates the fact that we are very gracious to many of the people who 
would otherwise be homeless or suffering from some kind of chronic mental illness who 
have who live in housing has contracted by many of the mental health associations and 
those neighborhoods are perfectly fine. She loves her neighborhood and would not want 
to live anyplace else. Whether the house is five thousand square feet, a million dollars, 
one thousand square feet, or $10. The question in this case is does it suit the land? Is it 
a good plan in terms of the kind of construction that they are proposing? She did hear 
the question about the safety issues. Those who follow this board know that she does 
have a concern about congestion when we are putting duplexes, and small 
neighborhoods. But outside of that, the massing of this duplex is going to look so much 
and so like the houses that are actually adjacent to it, that are being built by the same 
developer. They are going to be complementary in design. If we were to really zoom out 
and look up at the hill, they are going to be more in keeping with what has been new 
construction, that does not comport to the interesting bohemian style of construction at 
the top of the hill. We are not here to judge the aesthetics of it. She still does not see 
that it is detrimental to the neighborhood. Then lastly, yes, we have approved a large, 
second building. That was a structure that was housing for a family member, not far 
away from here, but she thought the ADU was bigger than the house. What we 
recognized in that discussion, and what we recognize here is just like we have all 
watched the HGTV show where you know out of Canada, where people have the 
income property in the basement, and everyone thinks it is great. The millennials of this 
day, who are often unable to buy a house, because of the way in which we build houses 
and price houses today would probably be here, if we had invited them saying I would 
love to buy a house with an income property attached to it, because that is the wave of 
the future for housing. Again, when she asked herself, does it, even in terms of the way 
that people would live in the neighborhood, does a duplex, even if it were sold to a non-
family member, is that still by definition of changing the character of the neighborhood? 
She is back at No. And then as variants were pointed out, week after week, we approve 
mother-in-law suites, and ADU because that is the direction that the city has suggested 
to us that makes sense in a modern city where we would have more density, not in 



 

  BOA-05-09-23 (1306) 14 
 

small measure to sort of overturn the legacy of single family residence zoning. So that is 
my opinion about all of that, Mr. Chair.  
 
Mr. Wallace asked if the renderings that we had a chance to see had been shown to the 
public.  
 
Mr. Chapman stated that he thought that the only thing in here that really was not 
included in your packet was the actual floor plans. The rendering was included in what 
was available for the public model, but not the single-family homes. 
 
Mr. Wallace stated that kind of changed my perspective a little bit, personally. Because 
that is one thing that he struggled with, because we talk about ADU’s, and we talk about 
duplexes. At the end of the day, they are the same thing, but it is terminology and 
buzzwords here, and it is a large unit or residence. He did not know what the square 
footage was on this, but it was three- or four-bedroom, with a garage. The rent is not 
going to be low. He thought by saying all those things and in a different way that were 
presented. It is the perceptions of what multifamily resident, residential duplexes, and 
accessory dwelling units’ how that lean is just perceived differently. There is nice 
contemporary modern architecture around it, and he does have any issues with that. 
That is not what we are here to look at. He still honestly was on the fence on this, but 
because he was not hearing support from the neighborhood from one side, this is 
something that Tulsa desperately needs right now. We need a movement in this 
direction. And we need people to see how it is going to benefit our city. That is where he 
was standing now. 
 
Ms. Stauffer stated that she felt like Tyler and felt a little bit on the fence about it. The 
fact that the plot of land is so large, and that two houses to two separate houses could 
easily fit on it in her mind helps her think that a duplex is fine. She did not think that the 
duplex was injurious to the neighborhood in and of itself. We are not talking about 
multifamily here. How they intend to use the duplex is not what we are here to talk about 
today, which is mostly where we heard the opposition. But that is not really what we are 
here to discuss. 
 
Mr. Bond stated that the vice-chair, as she often does, has made a persuasive 
argument to me. He lives in an over 100-year-old house, he knows all your pain of 
remodeling what it takes to keep one of those going. We are under HP. He can think of 
five duplexes in my neighborhood, that they do not really notice, because they have 
been tastefully maintained. He would not support something which would be out of 
character for the size, the trajectory of this house in this neighborhood. If something 
comes up here, that would not be to the scale and character that this design is he would 
not support that. On this board. We have seen what the City Council has wanted, but as 
was pointed out, more infill. One of the ways we have seen that is through the code 
being modified to allow for accessory dwelling units, and people live there. We can sit 



 

  BOA-05-09-23 (1306) 15 
 

here imagine how not trying to be in any way insensitive to the kinds of concerns of the 
neighborhood something which could really be worse here. That would not come in front 
of us that they could do by right. He thought compared to what someone else can do. It 
makes sense to me, and he thought it was a great plan. He did want to note it in the 
minutes that he would view any kind of future proposals for Oak Cliff, Reservoir Hill, 
very skeptically when it comes to any type of multifamily housing, for duplexes. He did 
think for this case, the applicants put work in here. There is time, investment, and he did 
not think it would be injurious to the neighborhood. He hoped in a few years after a 
couple of Fourth of July barbecues with the neighbors he hoped you all agree with me 
too. 
 
Someone in the audience said out of order that there is just not a single duplex on top.  
 
Mr. Bond asked him politely to stop talking and ask for Staff to see security please.  
 
Ms. Radney stated that she was a yes, but she was going to defer to someone else on 
the board to make a Motion. 
 
Mr. Bond stated that people are enthusiastic about this because it is a great 
neighborhood. It really is. The thing to worry about would be if people were not here. 
Given it is a great neighborhood he wished nothing but the best for you whatever this 
vote turns out to be. 
 
Mr. Wilkerson stated that before it gets to the actual motion, he thought that including 
the basic idea that the site plan shown on 3.9 is okay. He liked where you are headed 
with that, but he would like to just raise caution to the idea that the grading concept as 
shown here, is not likely to be actually accurate for what could be built there. If part of 
this conversation is to define the finish for the first floor, and then let them figure out how 
to deal with grading and retaining walls and all that there is detail that is not accurately 
shown on 3.9. He would just throw that out there. He was happy to dig deeper if the 
Chair would like to, but he thought the idea of not allowing a finished floor above what is 
shown on the conceptual plan, and then ignoring the rest of the grading illustrations that 
are shown would be helpful to the Building Permit Office. 
 
Mr. Bond stated that he thought it was a great point. He said that his vote is tied to the 
magnitude of this project, and the level of investment on this project. If you can help us 
encapsulate that in a Motion, for what exhibits to include conceptually at least, would 
you have any suggestions on how to include that? 
 
Ms. Radney asked Mr. Wilkerson she was assuming that that was why we do not 
actually have a site plan showing all three on it. 
 



 

  BOA-05-09-23 (1306) 16 
 

Mr. Wilkerson stated that he thought the idea of the site plan for all three lots is not 
really part of this conversation, we need to keep our focus on the site where the duplex 
is shown. That site plan is in your packet in the packet on page 3.9.  
 
Mr. Wallace asked if Mr. Chapman would pull up page 3.8.  
 
Mr. Wallace asked Mr. Wilkerson if he was basing it off this finished floor. 
 
Mr. Wilkerson stated that the idea of referencing a site plan that illustrates the footprint 
of the building is fine. Showing the driveway and that kind of stuff was super important 
for this concept. The finished floor elevation that is shown here is good. But he would 
hate to see the building permit office or developer, or anybody look at this grading plan, 
and think that is how it is going to be built. Maybe if you want to reference 3.8 and 
identified the floor elevation but exclude any concept illustration of the finished grading. I 
do not want the building permit off to think that the grading must look like that. There 
could be less grading. We do not like you just mentioned, we do not do a lot of hillside 
development. He did not want to put the perception that this is the grading plan that is 
going to happen. The retaining walls can be taller, like how multiple retaining walls there 
are solutions that can be integrated into the site that I just to be careful about how we do 
that. 
 
Ms. Radney asked to let her make sure that she understands this. On 3.3, this is the 
boundary just for lot nine, or is this the boundary for the other lines as well? 
 
Mr. Chapman stated that it was for only lot nine. 
 
Board Action:   
On MOTION of Wallace, the Board voted (Bond, Stauffer, Wallace, all “ayes, 
Barrientos’s “nay”, Radney “abstained”) to Approve a Special Exception to permit a 
duplex in the RS-3 district (Table 5.020, Table 5-2, Table 5-2.5); per the Conceptual 
Plans shown on pages 3.7 and 3.9 of the Agenda packet of which the site plan on 3.8 
illustrates the approximate footprint and elevation of the new structure.   
 
The Board finds that the requested Special Exception will be in harmony with the spirit 
and intent of the Code and will not be injurious to the neighborhood or otherwise 
detrimental to the public welfare, for the following property: 
 
LT 9 BLK 3, OAK CLIFF ADDN, CITY OF TULSA, TULSA COUNTY, STATE OF 
OKLAHOMA 
  
  
 
 



 

  BOA-05-09-23 (1306) 17 
 

 
23524 - Lorena Medrano 

Action Requested:  
Special Exception to allow a Large (Greater than 250 person-capacity) 
Commercial Assembly & Entertainment Use in the IL District (Sec.15.020, Table 
15-2) 

 
Presentation: 
Lorena Madrona, 5833 21st, Tulsa, Oklahoma, stated that they did not know what 
happened or why they were there or why the facility was closed. Victor Gaitan and she 
are coaches, and he also rents the facility. The only thing that we do in that facility is 
play soccer. We help the kids to get off the streets to come in and play soccer. She 
thought that the most concern was that there were other people going through them to 
the other neighbors. But we did not know that was happening until the lady brought it 
up. She came over and told us that that was happening. That is when she brought it up 
to you here to the City of Tulsa. That is when they came to shut it down. Now we are 
waiting for the approval if we can come back and play in the facility. The biggest 
concern was that somebody was going through the back. She thought it was the people 
beside us. There are people hanging around there. She did not know if it was homeless 
going back there. To be honest with you, it is not us. We come in we park, we get 
dressed, and we go to the field. It is not just the kids that come but also adults who 
come out there and we just play soccer. That is all we do there. We do not cause any 
trouble. We do not do anything else or people stay inside the facility, which is 250 
capacity that can be in there. We only have sometimes probably like sixty people less 
maybe. She is coaching on one side, and then the other coaches on the other side, or 
we all divide up, or half of the field we have half of the field just depends on the other 
days, because sometimes it rains. We use the facility. When it gets cold outside, we use 
the facility. Whenever the time changes, we use the facility. It is really affecting us when 
all these rainy days, or kids have slowed down. They are playing video games again. 
We are also trying to help them to get out of the streets and fight against obesity. We 
are not doing anything wrong. We are playing soccer, trying to stay healthy, trying to get 
our stress out. We just want to help the Hispanic community. There are a lot of kids that 
play at high school, and they come out there and just have fun. We had a case that one 
of the kids that he was doing drugs, somewhere else. We try to help them. He was a 
great soccer player. Then he started doing drugs that we brought him back. Now he is 
doing great. Now he is staying away from the games and all other things from crimes 
and stuff like that. We are trying to help the kids to just stay away from trouble, stay 
away from doing bad things out for them, and to stay in good shape and everything.  
 
Mr. Bond asked if they regularly have more than 250 people. 
 
Ms. Medrano stated that they did not. Sometimes they get like twenty-three kids or less, 
it just depends on their parents too. The other coach sometimes gets about fifteen kids, 



 

  BOA-05-09-23 (1306) 18 
 

and then maybe the parents. Sometimes the parents come, sit there and watch. Nobody 
else is going back there. She did apologize for what was going on. We are trying to 
help. The neighbor said that she loves what we are doing with the kids. She has had 
conversations with this neighbor. She said she approves of what we are doing with the 
kids around there. If we do get the approval again, we are going to try our best to help 
with what is going on in the back, we can put a thicker fence or something to prevent 
them going back there. It has a gate they just keep jumping over it. We are going back 
there.  
 
Ms. Radney asked if she could show us on the map where that activity is that you think 
has caused the problem. 
 
Ms. Medrano pointed to the building and stated that it was in the back. There are only 
two houses and a gas station behind the facility. There were homeless people at the 
gas station asking for money. We cannot prevent from them jumping. We can try to do 
our best to put something on the top or we can produce something. It is not the kids 
jumping.  
 
Victor Gaytan, 1166 North Birmingham Pl., Tulsa, Oklahoma, 74110 was there 
speaking with Ms. Medrano. 
 
Interested Parties: 
Katie Morgan, 1443 North College Avenue, Tulsa, Oklahoma, 74110, stated that the 
house belongs to her mother, and she has health issues, and she was her Power of 
Attorney. She came to speak on both of their behaves because this is directly behind 
this and really, she was not understood what they were asking. She did not want to 250 
people directly on this property straight up to our backyard. Her concerns were vehicle 
traffic and crime. If there is going to be a large group there, it is an invasion of our 
privacy to be that close to this and have that many people. 
 
Mr. Bond asked if she could show him with the pointer where your house is located. 
Are you aware that your back fence line borders RS3, and on the east side of your back 
fence line is Light Industrial. 
 
Ms. Morgan stated that she did understand that zoning. She did not understand any of 
it. Our biggest concern is the number of people going back there. It is quite right there. 
Next to this building is a John 3:16. There is the riffraff on the corner with the gas 
station. But we do not want to be affected by noise and traffic. Anytime you have a large 
group of people, you there is a potential for violence. She just was saying one of the 
kids was on drugs. She did not want that behind my house either. She understood that 
they were trying to help the kids. 
 
 



 

  BOA-05-09-23 (1306) 19 
 

Rebuttal: 
Ms. Medrano stated that we have helped all these kids. The kids that she coaches are 
small. They are not doing drugs. We did help this kid, but it was just one kid. He is no 
longer doing all any of that stuff. We helped to get him away from bad things like 
thinking about doing bad things. We are a very healthy club. None of the other kids do 
any drugs. She and Victor Gaytan have been in this for a long time. She has been 
playing soccer for almost 16 years. She also is a referee, so she gets background 
checked, he gets background checks and to work around the kids is like a serious thing 
with the State of Oklahoma and she thought she understood where Ms. Morgan was 
coming from, that she does not want 250 people around her. We never have 250 
people, which is just the capacity for that building. We randomly have 36 to 37 people 
there. If she is concerned about the noise, we just come in, we play inside the building, 
and there is no noise. There are a car lot there, and they do play music, but it is not us.  
 
Mr. Wallace stated you are doing is great with the kids, and we really appreciate it. We 
understand your perspective on that, or at least I do. To follow the story, you all have 
been playing in here and then got a citation or how did that work? How did you all end 
up here? 
 
Mr. Gaytan stated that the last time we came here was for the capacity building, 
because we play with only a few players. He thought needs to change to set what most 
people will want can proceed. We usually do not have twenty people there; we play with 
only a few people.  
 
Mr. Bond asked if the City could weigh in on this. We understood it, is there a reason 
they need 250? 
 
Mr. Chapman stated it is zoned industrial. They will require a Special Exception whether 
the capacity is above or less than 250-person capacity. This building, just by the size of 
it, the capacity is rated for over 250-persons. Commercial Assembly Entertainment use 
requires a Special Exception industrial.  
 
Ms. Blank asked Mr. Wallace if he was asking whether you could condition, and she 
thought that would be possible. 
 
Mr. Chapman stated that it is awkward, but he thought that would be fine. 
 
Mr. Wallace stated that if they ever do, they come back.  
 
Ms. Radney asked how long you have been playing soccer at this location. 
 
Ms. Medrano stated that they had been there about three years. We started at 
Springdale, the one that was over here, and then we moved to max Maxwell Park. Then 



 

  BOA-05-09-23 (1306) 20 
 

he decided to get this building so we can have it for the winter, and for all other 
occasions.  
 
Ms. Radney stated the biggest reason that this was this building itself was attractive is 
that it was big enough to play in. There are not a whole lot of parks or other facilities that 
you would have access to that are big enough for soccer that these kids could walk to, 
is that correct? Would you feel comfortable if we were to limit the period for your Special 
Exception to say 10 years where at the end of a decade, you would have to come back 
and ask again? She was not necessarily as concerned about a few people as she was 
the type of use because you could have a nightclub. You do not want a nightclub. We 
specifically talked about youth and young adult sports.  
 
Ms. Medrano stated that yes, she would agree to 10 years. We play against other 
teams, which are recreational from Mannford and all-around Oklahoma. This weekend, 
we are going into a tournament. We are trying to get prepared. But those rainy days 
affected us. People have asked when are you open indoors?  
 
Ms. Radney asked if they will be trying to have tournaments there where you might 
have other teams come into play or is it just going to be a practice? 
 
Ms. Medrano stated that it is just a practice facility.  
 
Comments and Questions: 
Mr. Bond stated that he would be highly inclined to support it if they did not have 
tournaments there. He had to say, the irony is not lost on the air. If you talk to the 
homeless folks that are at issue right now, on the corner or behind you, he could almost 
guarantee you that they did not have a Coach Medrano or Coach Gaytan in their lives 
and that is why they are there. He had no problem at all voting for something that is 
saving kids’ lives, it is great. Youth competitive sports is what is lacking in this country, 
and he could not thank you enough for doing what you are doing. He did not see that 
this would be larger than the 250-person capacity. If you look to the south, that looks 
like there is a very large-scale industrial facility everywhere here to the south, and the 
southeast. This would be less invasive to the back of a neighborhood there and would 
be something which would be great for that neighborhood to give those kids an outlet. If 
we tie it to the use of a Youth Sports Complex, he will support this.  
 
Mr. Barrientos stated that he was in support of this and appreciated what you all do.  
 
Ms. Stauffer stated that she would agree. She was supportive of this. She thought that 
industrial buildings that are not being used are perfect for this type of use. We have 
seen it in gymnastics gyms and other places and other industrial areas that she has 
taken her kids to. She did not think this was out of character. It would be prohibitive cost 
wise to build a similar facility. That is not lost on me.  



 

  BOA-05-09-23 (1306) 21 
 

 
Ms. Radney stated that she wanted to make one more comment, because in the packet, 
it does outline the building that they are in. It would apply to the whole property. She 
would not be inclined if we were all in agreement not to limit it to this building per se, but 
to limit it to youth and amateur sports uses commonly. Are they required to screen the 
back? 
 
Mr. Chapman stated that they are required to screen with a six-foot privacy fence at the 
minimum.  
 
Board Action:   
On MOTION of Barrientos, the Board voted 5-0-0 (Barrientos, Bond, Radney, Stauffer, 
and Wallace all “ayes”, no “nays, no “abstentions”) to APPROVE a Special Exception to 
allow a Large (Greater than 250 person-capacity) Commercial Assembly & 
Entertainment Use in the IL District (Sec.15.020, Table 15-2), per the Conceptual Plans 
shown on page 4.8 of the Agenda packet.  The conditions are that it will be a 10-year 
term and it is for a Youth and Amateur Sport complex. 
 
The Board finds that the requested Special Exception will be in harmony with the spirit 
and intent of the Code and will not be injurious to the neighborhood or otherwise 
detrimental to the public welfare, for the following property: 
 
E10 N166 W331.24 & S240.5 W331.24 BLK 1, HAW INDUSTRIAL SUB, CITY OF 
TULSA, TULSA COUNTY, STATE OF OKLAHOMA 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

  BOA-05-09-23 (1306) 22 
 

23525 - Jason Mills 
Action Requested: 
Special Exception to allow a college or university use in the RM-1 District 
(Sec.5.020, Table 5-2) Location:  8408 S. Delaware Ave. 

 
Presentation: 
Jason Mills, 8903 South 39th West Avenue, Tulsa, Oklahoma, 74132, stated that he 
was representing Oral Roberts University. We have an existing 27,000 square foot 
vacant building on the south end of campus, just southeast of City Plex Towers. It is 
bound on the south and west by multifamily. It is just an extension of campus. That is 
looking forward to the future. We are repurposing this for the biology department, 
relocating them from basement facilities in the General Learning Center, and bringing 
them across the street so that they can have their own building. It has five lecture labs, 
and one large lecture environment with a shared area. They are going to be bringing 
students across by bus on a day-to-day basis to fit their schedules. It is just a 
combination of faculty and student space and reusing this building. It was previously an 
Early Learning Center, and then two business uses. By building code, we are not 
changing the use is a zoning code issue where we are just trying to allow it. This piece 
of property is not yet part of the campus zoning, if you will. It is still part of the 
multifamily that was originally planned to grow north. 
 
Mr. Bond asked if there has been any progress made on the zoning change for the 
campus. 
 
Mr. Mills stated that they have worked on, but he did not know anything about the 
timeline. They have gotten processes underway, but this project has come before 
unfortunately, they got everything taken care of. 
 
Mr. Wilkerson stated that this site is outside of the boundary of the Master Plan 
Development, that City Council have approved that Master Plan Development. They are 
the last part of that is the subdivision compliance part. Now they are working through 
that process now that the zoning is in place for the primary campus footprint that was 
not part of that.  
 
Interested Parties: 
No interested parties were present. 
 
Comments and Questions: 
Ms. Radney stated as a former Natural Sciences major it is always wonderful to get out 
of the basement to be able to be able to see the sun. Like the philosophy majors and 
English majors. It is a wonderful thing. 
 
 



 

  BOA-05-09-23 (1306) 23 
 

Mr. Wallace and Ms. Stauffer both stated that they had no objections to this matter. 
 
Mr. Wilkerson stated that he kept going back to page 5.8, he thought it would be best if 
we excluded it from the Motion. The reason is there is a large PSO power station that is 
included on that site plan, and we are not trying to approve that are only. So, 5.7 shows 
the area about which we are talking. 
 
Board Action: 
On MOTION of Barrientos, the Board voted 5-0-0 (Barrientos, Bond, Radney, Stauffer, 
and Wallace all “ayes”, no “nays, no “abstentions”) to APPROVE a Special Exception to 
allow a college or university use in the RM-1 District (Sec.5.020, Table 5-2), per the 
Conceptual Plans shown in the agenda packet.  
 
The Board finds that the requested Special Exception will be in harmony with the spirit 
and intent of the Code and will not be injurious to the neighborhood or otherwise 
detrimental to the public welfare, for the following property: 
 
PRT LT 1 BEG 663W & 986.05N SECR TH E320 S500 W320 N500 POB BLK 1; PRT 
LT 1 BEG SECR TH W663 N986.05 E663 S986.05 POB LESS BEG 663W & 986.05N 
SECR TH E320 S500 W320 N500 POB BLK 1, ORAL ROBERTS UNIVERSITY HGTS 
2ND ADDN, City of Tulsa, Tulsa County, State of Oklahoma 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

  BOA-05-09-23 (1306) 24 
 

23526 - Conner Von Holten 
Action Requested:  
  
Special Exception to allow a Large (Greater than 250 person-capacity) 
Commercial Assembly & Entertainment Use in the Central Business District 
(CBD) (Sec.15.020, Table 15-2) Location:  924 S. Boulder Ave. (CD 4) 

 
Presentation: 
Corey Taylor, 924 South Boulder Avenue, Tulsa, Oklahoma, 74119, stated that they to 
convert this historic 100-year-old property into a venue. We have 126 parking spaces 
and there is a 14,000 square foot facility. We have spoken with all our neighbors in the 
area. They are excited about what we plan to do. We have a large, unhoused 
population in the area. This property has kind of been sitting, not necessarily vacant, but 
the church was only using it one day out of the week. They see opportunities to 
increase that amount of activity in the area and the traffic in the area with what we plan 
to do, which is to convert it into a venue. venue space. 
 
Mr. Bond stated that they were saving the building. 
 
Mr. Taylor stated that they were saving the building, keeping all its architectural 
integrity, nothing is changing inside. We are just adding technology, repainting it, 
bringing in new flooring and bringing it up to code. 
 
Mr. Bond asked if they thought there would be any issue with parking. 
 
Mr. Taylor stated that our events will be happening after business hours, and we have 
126 spaces in the other parking lot and parking lots in the area that we would also be 
able to utilize.  
 
Ms. Radney asked if all the activities would be inside. 
 
Mr. Taylor stated that the activity would be inside.  
 
Mr. Bond stated that like the discussion on the previous item if we grant relief to use this 
for the venue there will be other additional permits per event if you do something 
outside or something else like that.  
 
Ms. Stauffer stated that we do two letters in favor. 
 
Interested Parties: 
No interested parties were present. 
 
 



 

  BOA-05-09-23 (1306) 25 
 

Comments and Questions: 
Ms. Radney asked if they wanted to do this in perpetuity. 
 
Mr. Bond stated that he thought it was a church and whatever use they have with that 
will continue. He did not have a problem with it being in perpetuity. Anything less than 
10 years would give him heartburn. 
 
Ms. Stauffer stated that she did not have any issues with it being in perpetuity. 
 
Mr. Barrientos stated that he would not either. 
 
Mr. Wilkerson stated that indoor and outdoor gathers, the only reason he would bring it 
up is that there is a distinction in our zoning code between the two and it is helpful to be 
clear that it is either one or both. The concept plan referenced both.  
 
Mr. Bond asked Mr. Taylor if there was an outdoor portion to this. 
 
Mr. Mills stated that there was an outdoor portion to this. Outside we have an area for 
pre-hosting and post-hosting. We would like to be able to do both if it is well within our 
business plan to do both.  
 
Mr. Bond stated that he did not have any objections to this matter. He would support 
outdoor use of this as well.  
 
Ms. Blank stated that she and Mr. Wilkerson were discussing the outdoor portion being 
noticed.  
 
Mr. Chapman stated that it was noticed it as a as a 250+ person capacity. 
 
Ms. Radney stated that we do not approve of the parking lot area for an outdoor 
assembly. We are just approving the boundary that was noted that was included in the 
grassy area, but not the parking lot itself.  
 
Mr. Chapman stated that it was just the lot with the building. They noted that they have 
access to the other lot. They are under the same ownership, but they are two separate 
lots.  
 
Board Action: 
On MOTION of Stauffer, the Board voted, 4-0-1 (Barrientos, Bond, Radney, Stauffer all 
“ayes”, no “nays”, Wallace “abstained”) to APPROVE a Special Exception to allow a 
Large (Greater than 250 person-capacity) Commercial Assembly & Entertainment Use 
in the Central Business District (CBD) (Sec.15.020, Table 15-2), per the Conceptual 
Plans shown on page 6.5 of the Agenda packet.   



 

  BOA-05-09-23 (1306) 26 
 

The Board finds that the requested Special Exception will be in harmony with the spirit 
and intent of the Code and will not be injurious to the neighborhood or otherwise 
detrimental to the public welfare, for the following property: 
 
LTS 3 & 4 LESS ST BLK 192, TULSA-ORIGINAL TOWN, CITY OF TULSA, TULSA 
COUNTY, STATE OF OKLAHOMA 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

  BOA-05-09-23 (1306) 27 
 

 
*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*. 

 
OTHER BUSINESS 

None 
 

*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*. 
 

NEW BUSINESS 
None 

 
*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*. 

 
BOARD MEMBER COMMENTS 

 
Ms. Radney stated that the Board really do appreciate that the public cares about these 
matters that impact their neighborhoods and the city. We do want to acknowledge we 
hear all their voices. We do not always agree with them, but without having heard them 
we would not be able to form their decisions. 
 

*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*. 
 
 
There being no further business, the meeting adjourned at 3:17 p.m. 
 
 
      Date approved: ________________________  
 
 

 __________________________ 
  Chair 

 
 
 
 
 

*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*. 
 

OTHER BUSINESS 
 

*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*. 
 

NEW BUSINESS 



 

  BOA-05-09-23 (1306) 28 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

May 23-2023 (1317) 1 
 

BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT 
MINUTES of Meeting No. 1317 
Regularly Scheduled Meeting 
Tulsa City Council Chambers 

175 East 2nd Street, 2nd Level, One Technology Center Tuesday, 
May 23, 2023, 1:00 P.M. 

 
Meeting No. 1317 

 
MEMBERS PRESENT 
 
Barrientos 
Bond, Chair 
Radney, Vice Chair  
Stauffer                    
Wallace 
 

MEMBERS 
ABSENT 
 

STAFF 
PRESENT 
A. Chapman 
S. Tauber 
D. Wilkerson 
J. Banes 

OTHERS 
   

A. Blank, Legal 

The notice and agenda of said meeting were posted in the City Clerk’s office, City Hall, 
on May17, 2023, at 3:30 p.m., as well as at the Office of INCOG, 2 West Second Street, 
Suite 800. 
 

*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*. 
 

Mr. Bond called the meeting to order at 1:00 p.m.  
 
 

*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*. 
Mr. Chapman read the rules and procedures for the Board of Adjustment Public 
Hearing. 
 
Mr. Bond stated that we are losing our beloved Staff member Dwayne Wilkerson to 
retirement and today will be his last Board of Adjustment meeting. As a lawyer in this 
town, when it comes to the city that is a BOA related project, one of the first people you 
will hear from is Dwayne. There are few people in a professional setting who have more 
of a consummate professional, maxed out with a great attitude all the time and 
professional acumen. He is going to be missed. We want him to know how much we 
have appreciated it and he is always on point. Mr. Bond presented Mr. Wilkerson with a 
giant trophy.  
 

 
 
 
 
 



 

May 23-2023 (1317) 2 
 

*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*. 
 

MINUTES 
 

On MOTION of Barrientos, the Board voted 5-0-0 (Barrientos, Bond, Radney, Stauffer, 
Wallace “ayes”, no “nays”; no “abstentions”) to CONTINUE the Minutes of April 25, 
2023 (Meeting No. 1316) to the next BOA meeting on June 13, 2023. 

*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*. 
 

NEW APPLICATIONS 
 
23528 - Joel Collins 
Action Requested: 
Special Exception to allow an Accessory Dwelling Unit in an RS-3 District (45.031-D); 
Variance to allow a Detached Accessory Building/ Dwelling Unit to exceed one in the 
rear setback (Section 90.090-C2); Variance to permit the entrance of an Accessory 
Dwelling Unit to face a side lot line (Sec. 45.030-D.8.a); Variance to allow an accessory 
Dwelling Unit to be less than 10-feet behind the detached house (Sec. 45.030-D.8.b) 
Location: 1207 E. 21st St. (CD 4) 
 
Presentation: 
Joel Collins, 2626 South Troost Avenue, Tulsa, Oklahoma, 74114, stated that we did 
solar studies on it only to realize that there was a five-foot utility easement within the 
back, which he absolutely did not want to try to impede. We revised everything on the 
owners list, which was three items. Jennifer Simmons is going to back us up that the 
owner is happy. Secondly, the drawings he submitted on Friday brought us out of that 
five-foot easement. We are now five feet off the back line. We also revised the height of 
the building to be eighteen feet so that we did not impede any shadows or anything into 
his back pool area. We are still asking for three things that are a two-story building unit 
as a guest quarter to be within ten feet of the back of the house just because of the 
home itself being built in 1926. There is just a tiny backyard which he had noted on the 
site plan. The other request was to have entrance on the east side which does face the 
people to the east. Their current building/garage is on the property line. He did not think 
there would be any reason that entry on the side was affected.  
 
Interested Parties: 
Jennifer Simmons, 1212 East 20th Street, Tulsa, Oklahoma, 74120, stated that she 
thought their biggest concern really was after he made the changes just the utility 
easement. He said it was moved back five feet that that easement is used for about six 
or seven houses. In 2020, they had bucket trucks in this driveway to service. They put in 
new overhead power lines. If that is still accessible, we agree to the changes.  
 



 

May 23-2023 (1317) 3 
 

Rebuttal: 
Mr. Collins stated the reason we are asking for it is because the home is one of the 
most historic types of houses and it is called the Irish Capital of Tulsa. It was built in 
1926. And it is just pushed all the way to the north of the property line. Getting it in and 
out of the garage is absolutely a catastrophe. The idea was just to put a nice easy in 
and out garage in the back. It is just the only space we had and that is really our 
hardship.  
 
Comments and Questions: 
Mr. Bond stated that your fun fact for the day is, from what he understands this was one 
of the early zoning fights in the city because there was potential for the thatch roof on 
this house that the original owners took up with the city.  
 
Ms. Stauffer stated that it all seemed fine and reasonable to her.  
 
Mr. Barrientos stated that he did not have any issues with this, and he was inclined to 
support it.  
 
Mr. Bond stated that he appreciated the neighbor, the builder, and the property owner 
all working together. It is always the best solution. We see the worst. 
 
Ms. Radney asked what hardship it was. 
 
Mr. Bond stated that it was a non-conforming lot built prior to the Comprehensive 
Zoning Code. 
 
Mr. Bond stated that Staff might just add the lot is conforming. It is non-conforming in a 
modern sense of the actual lot as far as zoning standards that it conforms to the zoning 
code to the best of my knowledge. 
 
Ms. Radney asked what we mean by non-conforming in the modern sense.  
 
Mr. Chapman stated that what he was saying if you are using the term non-conforming 
to say that the placement of a house is not consistent with how it normally would be. 
That is for the board to decide. As far as the actual conforming to the zoning code, there 
is not anything about that house that he was aware of that is not conforming to the 
zoning code. 
 
Ms. Radney stated that it is primarily the citing of the existing structure is non-
conforming. 
 
Mr. Bond stated that on pages 2.08 and 2.4 you can see where it is pushed back to the 
back. 



 

May 23-2023 (1317) 4 
 

 
Ms. Radney asked if we have plans. 
 
Mr. Chapman stated that the revised plans were given to you today. 
 
Ms. Blank asked along the same lines, Mr. Chapman, could you just confirm which 
Variances are still looking at. Because it sounds like the last one about accessory 
dwelling to be less than 10 feet behind the house. Was that that one still necessary?  
 
Mr. Chapman stated that the only one that would be modified is on the height and it is a 
variance to allow two stories. The top plate is less than 10 feet, and the height of the 
overall building is eighteen feet and so it does not need relief for the height. But still 
technically it is about two stories. 
 
Ms. Blank stated that then the entrance they need that and then also the dwelling unit to 
be less than 10-feet behind the house.  
 
Ms. Radney asked in the sample motion, do we need to read the second part about the 
eighteen feet in height. 
 
Mr. Chapman stated that portion could be stricken.  
 
Mr. Wallace asked if this is another one of those where if they would have connected it 
would have been allowed by right. 
 
Mr. Chapman stated that no because it would have been encroaching on the rear 
setback, and so accessory buildings can encroach on the setback of the principal 
buildings.  
 
Board Action: 
On MOTION of Radney, the Board voted 5-0-0 (Barrientos, Bond, Radney, Stauffer, 
Wallace “ayes”, no “nays”; no “abstentions”) to APPROVE a Special Exception to allow 
an Accessory Dwelling Unit in an RS-3 District (45.031-D); Variance to allow a 
Detached Accessory Building/ Dwelling Unit to exceed one story in the rear setback 
(Section 90.090-C2); Variance to permit the entrance of an Accessory Dwelling Unit to 
face a side lot line (Sec. 45.030-D.8.a); Variance to allow an accessory Dwelling Unit to 
be less than 10-feet behind the detached house (Sec. 45.030-D.8.b), per the 
Conceptual Plans that were submitted at today’s meeting.  
 
The Board finds that the requested Special Exception will be in harmony with the spirit 
and intent of the Code and will not be injurious to the neighborhood or otherwise 
detrimental to the public welfare. 
 



 

May 23-2023 (1317) 5 
 

In granting the Variance the Board finds that the following facts, favorable to the property 
owner, have been established:  
 

a. That the physical surroundings, shape, or topographical conditions of the subject 
property would result in unnecessary hardships or practical difficulties for the 
property owner, as distinguished from a mere inconvenience, if the strict letter of 
the regulations were carried out; 
 
b. That literal enforcement of the subject zoning code provision is not necessary 
to achieve the provision’s intended purpose; 
 
c. That the conditions leading to the need of the requested variance are unique to 
the subject property and not applicable, generally, to other property within the 
same zoning classification; 
 
d. That the alleged practical difficulty or unnecessary hardship was not created or 
self-imposed by the current property owner; 
 
e. That the variance to be granted is the minimum variance that will afford relief; 
 
f. That the variance to be granted will not alter the essential character of the 
neighborhood in which the subject property is located, nor substantially or 
permanently impair use or development of adjacent property; and 
 
g. That the variance to be granted will not cause substantial detriment to the public 
good or impair the purposes, spirit, and intent of this zoning code or the 
comprehensive plan.” 

 
For the following property: 
 
LT 5 & W 25 OF LT 6 BLK 4, MAPLE HGTS ADDN, CITY OF TULSA, TULSA COUNTY, 
STATE OF OKLAHOMA 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

May 23-2023 (1317) 6 
 

23529 - Tanner Consulting, LLC 
Action Requested: 
Variance to reduce the required street frontage in the AG district from 30-feet to 0-feet 
to permit a lot split (Sec. 25.020-D, Table 25-2) Location:  2123 W. 91st St. (CD 2) 
 
Presentation: 
Erik Enyart, with Tanner Consulting, 5323 South Louis, Avenue, Tulsa, Oklahoma 
74105 stated that they are preparing the application on behalf of our donor, Dr. 
Schiesel, and his wife. They acquired the property in September of last year. At the time 
there were two tracks in this area, the one two-acre tract that existed before contained a 
house, that two-acre tract had been in existence since 2012. It was an understanding of 
the buyer, my client, that they had two tracks when they ended up with this transaction. 
The property was legally described around the entire boundary, and it was assumed 
that the two-acre tract and that contract status was lost. That is the hardship that they 
find trying to get their two-acre tract back. Albeit with a more appropriate configuration is 
more befitting of the house as it is situated on land. The fundamental purpose of 
requiring street frontage is to ensure that alongside legal access to the property, it has 
an existing driveway, all the way down to 91st Street South. It is also secured by an 
access easement. Furthermore, it does have a panhandle that extends physically down 
to 91st South. If the driveway were to be moved, they would have their own physical 
access route too, to do that. To make sure that we are doing this the right way. We want 
the Staff to make sure we are on the right track in this approach. We would appreciate 
your thoughtful consideration.  
 
Ms. Radney asked if he could explain a little bit more about what you are referring to by 
the former two-acre tract.  
 
Mr. Enyart stated that on the first page of the narrative that we put together there is in 
red a rectangular two-acre tract that is deep and contains the dwelling about half of. 
That tract of land was created by conveyance from time to trust the two individuals’ 
spouses, and that two-acre tract was lost when the property was described as one 
singular 20-acre parcel. 
 
Ms. Radney asked if he was saying that these parcels existed as an example from the 
assessor's record, there were two parcels here and there were two tax IDs. 
 
Mr. Enyart stated that was correct. There was until September of 2022, that was when 
the last conveyance from an entity called The Stables to Tulsa Hills LLC, conveyed the 
entire twenty-eight-acre tract continued that two-acre tract within it as one metes and 
bounds description of the entire perimeter. That caused the trigger tract to be subsumed 
by the larger 20-acre tract and that status was lost. 
 



 

May 23-2023 (1317) 7 
 

Mr. Bond stated the only relief you are asking for from us is to reduce the street 
frontage. 
 
Mr. Enyart stated that was correct. The zoning requirement that depends on having this 
report. 
 
Ms. Radney asked if he could say a little bit more about the hardship. The hardship is 
they did have a two two-acre tract tracks total and that has been lost by no fault of the 
current owner. There are also benefits to having a separate smaller track containing a 
dwelling whether that be for real estate tax purposes, other tax purposes, insurance and 
he would not know all the different thing’s reasons that it would be beneficial to have 
two tracks rather than one, the smaller track containing the dwelling. The house was 
built around early 2010. 
 
Ms. Radney stated that there might have been a requirement if there was a mortgage. 
 
Mr. Bond asked if there were a lot of flight lots in this in this neighborhood. Is this a 
standard lot layout for this neighborhood or was this one unique?  
 
Mr. Wallace stated that there are others. 
 
Ms. Radney asked if there is something about the topography of the land, separate and 
apart from the fact that that is a boundary that was recognized previously as a separate 
parcel. Is there anything going on with the topography of the land that would justify the 
dimensioning of this parcel? 
 
Mr. Enyart stated that he was not aware of the topography of the land, but he did know 
that the house is situated at more of an angle. It is not true South. It is facing southeast. 
The proposed track with your approval, street frontage Variance, would be proposed 
when we do lot split is that the tract respect the angle of the dwelling, the front lot line 
face the front of the dwelling in the rear lot one facing the rear. 
 
Ms. Radney stated that you are not suggesting that what is on the screen now would be 
the boundary for the new lot. You are just asking for relief to be able to legally create a 
lot split.  
 
Mr. Wallace stated that the other line is it is an easement. For the front entrance, there 
is no frontage for the property.  
 
Mr. Bond asked if the frontage is right to the south on West 101st Street. 
 
 



 

May 23-2023 (1317) 8 
 

Mr. Enyart stated that the current 28-acre tract putting an acre tract does have a 
Panhandle. You can see it ends at the yellow boundary, it does extend down to 91st 
Street South and that portion of the balance tract will remain. 
 
Mr. Bond asked if he could tell him how big is that frontage on 91st Street. 
 
Mr. Enyart estimated that to 6C, 50 to 60 feet. 
 
Mr. Bond stated that the way the Board of Adjustment looks at these is all we can really 
do for you is to reduce the minimum required frontage. There would be other things that 
you may or may not need from the Planning Commission, or a group like that.  
 
Mr. Bond asked if he had spoken with any neighbors or Neighborhood Association. 
 
Mr. Enyart stated that he had not had communication with anybody joining this property 
or heard of any concerns about this. 
 
Interested Parties: 
No interested parties were present. 
 
Comments and Questions: 
Mr. Wilkerson asked Mr. Chair if they could bring Mr. Enyart back up because first, he 
wanted to make sure we understand because the lot split is in process. The access 
easement that you have shown here is the written document that allows access 
knowing that the driveway is not within that easement. Is that only for personal use or 
does it include emergency access? Do you know what the purpose of that easement 
included? 
 
Mr. Enyart stated that when he read it in the 2012 deed from the trust to the individuals, 
all it says was access easement through the larger parcel to the two-acre tract that they 
contain at the time to the individuals. He did not know that it would be for anybody else, 
it does not say that it is. But like any driveway regardless of length, if you need 
emergency access, emergency responders will use your driveway. So as this comes 
forward through the lot split process, there will be discussion about fire protection and 
those other things. Have you had any conversations with any of the engineering groups 
about how access is going to be? He did not know that was necessarily important to the 
Board, but it is something that is in a lot split process, he thought we were going to want 
to know some more details about it. As you move forward, it would be helpful for us to 
have a look at the actual easement document.  
 
Mr. Enyart stated that he did not disagree. He has not had any communication. It was 
premature until we knew that we were safe and had a track that did not have frontage 



 

May 23-2023 (1317) 9 
 

but had access from consistent driveway and access easement. The lot split would not 
have any new material change on access requirement.  
 
Mr. Wilkerson stated that a Motion from the Board might be if you are inclined to agree 
with no access, with the provision that the appropriate access easement is there. That is 
a vague term, but he was thinking probably overthinking the idea of post office 
deliveries, and all that stuff that access also includes. 
 
Mr. Enyart stated that he would agree with that, thank you. 
 
Mr. Bond stated that he was not sure how it would be appropriate to condition it there. 
Maybe the discussion is the frontage requirements exists for the intent to not stack 
houses on top of each other. Those are important to whatever type of setting a house is 
in some type of limited language to where in the future a house could not be built within 
that area to the south? It would be fair to neighbors to make sure that someone could 
not come along after your client put a house right there. That is think that is what the 
spirit and the character the neighborhood.  
 
Ms. Radney stated that she was not sure she understood. Were you saying that they 
would be prohibited from putting another house? 
 
Mr. Bond stated that where the frontage is right here on 91st, his concern would be that 
if we did approve this, that we also would not later cause give someone the ability to put 
a house there. That would not be congruent with the spirit of the intent of the frontage 
requirements for this area.  
 
Ms. Radney stated that it made sense now. Does the applicant have any intention in 
terms of further development of this land? 
 
Mr. Enyart stated that he had not heard that from them at this point. They have no plans 
to my knowledge to further develop any portion of this property. He does think that they 
would have concerns about that. That access is managed through the lot split process 
to make sure that both tracks have adequate access to utilities.  
 
Ms. Radney stated that what the Chair is suggesting is that if we granted this parcel as 
it currently exists, the relief to create lots within this parcel with zero frontage then you 
could put twenty-eight houses in here. They all would get the same deference in terms 
of their not having frontage to the road. He is asking is this just a relief for the current 
occupant of the proposed two-acre tract. Are we talking about some others, like 
decimation of this land into additional smaller other parts? 
 
Mr. Enyart stated that as long as both tracks were allowed to be split, he did not believe 
the client would have any concerns with there being the ability to have two dwellings on 



 

May 23-2023 (1317) 10 
 

two legal, separate tracks that have been approved for lot split through the vetting 
process. He understood the concern that it can be further subdivided, but there are 
controls in place that would prevent that.  
 
Mr. Wallace stated that it kind of looks like it could be a subdivision, but that if that was 
the case, which is a whole other set of issues. It is a public right away, not at easement.  
 
Mr. Bond stated that the bigger question that he had is if this is right for us right now for 
a lot split to be made? He could support this. It just feels like that this is the last 
determination should be made before we do that. 
 
Mr. Chapman asked Mr. Chair if he could, he would say that we cannot approve a lot 
split until this relief is granted. 
 
Mr. Enyart stated that an application had not been submitted yet. We are waiting for this 
to be secured before we invest more time and certainly resources. 
 
Mr. Chapman stated that if the board is trying to make sure that there are not further 
splits, if you tied it towards this conceptual site plan, there are lot split processes, we 
would allow turning one lot into two per this diagram. Any further splits would have to go 
through unless theoretically, there was another way to make another lot out of a flag 
that would meet this subdivision and development regulations. If you said you do not 
want any further splits, he would put that in your motion. 
 
Ms. Radney stated that there is a reference at the bottom of 3.10 that she had never 
seen before. She was wondering if maybe Staff can explain what is meant by “the land 
division, creating the track was too large to be subject to the requirement for lots of 
approval. But it was reviewed and approved as an exempt land division application.” 
What is that referring to? 
 
Mr. Chapman that per state statute, if you are dividing a property, and all the laws 
created are above five acres, they are not subject to last split approval in the Tulsa 
metro area. That is covered by the Tulsa Metropolitan Area Planning Commission, we 
require what is called an Exempt Land Division, which is they make an application in our 
office. What we do is verify that all the tracks are above five acres, you are not splitting 
the land, and the number of times that we would trigger a subdivision plat. We stamp 
that is saying buyer beware this has been reviewed as an exempt land division. It is not 
required to go through a formal lot split process. We would not guarantee that you can 
get building permits. That is a process just because we have had issues with wildcat 
subdivisions in the past where people have bought property that was 5.01 acres with an 
access easement and then later down the road, they got held up in permitting because 
they do not meet the zoning requirements. 
 



 

May 23-2023 (1317) 11 
 

Ms. Radney asked that this two-acre division was reviewed and still found to be exempt 
even if it did not meet that five-acre minimum. 
 
Mr. Chapman asked if she was talking about the original two-acre tract, he did not 
believe it ever went through a formal lot split process and unless Mr. Enyart knew 
differently it was not stamped. They just deeded it to themselves outside of that 
process. 
 
Ms. Radney stated that she would like to see the proposed lot split before approving 
this. 
 
Mr. Bond stated that they need our approval before they can do that.  
 
Mr. Wallace asked if it was the difference between 3.6 and 3.12 or is it something else. 
 
Mr. Chapman stated this two-acre tract was on its own deed which again, from the 
knowledge that he has, the previous owners it was deeded, and it was recorded. The 
County just processed a new parcel number and never went through a formal lot split 
process. Essentially, that is gone. The current figuration of a lot is this right here. They 
are asking to create this track down here.  
 
Mr. Wallace stated that is not in front of us. We are just looking at the frontage of the 
current flag lot as it is.  
 
Mr. Chapman stated that they are looking at creating this track right here is what is 
being requested and it has no frontage. That is why they need a variance. 
 
Mr. Bond stated that for the record, he just wanted to make sure that what we are going 
to do today will have a future effect on that. They will get granted relief for what we have 
in front of us not at attention and radically for things down the road. 
 
Ms. Radney stated that her concern is less whether those divisions would be 
burdensome in general, it is more are they burdensome to the people around them. 
They would be impacted by this landlocked development.  
 
Ms. Stauffer asked if could say what the hardship was to the current lock configuration. 
 
Mr. Enyart stated that the hardship is that the tract used to have two tracks within it and 
now they have lost that status. They only have one. There are also benefits that come 
with the flexibility of having two different tracts of land: real estate taxes, other property 
taxes, and insurance.  
 



 

May 23-2023 (1317) 12 
 

Ms. Stauffer stated that the former was just deeded to themselves. It was not through 
legal channels. 
 
Mr. Enyart stated that he did not see any TMAPC approval certificate on that date. 
 
Mr. Bond stated that this being topographically unique as opposed to not getting into the 
weeds here. What would be compelling for his vote would be that this was based on the 
uniqueness of this lot, as opposed to the fact that the lot was going to be unique no 
matter what.  
 
Ms. Radney stated the applicant has not presented anything that makes this particularly 
unique to her, accepting the fact that there was a house built in the middle of it, that 
means a two-acre tract attached to it. for financial reasons, which are not a hardship 
that we can consider. We must have something that is more compelling. 
 
Mr. Barrientos stated that was why he was not there yet.  
 
Mr. Wallace stated that he was trying to think back to when we flipped the flag 
properties like this, how we have done them, and they have subdivided, moms moved 
into the back and they would give them access and reduce the frontage, but they had 
frontage. He was really trying to understand the access easement, and they must get 
this approval to get that. That is where he was just struggling with a landlocked property 
that then they could go sell. It sounds like they own everything right now, but they could 
go sell the surrounding property.  
 
Ms. Radney stated that she had a question for Staff. If this land had been conveyed 
separately then the previous parcel that was recognized at least by the assessor's office 
would have persisted, is that right? Is it really gone just because of the convenience? 
The convenience treated it as though we it can all be conveyed in one because it What 
strikes me as being weird about this is that we are talking about a conveyance, but it 
feels like it must have already been owned by the same owner. If there were two 
parcels already that were owned by the same owner and then she took it from my right-
hand pocket and put it in my left pocket and then somehow because of the instrument 
that I use, she dissolved my two-acre parcel. Is that what happened? 
 
Mr. Chapman stated that is my understanding. 
 
Ms. Radney stated that is self-imposed. She could acknowledge that maybe one did not 
realize that that was going to happen and so she could get there by the fact that 
because it was it ownership was transferred from one entity to another entity that this 
has occurred through no fault of the property owner of the house and that as such this is 
the minimum amount of relief that could be requested to re-separate the these two 
parcels.  They could not be merged unless they were the same owner in the first place. 



 

May 23-2023 (1317) 13 
 

You cannot just deed you something that does not belong to you. They had an attorney 
write this up and then convey all is one big parcel so that is self-imposed. 
 
Mr. Bond stated that it is still a unique flag property.  
 
Ms. Blank asked Mr. Chair, she would like to suggest that, if you are working on a 
Motion there that make it clear that the only piece that we're granting the zero frontage 
is for that two-acre piece depicted on the exhibit, because the application is legal 
description that goes with this applications for the entire 20 acres, but we are not 
granting that all parts of that 28 acres doesn't have to have frontage. It really needs to 
be specified that it is only that and we also do not have a legal description of that two- 
acre tract.  
 
Mr. Bond asked if they needed a legal description for the two-acre tract to give it relief. 
 
Ms. Blank stated that it would be better just for clarity purposes, and for the people in 
the future who are going to have to decipher for this stuff. 
 
Ms. Radney stated that Ms. Blank was saying that we are giving relief to the entire 
twenty-eight acres based on the legal disclaimer used.  
 
Ms. Blank stated that is the legal description that and it is the big parcel. Technically, the 
doughnut hole piece the two acres is not a flag lot. She thought it was inaccurate to 
describe it as a flag lot. 
 
Mr. Wallace stated that would trigger if they were to do anything in the future that they 
would have to come back. outside of that.  
 
Mr. Bond asked that if we are inclined to do that, then the question is, do we need, do 
we need to be comfortable doing this.  
 
Ms. Radney stated that she thought that because we will be granting it for the entire 
parcel, that we do need a legal description as an exhibit for the Variance that we can 
refer to as a legal description.  
 
Mr. Bond asked Mr. Enyart if he had a legal description for this two-acre tract. 
 
Mr. Enyart stated that they did not at this time. If the approval of the application on the 
28-acre works to be restricted to one tract of two-acres that should cover it for him. If the 
Board would like the legal description and the Staff is willing to work with us after today 
to get that put it in the record, we can certainly do that.  
 



 

May 23-2023 (1317) 14 
 

Mr. Bond stated that the zero-frontage requirement would only apply to these two acres 
within the square within the flag. What he was uncomfortable with would be granting 
zero lot line or zero frontage to entire flag lot.  
 
Ms. Radney asked if the Board would be comfortable with language that just said, an 
area of land not to exceed two acres that contains this existing pool and house that is 
built on the property. Would that be sufficient to describe what we are specifically 
referring to? As depicted on 3.1 to cover in this case.  
 
Mr. Wilkerson stated that he thought from the Staff’s perspective that he must have two-
acres because it is an AG zoned property. He liked the idea of putting some kind of 
throttle on that but not to exceed 2.1 acres or two and a half, something that is 
conceptual enough in nature that he thought they needed a little bit of room for flexibility 
there. 
 
Ms. Radney asked what we do have now for the hardship. 
 
Mr. Bond stated that just the uniqueness of this lot.  
 
Board Action: 
On MOTION of Radney, the Board voted 3-2-0 (Bond, Radney, Wallace, all “ayes”, 
Barrientos, Stauffer “nays”, no “abstentions”) to APPROVE a Variance to reduce the 
required street frontage in the AG district from 30-feet to 0-feet to permit a lot split (Sec. 
25.020-D, Table 25-2) per the Conceptual Plans found on page 3.12 of the Agenda 
packet. Subject to the following condition that the zero-frontage relief shall apply to an 
area of land no less than 2.0 and no more than 2.5 acres in a boundary that surrounds 
the existing pool and house. This relief shall only apply to smaller parcel within this 
boundary. Acknowledging that this Variance does not endorse any additional relief 
related to any other City of Tulsa subdivision or development regulations of City of Tulsa 
Ordinances 
 
Finding the hardship to be the uniqueness of this circumstance a large agricultural 
parcel with a newly constructed home that does not exist with frontage onto the arterial 
street.  
 
In granting the Variance the Board finds that the following facts, favorable to the property 
owner, have been established:  
 

a. That the physical surroundings, shape, or topographical conditions of the subject 
property would result in unnecessary hardships or practical difficulties for the 
property owner, as distinguished from a mere inconvenience, if the strict letter of 
the regulations were carried out; 
 



 

May 23-2023 (1317) 15 
 

b. That literal enforcement of the subject zoning code provision is not necessary 
to achieve the provision’s intended purpose; 
 
c. That the conditions leading to the need of the requested variance are unique to 
the subject property and not applicable, generally, to other property within the 
same zoning classification; 
 
d. That the alleged practical difficulty or unnecessary hardship was not created or 
self-imposed by the current property owner; 
 
e. That the variance to be granted is the minimum variance that will afford relief; 
 
f. That the variance to be granted will not alter the essential character of the 
neighborhood in which the subject property is located, nor substantially or 
permanently impair use or development of adjacent property; and 
 
g. That the variance to be granted will not cause substantial detriment to the public 
good or impair the purposes, spirit, and intent of this zoning code or the 
comprehensive plan.” 

 
For the following property: 
 
A TRACT OF LAND THAT IS A PART OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER (SE/4) OF 
SECTION FIFTEEN (15), TOWNSHIP EIGHTEEN (18) NORTH, RANGE TWELVE 
(12) EAST OF THE INDIAN MERIDIAN, TULSA COUNTY, STATE OF OKLAHOMA, 
ACCORDING TO THE U.S. GOVERNMENT SURVEY THEREOF, SAID TRACT 
BEING MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: 
COMMENCING AT THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID SE/4; THENCE SOUTH 
88°52'36" WEST AND ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID SE/4 FOR A DISTANCE 
OF 1653.58 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING; THENCE SOUTH 88°52'36" 
WEST AND CONTINUING ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE FOR A DISTANCE OF 76.28 
FEET; THENCE NORTH 1°11'43" WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 477.40 FEET; 
THENCE SOUTH 88°53'58" WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 252.45 FEET; THENCE 
NORTH 1°13'14" WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 852.05 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 
88°52'36" WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 660.00 FEET TO A POINT ON THE WEST 
LINE OF SAID SE/4; THENCE NORTH 1°13'14" WEST AND ALONG SAID WEST 
LINE FOR A DISTANCE OF 869.39 FEET; THENCE NORTH 88°46'46" EAST FOR 
A DISTANCE OF 990.52 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 1°13'14" EAST FOR A 
DISTANCE OF 772.08 FEET TO A POINT ON AN EXISTING FENCE LINE; 
THENCE ALONG SAID EXISTING FENCE LINE FOR THE FOLLOWING 
EIGHTEEN (18) COURSES; ALONG A 88.41 FOOT RADIUS NON-TANGENT 
CURVE TO THE RIGHT, HAVING AN INITIAL TANGENT BEARING OF SOUTH 
45°50'23" EAST, A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 46°51'32", A CHORD BEARING AND 
DISTANCE OF SOUTH 22°24'37" EAST FOR 70.31 FEET, FOR AN ARC 
DISTANCE OF 72.31 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 1°01'11" WEST FOR A DISTANCE 
OF 67.24 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 6°46'19" WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 59.88 



 

May 23-2023 (1317) 16 
 

FEET; THENCE ALONG A157.61 FOOT RADIUS  NON-TANGENT CURVE TO THE 
LEFT, HAVING AN INITIAL TANGENT BEARING OF SOUTH 7°00'58" WEST, A 
CENTRAL ANGLE OF 45°17'46", A CHORD BEARING AND DISTANCE OF 
SOUTH 15°37'55" EAST FOR 121.38 FEET, FOR AN ARC DISTANCE OF 124.60 
FEET; THENCE SOUTH 23°16'25" EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 42.88 FEET; 
THENCE SOUTH 16°28'36" EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 57.14 FEET; THENCE 
SOUTH 6°39'39" EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 28.87 FEET; THENCE ALONG A 
411.51 FOOT RADIUS NON-TANGENT CURVE TO THE RIGHT, HAVING AN 
INITIAL TANGENT BEARING OF SOUTH 2°31'31" EAST, A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 
19°05'29", A CHORD BEARING AND DISTANCE OF SOUTH 7°01'14" WEST FOR 
136.48 FEET, FOR AN ARC DISTANCE OF 137.12 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 
16°33'58" WEST FOR A DISTANCE OF 50.79 FEET; THENCE ALONG A 60.00 
FOOT RADIUS NON-TANGENT CURVE TO THE LEFT, HAVING AN INITIAL 
TANGENT BEARING OF SOUTH 82°25'47" WEST, A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 
135°57'50", A CHORD BEARING AND DISTANCE OF SOUTH 14°26'52" WEST 
FOR 111.25 FEET, FOR AN ARC DISTANCE OF 142.38 FEET; THENCE ALONG 
A 25.00 FOOT RADIUS CURVE TO THE RIGHT, HAVING A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 
54°16'55", A CHORD BEARING AND DISTANCE OF SOUTH 26°23'35" EAST FOR 
22.81 FEET, FOR AN ARC DISTANCE OF 23.69 FEET; THENCE ALONG A 592.13 
FOOT RADIUS CURVE TO THE LEFT, HAVING A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 4°30'35", 
A CHORD BEARING AND DISTANCE OF SOUTH 1°30'25" EAST FOR 46.59 FEET, 
FOR AN ARC DISTANCE OF 46.61 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 3°45'47" EAST FOR 
A DISTANCE OF 83.39 FEET;  THENCE ALONG A 183.88 FOOT RADIUS CURVE 
NON-TANGENT CURVE TO THE RIGHT, HAVING AN INITIAL TANGENT 
BEARING OF SOUTH 8°33'31" EAST, A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 23°38'24", A 
CHORD BEARING AND DISTANCE OF SOUTH 3°15'41" WEST FOR 75.33 FEET, 
FOR AN ARC DISTANCE OF 75.87 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 15°04'53" WEST FOR 
A DISTANCE OF 88.57 FEET; THENCE ALONG A 166.70 FOOT RADIUS NON-
TANGENT CURVE TO THE LEFT, HAVING AN INITIAL TANGENT BEARING OF 
SOUTH 16°26'34" WEST, A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 32°35'10", A CHORD BEARING 
AND DISTANCE OF SOUTH 0°08'59" WEST FOR 93.54 FEET, FOR AN ARC 
DISTANCE OF 94.81 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 16°08'35" EAST FOR A DISTANCE 
OF 73.60 FEET; THENCE ALONG A 460.45 FOOT RADIUS NON-TANGENT 
CURVE TO THE RIGHT, HAVING AN INITIAL TANGENT BEARING OF SOUTH 
9°51'04" EAST, A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 12°46'42", A CHORD BEARING AND 
DISTANCE OF SOUTH 3°27'43" EAST FOR 102.48 FEET, FOR AN ARC 
DISTANCE OF 102.69 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 1°56'40" WEST FOR A DISTANCE 
OF 48.82 FEET; THENCE ALONG A 30.00 FOOT RADIUS CURVE TO THE RIGHT, 
HAVING A CENTRAL ANGLE OF 86°55'59", A CHORD BEARING AND DISTANCE 
OF SOUTH 45°24'39" WEST FOR 41.28 FEET, FOR AN ARC DISTANCE OF 45.52 
FEET; THENCE SOUTH 1°07'24" EAST FOR A DISTANCE OF 50.00 FEET TO THE 
POINT OF BEGINNING; 
 
SUBJECT TRACT CONTAINS 1,215,374 SQUARE FEET OR 27.901 ACRES. 
 



 

May 23-2023 (1317) 17 
 

THE BEARINGS SHOWN HEREON ARE BASED UPON THE OKLAHOMA STATE 
PLANE COORDINATE SYSTEM, NORTH ZONE (3501), NORTH AMERICAN 
DATUM 1983 (NAD83). CITY OF TULSA, COUNTY OF TULSA, STATE OF 
OKLAHOMA.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

May 23-2023 (1317) 18 
 

23530 - Nathalie Cornett 
Action Requested: 
Special Exception to permit a Large (>250-person capacity) Commercial Assembly and 
Entertainment use in the CS District (Sec.15.020, Table 15-2); Special Exception to 
permit an alternative compliance parking ratio to reduce the required number of parking 
spaces (Sec. 55.050-K) Location:  1330 E. 15th St. (CD 4) 
 
Presentation: 
Applicant has requested a CONTINUANCE until the next BOA meeting of June 13, 
2023.  
 
Interested Parties: 
None 
 
Comments and Questions: 
None 
 
Board Action: 
On MOTION of Barrientos, the Board voted 5-0-0 (Barrientos, Bond, Radney, Stauffer, 
Wallace “ayes”, no “nays”; no “abstentions”) to CONTINUE  the requested  Special 
Exception to permit a Large (>250-person capacity) Commercial Assembly and 
Entertainment use in the CS District (Sec.15.020, Table 15-2); Special Exception to 
permit an alternative compliance parking ratio to reduce the required number of parking 
spaces (Sec. 55.050-K) until the next BOA meeting on June 13, 2023.    
 
Lots Three (3), Four (4), Five (5) and Six (6), Block Six (6), AMENDED PLAT OF 
MORNINGSIDE ADDITION to the City of Tulsa, Tulsa County, State of Oklahoma, 
according to the Recorded Plat thereof; -AND-Lots One (1) through Sixteen (16) 
inclusive, Block Eight (8), and the vacated alley lying within said Block Eight (8), 
ORCUTT ADDITION, an Addition to the City of Tulsa, Tulsa county, State of 
Oklahoma, according to the Recorded Plat thereof;-AND The West Half (30') of 
Vacated Quaker Avenue lying adjacent to the East line of Block Eight (8) from 
15th Street to 16th Street, ORCUTT ADDITION, an Addition to the City of Tulsa, 
Tulsa County, State of Oklahoma, according to the Recorded Plat thereof;-AND-
The West Fifteen (15) feet of Lots Nine (9), Ten (10) and Eleven (11), Block Seven 
(7), ORCUTT ADDITION, an Addition to the City of Tulsa, Tulsa County, State of 
Oklahoma, according to the Recorded Plat thereof, AND the East Half (E/2) of 
Vacated South Quaker Avenue between 15th Street and 16th Street lying adjacent 
to the West line of said Lots 9, 10, and 11, Block 7. 
 
 
 
 



 

May 23-2023 (1317) 19 
 

23531 - Luke Gaylor 
Action Requested: 
Special Exception to allow a manufactured housing unit in the RS-3 district (Sec. 5.020, 
Table 5-2); Special Exception to extend the one-year time limit to allow the 
Manufactured Housing Unit permanently (Sec.40.210-A) Location:  4106 W. 57th Pl. 
(CD 2) 
 
Presentation: 
Ken Kennedy, 12547 Skelly Drive, Tulsa, Oklahoma, 74128, stated that he was there 
on behalf of Oakwood Homes and the property owner, Jonathan Cherry. He is the 
general manager at Oakwood Homes in Tulsa. Mr. Cherry had contracted with us to get 
a manufactured home on his lot which is on a dead-end street that is not maintained by 
the city. He was surprised when told him that manufactured homes are not approved 
there, because there are others in the same neighborhood. The valuation of the 
manufactured home is more consistent with the site-built homes in the area. He asked 
us to come down and see if we could talk the Board into it. The hardship that the lots 
are not conducive to do a site-built home. There is no way that they were not value at 
what it costs to site-built home. 
 
Mr. Bond stated is a uniquely shaped plot.  
 
Mr. Kennedy stated that there is an old camper on the back of the property that 
somebody had taken up as a residence at one point in time. We are improving go the 
lot. 
 
Mr. Bond asked if he could give us an idea of how many manufactured homes are in 
this neighborhood. 
 
Mr. Kennedy stated there are a few of them down on 39th Street. They are in the main 
area it just passed the Tulsa Housing Authority.  
 
Mr. Bond asked if they had any photos or drawing of the manufactured home that has 
been selected.  
 
Mr. Kennedy stated that they have photos with them. The home is a residential 
construction. You have a shingled roof, vinyl siding, and it will have metal skirting 
around the crawlspace. The neighbor next to him was for the neighbor next to him sold 
him these lots many years ago and so this is the only person who is going to even see 
these considering the location.  
 
Mr. Bond asked if this was in a floodplain. 
 



 

May 23-2023 (1317) 20 
 

Mr. Kennedy stated that the very back of the property there is but where he is putting 
the house. There is a little shed back there. 
 
Ms. Radney stated that it would impact the viability of like traditional sticks and bricks 
new construction.  
 
Mr. Barrientos stated that we are curious about what is on 5.6.  
 
Mr. Kennedy stated that was an is an old that is a camper. That is the neighbor’s 
camper. 
 
Interested Parties: 
No interested parties were present. 
 
Comments and Questions: 
Mr. Barrientos asked how long they wanted to approve it for. 
 
Ms. Radney stated that we should have asked if it was going to be financed. 
 
Mr. Kennedy stated that it is being financed this lender went for 25 years on this one is. 
 
Mr. Bond asked if they wanted to say I do want to say 26 years.  
 
Board Action: 
On MOTION of Radney, the Board voted 5-0-0 (Barrientos, Bond, Radney, Stauffer, 
Wallace “ayes”, no “nays”; no “abstentions”) to APPROVE a Special Exception to allow 
a manufactured housing unit in the RS-3 district (Sec. 5.020, Table 5-2); Special 
Exception to extend the one-year time limit to allow the Manufactured Housing Unit 
permanently (Sec.40.210-A), per the Conceptual Plan presented to the Board today and 
subject to the following conditions: this relief will last for a term of 26 years for this 
particular unit, must meet the requirements of tie downs, skirting, and parking 
requirements of 55.090. 
 
The Board finds that the requested Special Exception will be in harmony with the spirit 
and intent of the Code and will not be injurious to the neighborhood or otherwise 
detrimental to the public welfare, for the following property: 
 
LTS 5 & 11 THRU 13 BLK 12, DOCTOR CARVER, City of Tulsa, Tulsa County, State 
of Oklahoma 
  
 
 
 



 

May 23-2023 (1317) 21 
 

OTHER BUSINESS 
 

NEW BUSINESS 
 

BOARD MEMBER COMMENTS 
 

Ms. Radney stated that she wanted to dovetail Mr. Chairs comments about Mr. 
Wilkerson’s retirement. She said that they would definitely miss him. She was privileged 
to share a few minutes with him at this retirement party where she told him that he had 
really left a mark on the City during this time and his contributions had been 
appreciated.  
 
Mr. Wilkerson stated that it was a great experience, and he has enjoyed working with all 
the Board members.  
 
Mr. Chip Atkins stated that he wanted to thank Mr. Wilkerson for all he has done. He 
stated that Dwayne had been a great advocate for the neighborhood, explaining what 
was going on, and how it works. That is a rarity in this city and thanking him for all his 
hard work. Good luck in retirement. 
 
Mr. Wilkerson thanked everyone. 
 
  
 

ADJOURNMENT 
 
There being no further business, the meeting adjourned at 2:20 p.m. 
 
 
      Date approved: ________________________  
 
 

 __________________________ 
  Chair 

 
 





REVISED 6/14/2023 

Case Number: BOA-23530 

Hearing Date: 07//2023 (Continued 
from 6/13/2023) 

Case Report Prepared by: 

Austin Chapman 

Owner and Applicant Information: 

Applicant: Nathalie Cornett   

Property Owner: Irmas Ahwatukee LLC 

Action Requested: Special Exception to permit a Small (up to 250-person capacity) Indoor 
Commercial Assembly and Entertainment use in the CS District serving alcohol within 
150-feet of a residential zoning district (Sec.15.020, Table 15-2) Special Exception to
permit an alternative compliance parking ratio to reduce the required number of parking
spaces (Sec. 55.050-K)

Location Map: Additional Information: 

Present Use: Commercial     

Tract Size: 3.18 acres 

Location: 1330 E. 15 St. S. 

Present Zoning: RM-2,CS 

4.1



£¤64

£¤75

£¤75

!(51

S 
PE

O
R

IA
 A

VE

E 15TH ST S

E 19TH ST S

E 13TH ST S
S N

OR
FO

LK
 AV

E

E 13TH PL S

E 14TH ST S

E 17TH ST S

E 16TH ST S

E 18TH ST S

E 17TH PL S

S OWASSO AVE

S S
T L

OU
IS 

AV
E

S N
EW

PO
RT

 AV
E

S Q
UI

NC
Y A

VE

S Q
UA

KE
R 

AV
E

S R
OC

KF
OR

D 
AV

E

SWAN DR

E 14TH PL S

S O
WA

SS
O 

AV
E

S O
WA

SS
O 

AV
E

S Q
UI

NC
Y A

VE

S R
OC

KF
OR

D 
AV

E

E 18TH ST S

E 17TH ST S

S S
T L

OU
IS 

AV
E

S Q
UA

KE
R 

AV
E

E 16TH ST S

E 17TH PL S

S Q
UA

KE
R 

AV
E

S R
OC

KF
OR

D 
AV

E

0 200 400
Feet oBOA-23530 Note:  Graphic overlays may not precisely

align with physical features on the ground.
Aerial Photo Date: 2020/2021

Subject
Tract 19-13 07

19-12 12
4.2



S 
PE

O
R

IA
 A

VE
E 15TH ST S

E 16TH ST S

S Q
UA

KE
R 

AV
E

0 50 100
Feet oBOA-23530 Note:  Graphic overlays may not precisely

align with physical features on the ground.
Aerial Photo Date: 2020/2021

Subject
Tract 19-13 07

19-12 12
4.3



OL

PUD-478 PUD-811

PUD-561

PU
D

-2
96

PU
D

-7
28

-B
PU

D
-7

28

PUD-757
PUD-757-A

PUD-561A

Z-7555

RS-3

RM-2

RS-3

RS-3

CH

RS-4

CH

CS

RS-4

RM-2

RM-2

RS-3

RM-2

RM-2

CS

RM-2

OL

OL

CH

CH

OL

OL

OL

PK

RS-3
OL

OL

RD

CB
D

OMRT CS

OM

MX2
-U-U

OL

RM-2

PK

RM-2

NIO

HP

HP

HP

£¤64

£¤75

£¤75

!(51

S 
PE

O
R

IA
 A

VE

E 15TH ST S

E 19TH ST S

E 13TH ST S
S N

OR
FO

LK
 AV

E

E 13TH PL S

E 14TH ST S

E 17TH ST S

E 16TH ST S

E 18TH ST S

E 17TH PL S

S OWASSO AVE

S S
T L

OU
IS 

AV
E

S N
EW

PO
RT

 AV
E

S Q
UI

NC
Y A

VE

S Q
UA

KE
R 

AV
E

S R
OC

KF
OR

D 
AV

E

SWAN DR

E 14TH PL S E 14TH PL S

S O
WA

SS
O 

AV
E

S O
WA

SS
O 

AV
E

S Q
UI

NC
Y A

VE

S R
OC

KF
OR

D 
AV

E

E 18TH ST S

E 17TH ST S

S S
T L

OU
IS 

AV
E

S Q
UA

KE
R 

AV
E

E 16TH ST S

E 17TH PL S

S Q
UA

KE
R 

AV
E

S R
OC

KF
OR

D 
AV

E

19-13 07
19-12 12

0 200 400
Feet oBOA-23530

SUBJECT TRACT

4.4



REVISED 6/14/2023 

 BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT 
CASE REPORT 

STR: 9307  Case Number: BOA-23530 
CD: 4

HEARING DATE: 07/11/2023 1:00 PM 

APPLICANT: Nathalie Cornett 

ACTION REQUESTED: Special Exception to permit a Small (up to 250-person capacity) Indoor Commercial Assembly 
and Entertainment use in the CS District  (Sec.15.020, Table 15-2); Special Exception to permit an alternative 
compliance parking ratio to reduce the required number of parking spaces (Sec. 55.050-K) 

LOCATION: 1330 E 15 ST S ZONED: RM-2,CS 

PRESENT USE: Commercial TRACT SIZE: 138613.58 SQ FT 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION: Lots Three (3), Four (4), Five (5) and Six (6), Block Six (6), AMENDED PLAT OF MORNINGSIDE 
ADDITION to the City of Tulsa, Tulsa county, State of Oklahoma, according to the Recorded Plat thereof; AND Lots 
One (1) through Sixteen (16) inclusive, Block Eight (8), and the vacated alley lying within said Block Eight (8), 
ORCUTT ADDITION, an Addition to the City of Tulsa, Tulsa county, State of Oklahoma, according to the Recorded Plat 
thereof; AND The West Half (30') of Vacated Quaker Avenue lying adjacent to the East line of Block Eight (8) from 
15th Street to 16th Street, ORCUTT ADDITION, an Addition to the City of Tulsa, Tulsa County, State of Oklahoma, 
according to the Recorded Plat thereof; ANDThe West Fifteen (15) feet of Lots Nine (9), Ten (10) and Eleven (11), 
Block Seven (7), ORCUTT ADDITION, an Addition to the City of Tulsa, Tulsa County, State of Oklahoma, according to 
the Recorded Plat thereof, AND the East Half (E/2) of Vacated South Quaker Avenue between 15th Street and 16th 
Street lying adjacent to the West line of said Lots 9, 10, and 11, Block 7. 

RELEVANT PREVIOUS ACTIONS:  

Subject property:  

BOA-21091; 05.25.10 the Board approved a Special exception to allow a Cigar Shop within 150-feet of R zoned 
property.  

BOA-16927; On 02.14.95 the Board approved a Special Exception to permit parking in an RM-2 zoned lot.   

BOA-16384; On 07.13.93 the Board approved a Variance of the required off-street parking spaces from 224 to 170, 
a Variance of the setback requirement from E. 15th and S. Quaker Ave.  and Variance of the screening requirement 
along E. 16th St. and S. Quaker Ave.  

RELATIONSHIP TO THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN: The Tulsa Comprehensive Plan identifies the subject property as 
part of a “Main Street”  and an “Area of Growth”.  

Main Streets are Tulsa’s classic linear centers. They are comprised of residential, commercial, and entertainment 
uses along a transit-rich street usually two to four lanes wide and includes much lower intensity residential 
neighborhoods situated behind.  Main Streets are pedestrian-oriented places with generous sidewalks, storefronts 
on the ground floor of buildings, and street trees and other amenities. Visitors from outside the surrounding 
neighborhoods can travel to Main Streets by bike, transit, or car.  Parking is provided on street, small private off 
street lots, or in shared lots or structures. 

The purpose of Areas of Growth is to direct the allocation of resources and channel growth to where it will be 
beneficial and can best improve access to jobs, housing, and services with fewer and shorter auto trips.  Areas of 
Growth are parts of the city where general agreement exists that development or redevelopment is beneficial. As 
steps are taken to plan for, and, in some cases, develop or redevelop these areas, ensuring that existing residents 

4.5



REVISED 6/14/2023 

will not be displaced is a high priority.  A major goal is to increase economic activity in the area to benefit existing 
residents and businesses, and where necessary, provide the stimulus to redevelop. 

STAFF ANALYSIS:  Special Exception to permit a Small (up to 250-person capacity) Indoor Commercial Assembly 
and Entertainment use in the CS District  (Sec.15.020, Table 15-2); Special Exception to permit an alternative 
compliance parking ratio to reduce the required number of parking spaces (Sec. 55.050-K)):  

**** 

The applicant provided an exhibit labeled “Exihibit B’ explaining their request in more detail, but they are requesting 
the current number of 222 parking spaces to seevr the entire 42,381 square feet of commercial space on the lot. 
Current code would require them to provide 275 spaces including the proposed Assembly and Entertainment use. 
That ratio is equal to approximately 5.238 spaces per every 1,000 square feet.   

SAMPLE MOTION: 

Use: 

Move to _________ (approve/deny) a  Special Exception to permit a Small (up to 250-person capacity) Indoor 
Commercial Assembly and Entertainment use in the CS District serving alcohol within 150-feet of a residential 
zoning district (Sec.15.020, Table 15-2);  

 Per the Conceptual Plan(s) shown on page(s) ______ of the agenda packet.

 Subject to the following conditions (including time limitation, if any):
______________________________________________.

The Board finds that the requested Special Exception will be in harmony with the spirit and intent of the Code and 
will not be injurious to the neighborhood or otherwise detrimental to the public welfare. 

4.6



REVISED 6/14/2023 

Parking Reduction: 

Move to _________ (approve/deny) a  Special Exception to permit an alternative compliance parking ratio to reduce 
the required number of parking spaces (Sec. 55.050-K); 

 Per the Conceptual Plan(s) shown on page(s) ______ of the agenda packet.

 Subject to the following conditions (including time limitation, if any):
______________________________________________.

The Board finds that the requested Special Exception will be in harmony with the spirit and intent of the Code and 
will not be injurious to the neighborhood or otherwise detrimental to the public welfare, that the other allowed 
parking alternative of Section 55.050 are infeasible or do not apply and the reduced parking ratios proposed are not 
likely to cause material adverse impacts on traffic circulation and safety or on the general welfare of property 
owners and residents in the surrounding area. 

Subject Property  

4.7



Exhibit “A” 

Lots Three (3), Four (4), Five (5) and Six (6), Block Six (6), AMENDED PLAT OF 
MORNINGSIDE ADDITION to the City of Tulsa, Tulsa county, State of Oklahoma, according to 
the Recorded Plat thereof; 

-AND- 

Lots One (1) through Sixteen (16) inclusive, Block Eight (8), and the vacated alley lying within 
said Block Eight (8), ORCUTT ADDITION, an Addition to the City of Tulsa, Tulsa county, State 
of Oklahoma, according to the Recorded Plat thereof; 

-AND- 
 

The West Half (30') of Vacated Quaker Avenue lying adjacent to the East line of Block Eight (8) 
from 15th Street to 16th Street, ORCUTT ADDITION, an Addition to the City of Tulsa, Tulsa 
County, State of Oklahoma, according to the Recorded Plat thereof; 

-AND- 
 
The West Fifteen (15) feet of Lots Nine (9), Ten (10) and Eleven (11), Block Seven (7), ORCUTT
ADDITION, an Addition to the City of Tulsa, Tulsa County, State of Oklahoma, according to the
Recorded Plat thereof, AND the East Half (E/2) of Vacated South Quaker Avenue between 15th
Street and 16th Street lying adjacent to the West line of said Lots 9, 10, and 11, Block 7.

4.8



Exhibit ooBt'

The Applicant requests (1) a Special Exception pursuant to Table l5-2 of the Tulsa Zoning

Code (the "Ç.@") to permit alarge indoor (>250-person capacity) Assembly and Entertainment

use in the CS district; and (2) a Special Exception pursuant to Section 55.050-K of the Code to

permit an altemative compliance parking ratio, all on the subject property located at 1330 E. 15th

Street (the "Propeg").

The Property is the Lincoln Plazaon Cherry Street located at the southeast comer of E. l5th

Street and S. Peoria Avenue. The Property is comprised of approximately 3.2 acres with

approximately 42,381 square feet of commercial buildings, including Chimi's, Jason's Deli,

Nola'so and various offices and retail stores. The property owner desires to put an indoor event

center/banquet hall inthe currently vacant 6,900 SF space located onthe second story above Nola's

Restaurant.

The current Code requires approximately 275 parking spaces for the Property - inclusive

of an additional26 parking spaces for the proposed banquet hall. The Property currently has222

existing parking spaces which serve the entire commercial center. Multiple parking Variances

have been granted over the past 35 years for the Property, with each request tied to a specific tenant

or use in the center. The Applicant is requesting the alternative compliance parking ratio to

establish the existing 222 parkrng spaces as the required minimum ofÊstreet parking for the entire

Property.

Given the variety of uses which serve customers at different times throughout the day and

evening, the existing 222parking spaces adequately serve the actual and expected parking demand.

Additionally, the availability of on-street parking along Cherry Street and its pedestrian-oriented

nature encograge and result in the public parking on street and walking to the various amenities

offered on and off the Property.

Based onthe foregoing, the requested Special Exceptions will be in harmony withthe spirit

and intent of the Code and will not be injurious to the neighborhood or otherwise detrimental to

the public welfare.

4.9



OF

REVISIONS:

REVISIONS: DATE:No.

PROJECT NUMBER

DRAWING TITLE

SHEET NUMBER

THESE PLANS ARE COPYRIGHTED AND ARE SUBJECT TO COPYRIGHT PROTECTION
AS AN "ARCHITECTURAL WORK" UNDER SEC. 102 OF THE COPYRIGHT ACT, 17

U.S.O. AS AMENDED DECEMBER 1990 AND KNOWN AS ARCHITECTURAL WORKS
COPYRIGHT PROTECTION ACT OF 1990. THE PROTECTION INCLUDES BUT IS NOT

LIMITED TO THE OVERALL FORM AS WELL AS THE ARRANGEMENT AND
COMPOSITION OF SPACES AND ELEMENTS OF THE DESIGN. UNDER SUCH
PROTECTION UNAUTHORIZED USE OF THESE PLANS , WORK OR BUILDING

REPRESENTED CAN LEGALLY RESULT IN CESSATION OF CONSTRUCTION OR
BUILDING BEING SEIZED AND/OR MONETARY COMPENSATION TO

STANTON W. ESPINOSA, ARCHITECTS, LLC. .

CHECKED BY

DRAWN BY

DATE

4.10



From: Nathalie M Cornett
To: Chapman, Austin
Cc: Siers, Dylan
Subject: BOA-23530 Request for Continuance
Date: Monday, May 22, 2023 3:26:28 PM
Attachments: image002.png

Austin,

The Applicant requests a continuance of this case to the June 13, 2023 Board of Adjustment meeting
in order to amend the relief requested. 

The current application requests a Special Exception to permit large (>250) assembly and
entertainment for an event center.  The architect for the project has informed me that the
occupancy load of the building is only 240.  Accordingly, the use qualifies as small assembly and
entertainment which is permitted by right in the CS district.  However, a special exception will be
needed to serve alcohol in the event center as the building is within 150’ of an R district. 

The request for a Special Exception for the alternative compliance parking ratio remains. 

Sincerely,

Nathalie M. Cornett
Attorney at Law

2727 E. 21st Street, Ste 200
Tulsa, Oklahoma 74114-3533
(918) 747-8900  phone
(866) 547-8900  toll free
(918) 392-9427  e-fax
NCornett@EllerDetrich.com

www.EllerDetrich.com
___________________________________________________________________________________

CONFIDENTIALITY STATEMENT Information contained in the accompanying transmission is or may be protected by
the attorney-client and/or the attorney work product privilege and is confidential.  It is intended only for the use of
the individual or entity identified above.  If the reader of this message is not the intended recipient, you are hereby
notified that any dissemination or distribution of the accompanying communication is prohibited.  No applicable
privilege is waived by the party sending the accompanying documents.  If you have received this communication in
error, please notify us immediately by telephone at (918) 747-8900 and delete this message from your server.  Thank
you.

Please be advised that e-mail is not necessarily a secure method of communication, that it may be copied and held
by any computer through which it passes, and that persons not participating in the communication may intercept the
communication.  While this risk may be small, it is real.  Should you wish to discontinue this method of
communication, please so advise, and no further e-mail communication will be sent.

4.11

mailto:NCornett@ellerdetrich.com
mailto:AChapman@incog.org
mailto:dsiers@incog.org
mailto:NSchaefer@EllerDetrich.com
file:///Local%20Settings/Temp/Temporary%20Directory%204%20for%20ED%20Letterhead%20(6).zip/E&D%20Letterhead/www.EllerDetrich.com



From: Lynne Tucker
To: esubmit
Subject: Case 23530
Date: Monday, May 22, 2023 6:42:04 PM

I am opposed to granting this special exception.  The Cherry Street area already has parking
problems.  The residents in the surrounding area have had to deal with increased activity over
time, and the addition of this type of facility will only make matters worse and could have a
negative impact on established businesses in the area.  People will give up and go elsewhere
when unable to find parking.  Residential property values could also be negatively impacted. 

Please do not grant this special exception.

Lynne Tucker
3136 South Florence Place

4.12

mailto:ltucker74105@gmail.com
mailto:/o=ExchangeLabs/ou=Exchange Administrative Group (FYDIBOHF23SPDLT)/cn=Recipients/cn=1b7ba908d20c46a19aadef20cf22fa18-esubmit


Phi Ii p J. Eller 

Kevin H. Wylie 

R. Louis Reynolds 

Daniel C. Cupps 
Andrew A. Shank 

Shanann Pinkham Passley 

Mac D. Finlayson 

Steven P. Flowers 

Kenneth E. Crump Jr. 

Sloane Ryan Lile 

Nathalie M. Cornett 

Natalie J. Marra 

Jacob W. Purdum 

EllerWetrich 
A Professional Corporation 

Telephone 
(918) 747-8900 

Toll Free 
(866) 547-8900 

Facsimile 
(918) 747-2665 

Of Counsel 
Donald L. Detrich, Retired 
Jerry M. Snider 

Katherine Saunders, PLC 

Heidi L. Shadid 

Joshua M. Tietsort 
June 5, 2023 

10918 E 55th Place LLC 

1138 S. Elgin Ave. 

Tulsa, OK 74120-4242 

Re: 1330 E. 15th Street-Bellview Event Center (the "Project") 

Board of Adjustment Case BOA-23530 

To: 10918 E 55th Place LLC 

If you have not already, you will be receiving a new notice in the mail from INCOG 

(Tulsa's Planning Office) regarding an amended request for two Special Exceptions in Case 

BOA-23530, which will be heard by the Tulsa Board of Adjustment on Tuesday, June 13, 2023 at 

1:00 p.m. 

The amended request is for a Special Exception to permit a Small (<250 person capacity) 
Commercial Assembly and Entertainment venue, to be located on the second story of the old 

Lincoln school building, above Nola's Restaurant, to serve alcohol within 150 feet of a Residential 

District. A small event center is a use permitted by right in the CS (Commercial Shopping) 

District. However, the Tulsa Zoning Code requires a Special Exception for small event centers to 

serve alcohol when located within 150 feet of a Residential District. In this case, the only 

residentially-zoned district within 150 feet is the Marquette School to the east which is zoned 

RM-2. 

www.EllerDetrich.com 

2727 East 21st Street, Suite 200, Tulsa Oklahoma 74114-3533 

4.13



EllerQetrich 
A Professional Corporation 

Originally, the Applicant requested a Special Exception to permit a Large (>250 person 

capacity) Commercial Assembly and Entertainment venue. However, the architect for the Project 

determined that due to the historical layout and age of the structure, the space is better suited for 

smaller events. Accordingly, the Applicant has withdrawn this request. 

The total area of the proposed event space is approximately 7,367 square feet and, of that, 

2,505 square feet will be used to host events such as wedding receptions, corporate functions, and 

private parties. The maximum event size will be 120 people and any event over 50 people will be 

required to have valet parking. Events may be booked between the hours of 8:00 a.m. and 

12:00 a.m, seven-days a week. 

The Applicant is also requesting that the existing 222 parking spaces that currently serve 

Lincoln Plaza be established as the required parking ratio for the Center. Just as all residents and 

business owners in Cherry Street, the operator of the Project is well aware of the fluctuation of 

available parking in the area as it also operates Nola's in the Center, as well as Kilkenny's and 

Hemingway's on Cherry Street. In order to alleviate parking needs during peak hours, the 

Bellview Event Center has an agreement with Marquette Catholic School and Early Childhood 

Development (ECDC) to use their parking lot for valet parking during events. 

We believe this Project will be a wonderful additional amenity offered in Cherry Street and 

we look forward to being a good neighbor. If you have any questions about the center, please do 

not hesitate to call me at (918) 747-8900 or email me at NCornett@EllerDetrich.com 

Sincerely, 

ELLER & DETRICH 
A Professional Corporation 

Nathalie M. Cornett 

Attorney for Bellview Event Center 

www.EllerDetrich.com 

2727 East 21st Street, Suite 200, Tulsa Oklahoma 74114-3533 4.14



Tuesday, November 10, 2020

4.15



Monday, July 12, 2021

4.16



Thursday, May 5, 2023

4.17



4.18

NSchaefer
Polygonal Line

NSchaefer
Polygonal Line

NSchaefer
Polygonal Line

NSchaefer
Polygonal Line

NSchaefer
Text Box
33 Parking Spaces

NSchaefer
Text Box
8 Parking Spaces

NSchaefer
Text Box
31 Parking Spaces

NSchaefer
Text Box
158 Parking Spaces

NSchaefer
Text Box
Total Existing Parking:       230 Parking Spaces

NSchaefer
Text Box
Subject Property

NSchaefer
Text Box
Marquette Valet Lot for Event Center79 Parking Spaces

NSchaefer
Text Box
BOA-23530Parking Diagram



REVISED 6/6/2023 

Case Number: BOA-23541 

Hearing Date: 07/1/2023 (Cont. from 6/13, 

applicant not present)

Case Report Prepared by: 

Austin Chapman 

Owner and Applicant Information: 

Applicant: Twister Concrete Work    

Property Owner: Bernal, Leopoldo 
Esparza 

Action Requested: Special Exception to increase the permitted driveway width in a 
Residential District (Section 55.090-F.3) 

Location Map: Additional Information: 

Present Use: Residential    

Tract Size: 0.92 acres 

Location: South of the SE/c of E. 
Tecumseh St. and N. Xanthus Ave. 

Present Zoning: RS-3 

5.1



RS-3

RS-3

CS

IM

CS
RM-2

IM

RS-3

IL

IL
CH

RM-1

RM-1

RM-1

IL

CS

IM

RS-3CS

IL

IL

CH

OL

CH

RM-2

OL

CG

CS

RS-3

RS-3

HNO

HNO

NIO

£¤75

£¤75

E PINE ST

N
 L

EW
IS

 A
VE

N
U

TI
C

A
A

VE

E OKLAHOMA ST

E OKLAHOMA PL

E UTE ST

E TECUMSEH ST

N 
XA

NT
HU

S A
VE

N 
YO

RK
TO

WN
 AV

E

N 
LE

WI
S 

PL

N 
WH

EE
LIN

G 
AV

E

N 
TR

OO
ST

 AV
E

E READING ST

E VIRGIN ST

E WOODROW ST

N 
TR

EN
TO

N 
AV

E

E SEMINOLE ST

E WOODROW CT

E XYLER ST

N 
XA

NT
HU

S 
PLE WOODROW PL

N 
ZU

NI
S A

VE

N 
VIC

TO
R 

AV
E

E QUEEN ST

E QUEEN PL

N 
YO

RK
TO

WN
 P

L

E UTE ST

N 
TR

OO
ST

 AV
E

N 
WH

EE
LIN

G 
AV

E

E VIRGIN ST
E VIRGIN ST

N 
LE

WI
S 

PL

N 
UT

IC
A A

VE

N 
XA

NT
HU

S A
VE

N 
YO

RK
TO

WN
 AV

E

E SEMINOLE ST
E SEMINOLE ST

E QUEEN ST

20-13 30
0 250 500

Feet oBOA-23541

SUBJECT TRACT

5.2



£¤75

£¤75

E PINE ST

N
 L

EW
IS

 A
VE

N
U

TI
C

A
A

VE

E OKLAHOMA ST

E OKLAHOMA PL

E UTE ST

E TECUMSEH ST

N 
XA

NT
HU

S A
VE

N 
YO

RK
TO

WN
 AV

E

N 
LE

WI
S 

PL

N 
WH

EE
LIN

G 
AV

E

N 
TR

OO
ST

 AV
E

E READING ST

E VIRGIN ST

E WOODROW ST

N 
TR

EN
TO

N 
AV

E

E SEMINOLE ST

E WOODROW CT

E XYLER ST

N 
XA

NT
HU

S 
PLE WOODROW PL

N 
ZU

NI
S A

VE

N 
VIC

TO
R 

AV
E

E QUEEN ST

E QUEEN PL

N 
YO

RK
TO

WN
 P

L

E UTE ST

N 
TR

OO
ST

 AV
E

N 
WH

EE
LIN

G 
AV

E

E VIRGIN ST
E VIRGIN ST

N 
LE

WI
S 

PL

N 
UT

IC
A A

VE

N 
XA

NT
HU

S A
VE

N 
YO

RK
TO

WN
 AV

E

E SEMINOLE ST
E SEMINOLE ST

E QUEEN ST

20-13 30
0 250 500

Feet oBOA-23541 Note:  Graphic overlays may not precisely
align with physical features on the ground.

Aerial Photo Date: 2020/2021

Subject
Tract

5.3



E TECUMSEH ST

N 
XA

NT
HU

S A
VE

N 
YO

RK
TO

WN
 AV

E

20-13 30
0 50 100

Feet oBOA-23541 Note:  Graphic overlays may not precisely
align with physical features on the ground.

Aerial Photo Date: 2020/2021

Subject
Tract

5.4



REVISED 6/6/2023 

BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT 
CASE REPORT 

STR: 0330  Case Number: BOA-23541 
CD: 1

HEARING DATE: 07/11/2023 

APPLICANT: Twister Concrete Work  

ACTION REQUESTED: Special Exception to increase the permitted driveway width in a Residential District (Section 
55.090-F.3) 

LOCATION: South of the SE/c of E. Tecumseh St. and N. Xanthus Ave. ZONED: RS-3 

PRESENT USE: Residential TRACT SIZE: 40001.31 SQ FT 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION: W 140 OF S 200 LT 8 & E 60 OF S 200 LT 9 BLK 5, CONSERVATION ACRES SUB CITY OF 
TULSA, TULSA COUNTY, STATE OF OKLAHOMA 

RELEVANT PREVIOUS ACTIONS:  None.  

RELATIONSHIP TO THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN: The Tulsa Comprehensive Plan identifies the subject property as 
part of an “Existing Neighborhood” and an “Area of Stability”.  

An Existing Neighborhood is intended to preserve and enhance Tulsa’s existing single-family neighborhoods. 
Development activities in these areas should be limited to the rehabilitation, improvement or replacement of 
existing homes, and small-scale infill projects, as permitted through clear and objective setback, height, and other 
development standards of the zoning code. 

The Areas of Stability include approximately 75% of the city’s total parcels. Existing residential neighborhoods, where 
change is expected to be minimal, make up a large proportion of the Areas of Stability. The ideal for the Areas of 
Stability is to identify and maintain the valued character of an area while accommodating the rehabilitation, 
improvement or replacement of existing homes, and small-scale infill projects. The concept of stability and growth is 
specifically designed to enhance the unique qualities of older neighborhoods that are looking for new ways to 
preserve their character and quality of life. The concept of stability and growth is specifically designed to enhance 
the unique qualities of older neighborhoods that are looking for new ways to preserve their character and quality of 
life. 

STAFF ANALYSIS:  The applicant is requesting a Special Exception to increase the permitted driveway width in a 
Residential District (Section 55.090-F.3) 

5.5



REVISED 6/6/2023 

The applicant requesting an additional curb-cut at this time to serve as an entrance to a future detached garage, 
bringing the total width requested inside the right-of-way to 38-feet. The applicant’s intent is for the curb-cut to serve 
a future entry into a detached garage. The board may wish to grant the ability to lengthen the driveway into the lot at 
this time as staff has depicted below:   

SAMPLE MOTION:  
Move to _________ (approve/deny) a Special Exception to increase the permitted driveway width in a Residential 
District (Section 55.090-F.3) 

 Per the Conceptual Plan(s) shown on page(s) ______ of the agenda packet.

 Subject to the following conditions (including time limitation, if any):
______________________________________________.

The Board finds that the requested Special Exception will be in harmony with the spirit and intent of the 
Code and will not be injurious to the neighborhood or otherwise detrimental to the public welfare. 

Subject Property 

5.6



tryof 1uú64

El¡¡motp
Ë*rgæoe¡ooffiorto
EWrþnffiüsr
CtiEwr@
ClsffinPlouv

¡r $ü û¡ß

clltesattt¡¡å¡færd

t
v

h
0

w
ttç'. t -

rçË

À.
o !^/

5.7





REVISED 6/27/2023 

Case Number: BOA-23542 

Hearing Date: 07/11/2023 1:00 PM 

Case Report Prepared by: 

Austin Chapman 

Owner and Applicant Information: 

Applicant: Dodson Building Group INC    

Property Owner: Manley Family Trust 

Action Requested: Special Exception to increase the permitted driveway width in a 
Residential District (Section 55.090-F.3) 

Location Map: Additional Information: 

Present Use: Residential    

Tract Size: 0.66 acres 

Location: 4339 S. Atlanta Ave. 

Present Zoning: RS-1 

6.1



S 
LE

W
IS

 A
VE

E 41ST ST S

S A
TL

AN
TA

 AV
E

S Z
UN

IS
 AV

E

S B
IR

MI
NG

HA
M 

AV
E

S C
OL

UM
BI

A A
VE

E 45TH ST S

S A
TL

AN
TA

 P
L

E 46TH PL S

S B
IR

MI
NG

HA
M 

PL

OAK RD

E 44TH ST S

E 46TH ST S

E 45TH PL S

E 40TH ST S

E 43RD ST S
S L

EW
IS 

CT

S L
EW

IS 
PL

E 42ND ST S

E 44TH PL S

E 40TH PL S

E 46TH ST S

S ZUNIS AVE

E 44TH PL S

E 44TH ST S

E 40TH ST S

S B
IR

MI
NG

HA
M 

PL

E 44TH ST S

E 45TH PL S

E 44TH ST S

19-13 29
0 200 400

Feet oBOA-23542 Note:  Graphic overlays may not precisely
align with physical features on the ground.

Aerial Photo Date: 2023
Subject
Tract

SUBJECT TRACT

6.2



S A
TL

AN
TA

 AV
E

S A
TL

AN
TA

 PL

S L
EW

IS 
CT

E 44TH PL S

E 44TH ST S

19-13 29
0 50 100

Feet oBOA-23542 Note:  Graphic overlays may not precisely
align with physical features on the ground.

Aerial Photo Date: 2023
Subject
Tract

SUBJECT TRACT

6.3



PUD-637

PUD-141

PUD-259A

PU
D

-4
93

RS-1

RE

RS-1

RS-2

RS-2

RS-2
RS-2

RS-2

S 
LE

W
IS

 A
VE

E 41ST ST S

S A
TL

AN
TA

 AV
E

S Z
UN

IS
 AV

E

S B
IR

MI
NG

HA
M 

AV
E

S C
OL

UM
BI

A A
VE

E 45TH ST S

S A
TL

AN
TA

 P
L

E 46TH PL S

S B
IR

MI
NG

HA
M 

PL

OAK RD

E 44TH ST S

E 46TH ST S

E 45TH PL S

E 40TH ST S

E 43RD ST S
S L

EW
IS 

CT

S L
EW

IS 
PL

E 42ND ST S

E 44TH PL S

E 40TH PL S

E 46TH ST S

S ZUNIS AVE

E 44TH PL S

E 44TH ST S

E 40TH ST S

S B
IR

MI
NG

HA
M 

PL

E 44TH ST S

E 45TH PL S

E 44TH ST S

19-13 29
0 200 400

Feet oBOA-23542

SUBJECT TRACT

6.4



REVISED 6/27/2023 

BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT 
CASE REPORT 

STR: 9329  Case Number: BOA-23542 
CD: 9

HEARING DATE: 07/11/2023 1:00 PM 

APPLICANT: Dodson Building Group INC  

ACTION REQUESTED: Special Exception to increase the permitted driveway width in a Residential District (Section 
55.090-F.3) 

LOCATION: 4339 S ATLANTA AV E ZONED: RS-1 

PRESENT USE: Residential TRACT SIZE: 28632.11 SQ FT 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION: LTS 7 8 BLK 1, SKYVIEW ADDN CITY OF TULSA, TULSA COUNTY, STATE OF OKLAHOMA 

RELEVANT PREVIOUS ACTIONS:  None.  

STAFF ANALYSIS:  Applicant is requesting a Special Exception to increase the permitted driveway width in a 
Residential District (Section 55.090-F.3) 

Applicant is requesting two 18-foot wide curb-cuts equaling 36-feet wide in the aggregate.  

SAMPLE MOTION:  Move to _________ (approve/deny) a  Special Exception to increase the permitted driveway 
width in a Residential District (Section 55.090-F.3). 

 Per the Conceptual Plan(s) shown on page(s) ______ of the agenda packet.

 Subject to the following conditions (including time limitation, if any):
______________________________________________.

The Board finds that the requested Special Exception will be in harmony with the spirit and intent of the Code and 
will not be injurious to the neighborhood or otherwise detrimental to the public welfare. 

6.5



REVISED 6/27/2023 

Subject property  

6.6



t

Jeff S. Taylor
Zoning Olficiai

Building Plans RevieiY
Supervisor

TEi_(918) ã96-7tì37

Jslaylor@cilyof tu¡sa.or8
ZONING CLEARANCF PLAN RËVIEW

Kevin Schult¿
212712023

APPLICATION N0: ROWSR 137850 tPLEAST RETERENC|: TH|S NUI¡IEER V'/HEN CO\ITACT|NG OUR OFF|CEI
Project Location: 4339 S ATLANTA AVÊ E

Descr¡ption: Oriveway Éxpansion

INTORMATION ABCIUT SUBMITTING RFVISIONS

OUR RÊVlÊW HAS ¡DENTIFIÊD Tl1ä f:OLLOlrVlt'¡G CODE OllllSSlONS OR DEFICIENCIES lN THË
PROJECT APPLICATION FORi.4S, DRAllVINGS. ANDIOR SPEÇIFICATIONS. THÊ DOCUMENTS SHALL
BE REVISED TO COMPLY !VITH'THT REFËRENCED CODE SÊCTIONS.

REVISIONS NEED TO INCLUDå THÊ FOLLOWING:
i. A COPY OF THIS DEFICIEN.]Y LETTãR
2. A WRITTEN RESPONSE AS T{J l-lOW EACH REVIÊW CCIMlvlENT HAS BEÊN RESOLVED
3. THE COMPLËTED REV|SãDIAD)I-T!C|..JAI". PLANS FORM (SEE ATTACHED)
4. EOARD OF ADJUSTMENT APPROVAI" DOCUMENTS. IF RELãVANT

REVISIONS SHALL Bã SUBMITTED DIREC IL.Y TO THE CITY OF TULSA PERMIT CENTER LCICATËD
AT 175 EAST 2." STREEI, Si"'r;r 450,-]-ULSA, OKLAHOMA 74103, PHONE (918) 596-9601.
THã CITY OF TULSA W¡LL ASSES$ A RESUBIvIITTAI FEE. DO NOT SUBMIT REVISIONS TO IHË
PLANS EXAMINERS.

SUBMiTTALS FAXEÛ / EMATLEÐ Tp PLANS EXAMTNERS W|LL NOT 8E ACCEPTEÐ.

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES
175 ÊAST 2..¡ STRÊET, SUITE 450

TULSA. OKLAHOMA 74103

i

¡ IMPORTANT INFORMATION

1. SUBMTT TWO {2} SETS [4 SËTS ]F TTEALTH ÐËPARTMÊNT REVTEW lS REQUIREDI OF REVISED
OR ADDITIONAL PLANS. RÊV|S¡ONIS SI-IALL BE IDËNTIFIED WITH CLOUDS AND RËVISION
MARKS.

2. INFORMATION ABOUT ZONING CODE, .JDIAN NATION COUNCIL OF GOVERNMFNT (INCOG),
EOARD OF ADJUSïMENT (ãOAi, ANTD"TULSA METROPOLITAN AREA PLANNIN¡G COMMISSTCIN
(IMAPC) lS AVAILABLF Ol.iLlNi: r\T ..,': i ' ':*-t.i:', ' ¡t; '.rr-i!: OR AT INCOG OFFICES AT
2W.2d ST., 80, FLCIOR, IUISA 0K, 74103, Pt--lo¡¡A {918) 584-7526.

3. A COPY OF A ,'RECORD SEARCI]'. i IIS I x.IIS NOT INCLUDED WITH THIS LETTER. PLEASE
PRESENI THE'RECORD SEARCI-I" ALONG l¡/lrH THIS LETTER TO INCOG SIAFF AT IIME O':
APPLYING FOR AOARD OF ÀDJUSiLIEi\¡T AC]"¡ON AT INCOG. UPON APPROVAL BY ÏHE BOARD
OF ADJUSTMENT. INCOG STAFTI,¡/II-L PROI/IDE THE APPROVAL DOCUMËNÏS TO YOU FOR
lMlvlED|ATË SUBMITîAL Tt) OL,R Cf';:lC[. iSee revisions submitlal procedure above.].

(continued)

d6.7



REVIEW COMMENTS

SECTIONS REFERENCEO BELOI¡.I ARE FROM THE CITY OF TULSA ZONING CODE ÍlrLE 42 AND CAN 8E VIEWÊO AT

Note: Stafr r€view commsnta may eometlmes ldentlfy compliance methods ¿s provided in the Tulsa Zoning
Gode, The permit appllcant te responslble for explorlng all or any opllons avallable to addrsse the

nonconpl¡anc€ ¿nd submit the selected compllance option lor revlew. Staff revlew makog nslther representalion

nor rocommendatlon as to any optlmal method of code solution for the prolect. Reguests for Yarlances from the
Board of AdJustment requlre proof of a hardshlp per Sectlon 70.'130.

Thls tetierof de0cteneles covers Zoning plan ruvlew ltoms only. You may recelve addilional letters ftom olher
disclp[nes such as Bulldlng or Waterrsewor/Drainage for ltems not addr€ssed ln thl6 loüer. A hard copy of th¡s

letter ls anallable upon rsquost by the appllcant.

Please Notify Plans Eramlner By Ema¡l When You Have Submltted A Revlslon. lf you orlglnatly submit paper
plans, rovblôns must bs submitted as paper plane. lf you submltonllne, rêvislons must be submittcd online.

The zoning review will resume after these modiñed plans are submitted.

Maximum DrivewayWidth

tot Frontage 75'. 60' -74' 46':-5E .30'- 45' Less than 30'[21

Drrvervay Wrthrrr Rr.qlrl-,rf-Wðy (feet) f 1l J7' :fi 22' 20' i2'

Drrvervay Wrthtrt SÌrèe( Serback (feet) 30' -30'

Fl Maximum width applles lo the composite of all driveways if multiple curb culs ara provided.

[2] Provided that for lot frontates less than 24 feet, a driveway up to 12 feet ln width ls permltted.

55.090-t Surfacing. Based on your lot width you are allowed a combined driveway width of up to 27' in

width in the ROW.

Review Comments: The submitted site/plot plan pfoposes a combined drivewaywidth of more than 27'wide
ln the ROW wfiich exceeds the maximum allowable composite of all driveway widths wilhin the ROW. Revise
plans to indicate lhe combined driveway widths shall not exceed the maximum allowable widths in lhe leble or

apply to the BOA for a soeci{.excegfig for the proposed combined driveway widths w¡th¡n the ROW

NOTÊ: THIS CONSTITUTESA PLAN REVIEW TO DATE lN RESPONSE TO THE SUBMITTEO INFORMATION ASSOCIATEO WITH

THE ABOVE REFERENCED APPLICAT¡ON. AOOIfIONAL ISSUES MAY OEVELOP WHEN THE REVIEW CONTINUES UPON

RECEIPT OF AODITIONAL INFORMATION REOUESTED IN THIS TETTER OR UPON ADDITIONAL SUBMITIAL FROM THE

APPLICANT.

KEEP OUR OFFICE ADVISED OF ANY ACTION BY THE CITY OF TULSA BOARO OF AOJUSÎMENT OR TULSA METROPOLITAN

AREA PI-ANNING COMMISSION AFFECTING THE STATUS OF YOUR APPLICATION FOR A ZONING CLEARANCE PERMIT.

ir;

.,f
¡ü
h¡

:l

r

I
q

2

-ZONING CODE

6.8



tlF{t ::., I;FFj

-

tç4:cîÇtç-

slf\V vJ-cvv?-LV
* r)e,n¿

L22rr
,ßl ,81

YJts-{' '¡ESÈ-

\

\r.- rø

\i!¡¿r-

--1-

--E- ---

I

I

-t-
I

I

I

,','.,1

}.

I
I

h

I

'¿.1
¡.$

l" 'l
I

I

'ç--1
..t

iç
-.,i_f7: F .'l.F¡.4'.rHl "ia,-.--i {l! '.'

I .',1

:*ir

\-*î
I
f

I

ry4 Ësæoq¡r -\yfff lry-a'a

4.1 ù,îtÅl fY,W
-repetÇ/

g:

l,
Ili

I
I

I

I

I

I

I

i

I

,l

¡

I
L

¡' ---l-rn;'unJ

Çooç-€Ê sl{
(f'41 f!-,'olz

t7æla g+L +11
t 

".|,¿ 4" lô

'-7ð ,-¡?Ol ? &69
. tþ',ntþ .?r¡1o\rnt., t-"1a'o{-

'CJqfÞé(q?et4 \--'-ãt..rZ,-

A 1S

6.9





REVISED 6/27/2023 

Case Number: BOA-23544 

Hearing Date: 07/11/2023 1:00 
PM 

Case Report Prepared by: 

Austin Chapman 

Owner and Applicant 
Information: 

Applicant: Chris Stevens   

Property Owner: Harm T 
Holdings LLC 

Action Requested: Special Exception to permit a Small (up to 250-person capacity) Indoor 
Commercial Assembly and Entertainment use in the IL District  (Sec.15.020, Table 15-2) 

Location Map: Additional Information: 

Present Use: Industrial     

Tract Size: 4.59 acres  

Location: 6500 E. 44 St. S. 

Present Zoning: IL  

7.1



E 45TH ST S

E 41ST ST S

S 
SH

ER
ID

A
N

 R
D S 

70
TH

 E
 A

VE
E 46TH ST S

E 44TH ST S

E 46TH PL S

S 
68

TH
 E

 A
VE

E 47TH ST S

E 43RD ST S

E 42ND ST S

S 
69

TH
 E

 A
VE

S 
O

XF
O

R
D

 A
VE

S 
N

O
RW

O
O

D
 A

VE

S 
66

TH
 E

 A
VES 

M
A

PL
EW

O
O

D
 A

VE

S 
LA

K
EW

O
O

D
 A

VE

S 67TH E AVE

E 47TH PL S

S 70
TH

 E
 AVE

S 
66

TH
 E

 A
VE

S 
M

A
PL

EW
O

O
D

 A
VE

E 46TH ST S

S 
LA

K
EW

O
O

D
 A

VE

19-13 26

0 200 400
Feet oBOA-23544 Note:  Graphic overlays may not precisely

align with physical features on the ground.

Aerial Photo Date: 2023

Subject
Tract

SUBJECT TRACT

7.2



S 
SH

ER
ID

A
N

 R
D

E 44TH ST S

19-13 26

0 50 100
Feet oBOA-23544 Note:  Graphic overlays may not precisely

align with physical features on the ground.

Aerial Photo Date: 2023

Subject
Tract

SUBJECT TRACT

7.3



E 45TH ST S

CDP-53

PUD-823PUD-823-A

IL

IL

RS-3

CS

RS-3

IL

RS-2

OM

CH CS

SR

RD

E 41ST ST S

S 
SH

ER
ID

A
N

 R
D S 

70
TH

 E
 A

VE
E 46TH ST S

E 44TH ST S

E 46TH PL S

S 
68

TH
 E

 A
VE

E 47TH ST S

E 43RD ST S

E 42ND ST S

S 
69

TH
 E

 A
VE

S 
O

XF
O

R
D

 A
VE

S 
N

O
RW

O
O

D
 A

VE

S 
66

TH
 E

 A
VES 

M
A

PL
EW

O
O

D
 A

VE

S 
LA

K
EW

O
O

D
 A

VE

S 67TH E AVE

E 47TH PL S

S 70
TH

 E
 AVE

S 
66

TH
 E

 A
VE

S 
M

A
PL

EW
O

O
D

 A
VE

E 46TH ST S

S 
LA

K
EW

O
O

D
 A

VE

19-13 26

0 200 400
Feet oBOA-23544

SUBJECT TRACT

7.4



REVISED 6/27/2023 

BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT 
CASE REPORT 

STR: 9326  Case Number:  BOA-23544 
CD: 5

HEARING DATE: 07/11/2023 1:00 PM 

APPLICANT: Chris Stevens 

ACTION REQUESTED: Special Exception to permit a Small (up to 250-person capacity) Indoor Commercial Assembly 
and Entertainment use in the IL District  (Sec.15.020, Table 15-2) 

LOCATION: 6500 E 44 ST S ZZONED: IL 

PRESENT USE: Industrial TTRACT SIZE: 200106.75 SQ FT 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION: LTS 58 THRU 68 BLK 1, KATY FREEWAY INDUSTRIAL PARK ADDN CITY OF TULSA, TULSA 
COUNTY, STATE OF OKLAHOMA  

RELEVANT PREVIOUS ACTIONS:  None.  

RELATIONSHIP TO THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN: The Tulsa Comprehensive Plan identifies the subject property as 
part of an “Employment” Land Use Designation” and is considered “More Suitable” for Industrial Activity.  

The employment designation is intended to accommodate offices, warehousing and storage, manufacturing and 
assembly, and industrial processes. The “Industrial Site Suitability” map corresponds to the Employment land use 
designation and indicates where uses that are potentially incompatible with sensitive land uses are best suited to 
locate. This directs industrial uses to particular areas of the city while discouraging industrial in close proximity to 
Neighborhood areas. 

STAFF ANALYSIS:  The applicant is requesting a Special Exception to permit a Small (up to 250-person capacity) 
Indoor Commercial Assembly and Entertainment use in the IL District  (Sec.15.020, Table 15-2) to permti an indoor 
archery range.  

The applicant has provided supplemental information in your packet further explaining the proposed use.  

SAMPLE MOTION: Move to _________ (approve/deny) a  Special Exception to permit a Small (up to 250-person 
capacity) Indoor Commercial Assembly and Entertainment use in the IL District  (Sec.15.020, Table 15-2) 

 Per the Conceptual Plan(s) shown on page(s) ______ of the agenda packet. 

 Subject to the following conditions (including time limitation, if any): 
______________________________________________. 

The Board finds that the requested Special Exception will be in harmony with the spirit and intent of the Code and 
will not be injurious to the neighborhood or otherwise detrimental to the public welfare. 

7.5



REVISED 6/27/2023 

Subject Property

7.6



7.7



510 SE Dewey Ave, Price Tower, Suite 500
Bartlesville, OK 74003

www.amblerarchitects.com
Phone: 918.336.3512

A100

N
O

R
TH

1" = 30'-0"
1

Site Plan

05/19/2023 7.8



7.9



To whom it may concern, 

We plan to open an indoor archery and sports facility at 6504 E 44th St Ste B  Tulsa, OK 7145 this summer. 
We will be open for business Tue-Fri 9am – 9pm, Sat 8am - 9pm, and Sun noon to 6pm. Our daily 

customers our archery . We will 
also have billiard tables, cornhole, and concessions available to our customers. We will eventually hold a 
monthly indoor archery tournament and a monthly cornhole tournament at the facility. These 
tournaments will occur on weekends as not to interfere with or 
businesses. Our patrons will park in the park buildin

 

Respectully, 

Christopher Stevens 

Owner/Operator 

7.10



REVISED 6/27/2023 

Case Number: BOA-23545 

Hearing Date: 07/11/2023 1:00 
PM 

Case Report Prepared by: 

Austin Chapman 

Owner and Applicant Information: 

Applicant: Raul  Cisneros   

Property Owner: Marcela Homes 
LLC 

Action Requested: Special Exception to permit a duplex in the RS-3 district (Table 5.020, 
Table 5-2, Table 5-2.5); 

Location Map: Additional Information: 

Present Use: Single-family 
Residence    

Tract Size: 0.18 acres 

Location: 1746 S. Jamestown Ave. 

Present Zoning: RS-3 

8.1



S 
H

A
R

VA
R

D
 A

VE

PUD-756

PUD-770

PUD-838

PUD-730
PUD-730A

AG
RS-3

RS-3

RS-3

RS-3

CS

CS

CH

CS

CH

CS

OL

RM-1OL

OL

OL
OL

O
L

RM-2

O
M

OL

R
M

-1

E 21ST ST S

S G
AR

Y P
L

S G
AR

Y A
VE

E 16TH ST S

E 17TH ST S

E 19TH ST S

E 23RD ST S

S K
NO

XV
ILL

E A
VE

S L
OU

ISV
ILL

E A
VE

S J
AM

ES
TO

WN
 AV

E

S I
ND

IA
NA

PO
LIS

 AV
E

E 22ND ST S

S M
AR

IO
N 

AV
E

MA
ST

ER
 IT

 A
LL

 LN
E 21ST PL S

S O
SW

EG
O A

VE

E 22ND PL S

S G
AR

Y P
L

E 22ND ST S

S L
OU

ISV
ILL

E A
VE

S I
ND

IA
NA

PO
LIS

 AV
E

E 22ND ST S

E 21ST PL S

S J
AM

ES
TO

WN
 AV

E

E 21ST PL S

E 22ND PL S

19-13 09
0 200 400

Feet oBOA-23545

SUBJECT TRACT

8.2



E 19TH ST S

S J
AM

ES
TO

WN
 AV

E

S I
ND

IA
NA

PO
LIS

 AV
E

19-13 09
0 50 100

Feet oBOA-23545 Note:  Graphic overlays may not precisely
align with physical features on the ground.

Aerial Photo Date: 2023
Subject
Tract

SUBJECT TRACT

8.3



S 
H

A
R

VA
R

D
 A

VE

E 21ST ST S

S G
AR

Y P
L

S G
AR

Y A
VE

E 16TH ST S

E 17TH ST S

E 19TH ST S

E 23RD ST S

S K
NO

XV
ILL

E A
VE

S L
OU

ISV
ILL

E A
VE

S J
AM

ES
TO

WN
 AV

E

S I
ND

IA
NA

PO
LIS

 AV
E

E 22ND ST S

S M
AR

IO
N 

AV
E

MA
ST

ER
 IT

 A
LL

 LN
E 21ST PL S

S O
SW

EG
O A

VE

E 22ND PL S

S G
AR

Y P
L

E 22ND ST S

S L
OU

ISV
ILL

E A
VE

S I
ND

IA
NA

PO
LIS

 AV
E

E 22ND ST S

E 21ST PL S

S J
AM

ES
TO

WN
 AV

E

E 21ST PL S

E 22ND PL S

19-13 09
0 200 400

Feet oBOA-23545

SUBJECT TRACT

8.4



REVISED 6/27/2023 

BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT 
CASE REPORT 

STR: 9309  Case Number: BOA-23545 
CD: 4
HEARING DATE: 07/11/2023 1:00 PM 

APPLICANT: Raul  Cisneros 

ACTION REQUESTED: Special Exception to permit a duplex in the RS-3 district (Table 5.020, Table 5-2, Table 5-2.5); 

LOCATION: 1746 S JAMESTOWN AV E ZONED: RS-3 

PRESENT USE: Single-family Residence TRACT SIZE: 7980.22 SQ FT 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION: LT 11 BLK 1, SUNRISE TERRACE SECOND ADDN CITY OF TULSA, TULSA COUNTY, STATE OF 
OKLAHOMA 

RELEVANT PREVIOUS ACTIONS:  

Subject Property:  

Z-7700; On 04.05.23 the TMAPC recommended denial of a rezoning from RS-3 to RT (Residential Townhouse).

RELATIONSHIP TO THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN: The Tulsa Comprehensive Plan identifies the subject property as 
part of a “Neighborhood” . 

Neighborhoods are “Mostly Residential Uses” which includes detached, missing middle, and multi-dwelling unit 
housing types. Churches, schools, and other low-intensity uses that support residents’ daily needs are often 
acceptable, particularly for properties abutting Multiple Use, Local Center, or Regional Center land use areas. 
Multi-dwelling unit housing that takes access off of an arterial is considered Multiple Use, Local Center, or Regional 
Center. If a multi-dwelling unit housing property takes access off of a lower-order street separated from the arterial, 
then it would be considered Neighborhood. 

STAFF ANALYSIS:  The applicant is requesting a Special Exception to permit a duplex in the RS-3 district (Table 
5.020, Table 5-2, Table 5-2.5):  

8.5



REVISED 6/27/2023 

SAMPLE MOTION: Move to _________ (approve/deny) a ____________________________ 

 Per the Conceptual Plan(s) shown on page(s) ______ of the agenda packet.

 Subject to the following conditions (including time limitation, if any):
______________________________________________.

The Board finds that the requested Special Exception will be in harmony with the spirit and intent of the Code and 
will not be injurious to the neighborhood or otherwise detrimental to the public welfare. 

Subject property  

8.6



¡
I

È

t
å

å
á
ú

I
E

I
;
¿

¡
I
I
I
ß

É

6

å
e

Í
B

{
å
å
È

I
9
t

MAICEI.A HOMES

JAIAESTOWN DUPIEX

I74ó S JAMBIOWN AVE,
tu6Äox z4lì2

DESICNS
RCJ

SP

SÍIE ¡IAN

Rilil ST

DR8

RCJ

lru

qbrNo¡urrDrñ fooPftü:

L__

t_i
-_Jrry---

d
E*'M*

a ûoMsrouß

rcrcIlNfaSMArE)!

ttl!¡Á@

ror^L r3r f bor[ÉLr.t!2s il
ro¡ L?NDÍ[oo¡*Lr./s/sÍ¡þrsrbþrELillNcaltuürûf,

À¡W
uù^HnoorJz¡son
uNtr^6 |^GtJsof¡
u$^f roNrcovErED Poicuso f r
utrr^oR!fl r Ðsoil
ur¡þru¡e$ã
Nilrrsrtroo-2.!orü[rc[Âo¡ ,¡5soÍr
unr ilo{rcôurrD rcrclltsoH
uNn¡ô[vilY-1r3OiluNf¡Erudrôtr

I@
orilsPÀ$r&^ ¡@3orl

ord¡rætrþmbJ,ú¡rodrutrorioEroH¡JfloPdoilDc,Ht. ./.r5 il,

slltlElJcE-aEÁll

strR ?oiß wMil su¡Prrn rM sn râ¡cf sH^tr at lÑr^trtb or 
^ 

$Ëtr¡ Nou

rHr rof of rÉ sil flcÉ sil[t ñ nilcMo l{ wlfl 
^ 

ltÆl oR M[cHflEe
tdc*r so rMr rfr 00wñro¡¡ IÀ

rÆr¡fNcHsHoulDrE^MlüuMor¿ncúsottPdD3Io¡lNcl6wÛf lo
rN Ì* lftNcH ¡ lNcHfs 

^ú 
¡^cfltro.

ilI trNC SUß 
'E 

srcUTITY ÎA¡il
mwN wrt wÉcÍ 6 ril ìurN 

^il^cHtD 
Io l[ 9trû ÍÍ{cÊ ¡66

E?Ài o¡ r€PL^cÉM[ilI SHX I ü MÐ(

I rN sßvto 15 us¡tutrNs s ¡s No¡ ¡o

il[t* Dpo*Dof l¡d^mouoff N
ÀurúrnßruL úIcoNtrEUr

llJEyeLDISCr¿l¡ÁlB

Iü lIT H^il S DßAM WÍHOUI Itr lTNÉÍi Of 
^ 'OUilU¡TY 

ilMY' ôOUÑDÀRY

¡ND ffilñ srucnff Loc^tþú
NÍOIM^ION 

^XO 
rcr trrúft^rM PUkP66 orrY.

ÚVABLE

UNI A
PORCH

UNI8
IIVÆLE

UNII6
PORCÉ

ffi!¿¡E-AEA¡t

T!ÞdXODFAL

ANCBOüNO DEAT

ow Mt EñDr roiltrY arunìñ ¡É 
^o$c[NI 

MlB.
?. r^cr¡^trsutr¡tilü6DolñftEso[amfiuMo¡¡ourNc

a iÂ6 su ¡E rilom wH
or üfrDf s¡okr row or D¡¡rücr

ilov[D{mtr*Ê^cH6^DEf rH or ólùH6.

oilousH
ãßltNG !'

0
¡U[DINC

UNIIB ¡å
t;

t

¡! $

L-
+. PROPOSEO SIOilAL( ---'-'

,l !!!!!!4tt
I tra" = Ito"

CI

8.7





REVISED 6/28/2023 

Case Number: BOA-23548 

Hearing Date: 07/11/2023 1:00 PM 

Case Report Prepared by: 

Austin Chapman 

Owner and Applicant Information: 

Applicant: Joseph  L. Hull IV   

Property Owner: Boston Avenue Realty 
LLC 

Action Requested: Variance to increase the permitted size of Temporary Mobile Storage 
Units on a non-residential lot(Sec. 50.030-F.2.C) 

Location Map: Additional Information: 

Present Use: Parking Lot     

Tract Size: 0.15 acres 

Location: 35 E. 18 St. S.  

Present Zoning: CH 

9.1



E 21ST ST S

E 15TH ST S

S 
C

IN
C

IN
N

A
TI

 A
VE

W 21ST ST S

W 15TH ST S

RIVERSIDE DR

S M
AI

N 
ST

S B
OU

LD
ER

 AV
E

E 18TH ST S

S D
ET

RO
IT 

AV
E

S B
OS

TO
N 

AV
E

S C
HE

YE
NN

E A
VE

S B
AL

TIM
OR

E A
VE

S C
AR

SO
N 

AV
E

E 19TH ST S

W 16TH ST S

W 18TH ST S

W 17TH ST S

SUNSET DR

E 16TH ST S

E 17TH ST S

E 20TH ST S

S C
INC

INN
AT

I O
VE

RP
AS

S

E 22ND ST S

W 17TH PL S

S MADISON AVE

S BOULDER DR

W 22ND ST S

W 19TH ST S

W WOODWARD BLVD

S C
IN

CI
NN

AT
I P

L

E 17TH PL S

E 19TH ST S

S B
AL

TIM
OR

E A
VE

S B
OS

TO
N 

AV
E

S M
AI

N 
ST

S C
HE

YE
NN

E A
VE

E 17TH ST S

19-12 12
0 200 400

Feet oBOA-23548 Note:  Graphic overlays may not precisely
align with physical features on the ground.

Aerial Photo Date: 2023
Subject
Tract

SUBJECT TRACT

9.2



E 18TH ST S

S B
OS

TO
N A

VE

S B
AL

TIM
OR

E A
VE

E 19TH ST S

S B
AL

TIM
OR

E A
VE

19-12 12
0 50 100

Feet oBOA-23548 Note:  Graphic overlays may not precisely
align with physical features on the ground.

Aerial Photo Date: 2023
Subject
Tract

SUBJECT TRACT

9.3



R
M

-2

PUD-639APUD-703
PUD-273

Z-7626

Z-7332

CH

RS-3

RM-2

RS-2RM-2
AG

RM-2

RS-3

RS-4

OL

OM

CH

CS

RS-2

OL

OH

RM-2

CS

RM-2
CS

CS

OM

OH

RM-0

OM

OM

RM-2

RM-2

CS

OL

OL

OM

OM

OM
OM

RM-1

OLOH

OL

O
HO

M

RS-3

CS

OM

CS

OL

OL

M
X1

-U
-4

5

MX2-V-35

RM-1

RM-3

RDO-1

NIO

HP
HP

E 21ST ST S

E 15TH ST S

S 
C

IN
C

IN
N

A
TI

 A
VE

W 21ST ST S

W 15TH ST S

RIVERSIDE DR

S M
AI

N 
ST

S B
OU

LD
ER

 AV
E

E 18TH ST S

S D
ET

RO
IT 

AV
E

S B
OS

TO
N 

AV
E

S C
HE

YE
NN

E A
VE

S B
AL

TIM
OR

E A
VE

S C
AR

SO
N 

AV
E

E 19TH ST S

W 16TH ST S

W 18TH ST S

W 17TH ST S

SUNSET DR

E 16TH ST S

E 17TH ST S

E 20TH ST S

S C
INC

INN
AT

I O
VE

RP
AS

S

E 22ND ST S

W 17TH PL S

S MADISON AVE

S BOULDER DR

W 22ND ST S

W 19TH ST S

W WOODWARD BLVD

S C
IN

CI
NN

AT
I P

L

E 17TH PL S

E 19TH ST S

S B
AL

TIM
OR

E A
VE

S B
OS

TO
N 

AV
E

S M
AI

N 
ST

S C
HE

YE
NN

E A
VE

E 17TH ST S

19-12 12
0 200 400

Feet oBOA-23548

SUBJECT TRACT

9.4



REVISED 6/28/2023 

BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT 
CASE REPORT 

STR: 9212  Case Number: BOA-23548 
CD: 4
HEARING DATE: 07/11/2023 1:00 PM 

APPLICANT: Joseph  L. Hull IV 

ACTION REQUESTED: Variance to increase the permitted size of Temporary Mobile Storage Units on a non-
residential lot(Sec. 50.030-F.2.C) 

LOCATION: 35 E 18 ST S ZONED: CH 

PRESENT USE: Parking Lot  TRACT SIZE: 6499.18 SQ FT 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION: LT 7 BK 2, STUTSMAN ADDN CITY OF TULSA, TULSA COUNTY, STATE OF OKLAHOMA 

RELEVANT PREVIOUS ACTIONS:  None.  

RELATIONSHIP TO THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN: The Tulsa Comprehensive Plan identifies the subject property as 
part of a “Multiple Use” Land Use designation. 

Multiple Use areas are “Mostly Commercial or Retail Uses” which include restaurants, shops, services, and smaller 
format employment uses. This land use designation is most common in areas of the city from earlier development 
patterns, with Local Centers being more commonplace in newer parts of the city. For single properties that are 
commercial but surrounded by Neighborhood, Multiple Use is the preferred designation.   

STATEMENT OF HARDSHIP:  

Applicant has provided a separate exhibit included in you packet describing their hardship.  

STAFF ANALYSIS:  The applicant is requesting a Variance to increase the permitted size of Temporary Mobile 
Storage Units on a non-residential lot(Sec. 50.030-F.2.C):  

9.5



REVISED 6/28/2023 

The applicant is requesting permission to allow 2 storage units that are both 8-feet wide and 40-feet long.  

Facts staff finds favorable for variance request:  
 None.

Facts Staff find unfavorable for the variance request:  
 The property would be allowed 3 storage units at a size of 20-feet x 8-feet by right. The applicant has not

provided reasons why that would not be adequate toward the needs of the property owner.

SAMPLE MOTION:     Move to _________ (approve/deny) a Variance to increase the permitted size of Temporary 
Mobile Storage Units on a non-residential lot (Sec. 50.030-F.2.C) 

 Finding the hardship(s) to be________________________________.

 Per the Conceptual Plan(s) shown on page(s) ______ of the agenda packet.

 Subject to the following conditions ___________________________.

In granting the Variance the Board finds that the following facts, favorable to the property owner, have been 
established:  

a. That the physical surroundings, shape, or topographical conditions of the subject property would result in
unnecessary hardships or practical difficulties for the property owner, as distinguished from a mere
inconvenience, if the strict letter of the regulations were carried out;

b. That literal enforcement of the subject zoning code provision is not necessary to achieve the provision’s
intended purpose;

c. That the conditions leading to the need of the requested variance are unique to the subject property and
not applicable, generally, to other property within the same zoning classification;

d. That the alleged practical difficulty or unnecessary hardship was not created or self-imposed by the
current property owner;

e. That the variance to be granted is the minimum variance that will afford relief;

f. That the variance to be granted will not alter the essential character of the neighborhood in which the
subject property is located, nor substantially or permanently impair use or development of adjacent
property; and

g. That the variance to be granted will not cause substantial detriment to the public good or impair the
purposes, spirit, and intent of this zoning code or the comprehensive plan.”

9.6



Subject Property 

9.7



Fcrillt NlrDbct: TMH- 1¿l858+2f123

þ. 
'¡,ìrt:.)Jr,r, 1 í.ìl)llf:,r, rì!! i ¡,1.!rì \1r,Ì¡

û'Pt Manulactured/Moblle
TmD UÉ: Commerc¡al

249396

Couôcll OlsÌr¡c!,1

SÞtG ln Relew PmlËttl¡æ

lsO¡ts

gre¡rG ¡¡.rs

lvt¡6ù.c

Ol3ttlcÈ

Fln¡llærl f¡etc

o6c¡þtlcr:

ost70f2023

40'shlpplnS cont¡lnerwll¡ b€ uted tw tempor¿ry stor4e ¿nd ofñce spåce for ådJxent fæd lruck bu3lÉta

^Dplhd 
O.rc

^stncdlo:

Tilgo.¡rt Ut lcYld

5ul!Ê¡t¡¿l slålù1 lì.re¡vrd l)rl{ l}r¡r l)¡tr

Requlr€s R$ubm¡t O5Ì15/2O?3 0612812023

O Pl¡nnhyZonlng r n¿q¡¡¡*t *e{übrnit . Eush Je-ff ' completed: o5nslm23
{or'F!r'li\i l)¡¡È

ost25t2023

(.otr¡!l.lfd D¡ta

06tou2023

I)'¡ D¡lr

06t28t2023

Comrænt

Excceds len8th. Msrk€d plân 5125123

HARDSHIPS

ln Feb 2022,the largest unit within the shopping center (1738 S Boston Ave) was destroyed in a

fire. Proposed variance will allow for the efficient construction process that will significantly

expand the shopping center's gross area leading to substantial increases in annual gross taxable

revenues. The expansion of the gross area is a requirement for the feasibility of the project due

to the current market and cost of construction conditions.

The adjacent shopping center will be undergoing a SS.glVlÀ¡ re-development beginning in July

2023, with material procurement beginning immediately requiring storage. . Applicant is the

owner of the surrounding and adjacent shopping center properties atL734,L738,t740,17425

Boston, t735-I739 5 Baltimore, and 39 E 18th, and as such has no objection to the variance(s)

sought.

ln January 2023 applicant/owner/developer demolished the derelict improvements atop the

subject real estate at 35 E 18th St., with the purpose that the lot be used as a construction

staging and storage site, in preparation for adjacent shopping center re-development project'

The proposed variance(s) in 50.030-f.2c (a-S) will allow for the temporary use of 35 E 18th for

construction staging and storage during the 9-14 month construction period. The primary

purpose of the proposed,variances sought by applicant would to allow for the temporary use of
(Zl 40' shipping containeis, to be situated at the NE corner of 6,500 SF asphalt parking lot at 35

East 18th Street. The 40' containers will be occupied within footpr¡nt left by the former 35 E

9.8



l8th building at the North [n¿ e.rt perimeter walls. Approval of the proposed variance will help

applicant surmount praAi{al difficulties related to the volume and size requirements of the

construction materials thai will need to be stored in close proxlmlty to the construction site.

t Thatthe ph}sloal shap€, ortopographlc oondltiong of the subject propeÊy would result in unnecæs8ry
for the proporv owner, as dlstlngulshed from a me]9 lnconvenlencs. if the 8ülat lstter

out:

The physicalsurroun the subject 35 East 18ü Street lot make it a part of an assemblage

of properties that com the 18th and Boston Ave shopping center, and is the only lot
construction storage and close proximity storage for operating

restaurants that will be during new construd¡on and shopping center renovation.
sultable for the dual use

2 Thatthe literal
purpæe;

during constructlon on
businesses that will be

The intended purpose of
temporary manufactured
property is CH zoned, and

030-f.2c (a-g) collectively is to limit the size and term of use of
buildings in residential and commercial zones. The subject

is located in a historic business distrlct that is undergoing historic

levels of investment and The variance would allow for the proper storage of
several large con components within close proximity to the construct¡on site, which

can be achleved wlthout need for enforcement of the stated provlsions.

3. Thâtthe aondlt¡ong tlre need ofthe requested vâriance are unlque to the subject propelty end not
properÇ within the same zoning olassifioation;appllcable, tenenally. to

The mixed purpose of variance(s) requested are 2-fold, 1) to act as storage for contractors

of the subJect zonlnÉ code provision is not necessary to achieve the provlsion's intended

I

1738 S Boston Ave lot, 2) to act as storage for the operating

by shopping center construct¡on and renovations, which is a

unique when compared existing completed properties within the same zoning classification.

4. Thattñe alleÉed prac{loal
ownen

or unneoæsefy hardshlp was not created or self{mpæed by the cuíefit propolty

The hardship was not i created by owner.

5. That the variance

Affirmed.

be lfanted isthe minimum variance that willafford relief

6. Thetthe varlanceto wlll not alter the essentlal character of the nelghborhood ln whlch the subject properl

¡s locâted, nor or permanently impalr use or development of adJacent property;

Affirmed. Thetemporary riance to be granted will only serve to facilitate the restoration of
the essential character adjacent historic fire ravaged property while enabling the efficient

9.9



operat¡on of the existing b
whole.

7. Thattheverienceto be
and lntent of th¡s zonlnEl

Affirmed.

I

sinesses during the re-development of the shopping center as a

will not oa¡ge substant¡al d€fülment to the publ¡o good or impalr the purpæes. splfi!
or the comprelænslve Plan.

9.10



Þl
úo
ã
H
H
F1

Êa

r-l{
F
Þo
U)

130'0'

<40'0'> < 16', 1/2'>

ô
€
v

o
ba

o
Aö
bo
it
V B

trl
Fl
F]< 8'0'>

r30'0'

South 1 8th Street

:
x

ø

!
ì5

u
|a

c)
o

g

o
ñ

isting
ab

40' x 8' Shipping Container
!
o
J
o
6

m
!*8

E
o
3
o
n
ø

Elt0ü
F
Þ
5
o
tr

S! et..eer"Pl.anters B

Parking Lot

B,ôstÕn Àrrênuè
Rea].ty, LLC
1717 S Cheyenne Ave
Íulsa, OK ?4119
918.582.8252

Notes: Shipping
Container (s)
will be used be
adj acent
resÈåurant for
sborage

À

Pe¡:¡'i t *:DÀTE:
5/ro/23

sca le :

L/3221

Name: 
35 tast 18tt¡ streeÈ

(Cmercial) Tery Manufacùured
Storage BuiLding

cat:

9.11



Markups

Text

50.030-Fåa- Temporary mobile storage units are perrnitted for a period not to orceed
atotalof 90 days within any calendar yæar unless a valid building or constructionpermit is

in place for the subject property, in which case the temporary mobilestorage unit may
remain in place for a maximum of 18O days or untílthe permitexpires,whichever occurs
ñrst lf the principal building on the subiect lot has beendamaged by natural disaster act
of C¡od, the derælopment administrator isauthorized togrant time octensions of
otherwise applicable temporary mobilestorage unit time limits. Review Comrænt:
Temporary mobile storage unit not to oceed 180 days.

5O030-F¿.c. Temporary mobile storage units may not exceed 2Ofeet in length, I feet in
width, and 8.5 feet in height See Figure S0-2.ReviewComment Pleasesubmit plans

indicatingstorage units no longerthan 20' in length.

Added By

teÍfrey Bush

JefÍrey Bush

Page

1

1

9.12



c I ¡
f Ë
¡

/ít it¡ Ã
lc

nl
fl ;! àB

o

/ñ o

S
O

U
IH

 S
O

S
T

O
N

 A
V

E
N

U
E

(9 ,â

rÀ rl9 itþ Ii

t¡ ¡l

!e
F

Ë
É

;ã
q

ñ (l\ rs ì

o I r0
l

rt
t n 1 f. o {

I t !¡ lt
! L

x
I

J
A

LL
Ë

Y

t- l

m I I I I m ñ {
q 2 >

' g

I E g g I

:-
_

I i I

lit ¡i ¡i I

¡i t¡

I l l

¡t tl ii i! ¡r lí iÍ t; lr l9 I

¡ È tr n 6

t ¡l ;¡ 1r

:

rr
l

ì! 
1¡

il.
9

iii
i i

iri
ir

ili
l ¡

lll
'

rli
 

rll
l

;l 
¡t

l
ffi

¡

¡i¡
i,i I

-l-
:

iii
iii 'ii
l'

! ri s H . l
-,

1

Á
ì

:1
il .fi d! !1
¡ lt i" I

16
-

Itr
g

17
38

 S
O

U
T

H
 B

O
S

T
O

N

-'.
-:

,_

Ê E

il {l I

Ë
l

¿
ã !E

u, a o o

rÈ ;ñ tõ IF tË iõ

8F ;z
È ñ

a Y

nü
¡

E
ìø

E
!fl

LI
LL

Y
 A

R
C

H
IT

E
C

T
S

n o I f q Ø

9.13





REVISED 6/29/2023 

Case Number: BOA-23549 

Hearing Date: 07/11/2023 1:00 PM 

Case Report Prepared by: 

Austin Chapman 

Owner and Applicant Information: 

Applicant: Criminal Justice and Mercy 
Ministries of OK, Inc.    

Property Owner: Southtown Holding 
Company LLC 

Action Requested: Special Exception to permit a Transitional Living Center Use in the RS-3 
(Table 5.020, Table 5-2);  

Location Map: Additional Information: 

Present Use: Former Retirement Home/ 
Nursing Home     

Tract Size: 2.65 acres 

Location: 5707 S. Memorial Dr. 

Present Zoning: RS-3 

10.1



S 
M

EM
O

R
IA

L 
D

R

E 58TH ST SE 58TH PL S

E 57TH ST S

E 55TH ST S

S 84
TH E AVE

E 60TH ST S

E 59TH ST S

S 8
5T

H E
 AV

E

S 80TH E AVE

S 7
9T

H 
E A

VE

S 83
RD E AVES 82

ND E AVE

S 7
9T

H 
PL

 E

S 7
6T

H 
E A

VE

E 56TH PL S

E 53RD PL S

S 78TH E AVE

E 5
9T

H P
L S

S 7
7T

H 
E A

VE

E 54TH PL S

S 8
1S

T P
L E

S 83
RD PL E

E 58TH ST S

S 7
9T

H 
E A

VE

S 8
0T

H 
E A

VE

S 7
8T

H 
E A

VE

19-13 36
0 200 400

Feet oBOA-23549 Note:  Graphic overlays may not precisely
align with physical features on the ground.

Aerial Photo Date: 2023
Subject
Tract

SUBJECT TRACT

10.2



S 
M

EM
O

R
IA

L 
D

R

S 83
RD E AVE

S 82
ND E AVE

19-13 36
0 50 100

Feet oBOA-23549 Note:  Graphic overlays may not precisely
align with physical features on the ground.

Aerial Photo Date: 2023
Subject
Tract

SUBJECT TRACT

10.3



PUD-93PUD-93C

PUD-93A

RS-3

CS

OL

OL

RM-2

AG

S 
M

EM
O

R
IA

L 
D

R

E 58TH ST SE 58TH PL S

E 57TH ST S

E 55TH ST S

S 84
TH E AVE

E 60TH ST S

E 59TH ST S

S 8
5T

H E
 AV

E

S 80TH E AVE

S 7
9T

H 
E A

VE

S 83
RD E AVES 82

ND E AVE

S 7
9T

H 
PL

 E

S 7
6T

H 
E A

VE

E 56TH PL S

E 53RD PL S

S 78TH E AVE

E 5
9T

H P
L S

S 7
7T

H 
E A

VE

E 54TH PL S

S 8
1S

T P
L E

S 83
RD PL E

E 58TH ST S

S 7
9T

H 
E A

VE

S 8
0T

H 
E A

VE

S 7
8T

H 
E A

VE

19-13 36
0 200 400

Feet oBOA-23549

SUBJECT TRACT

10.4



REVISED 6/29/2023 

BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT 
CASE REPORT 

STR: 9336  Case Number: BOA-23549 
CD: 7

HEARING DATE: 07/11/2023 1:00 PM 

APPLICANT: Criminal Justice and Mercy Ministries of OK, Inc.  

ACTION REQUESTED: Special Exception to permit a Transitional Living Center Use in the RS-3  (Table 5.020, Table 
5-2);

LOCATION: 5707 S. Memorial Dr. ZONED: RS-3 

PRESENT USE: Former Retirement Home/ Nursing Home TRACT SIZE: 115530.31 SQ FT 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION: BEG NWC SW TH E620.64 SW349.40 SW479.64 W104.88 N646.57 POB LESS BEG NWC 
SW TH S646.57 E60 N5 W10 N125 W5 N311.57 W10 N205 W35 POB & LESS BEG 45E & 250S NWC NW SW TH 
E332.21 SW.89 SW479.64 W44.88 N5 W10 N125 W5 N266.57 POB SEC 36 19 13  2.65ACS,  CITY OF TULSA, 
TULSA COUNTY, STATE OF OKLAHOMA 

RELEVANT PREVIOUS ACTIONS:  None.  

RELATIONSHIP TO THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN: The Tulsa Comprehensive Plan identifies the subject property as 
part of a “Multiple Use” Land Use Designation.  

Multiple Use areas are “Mostly Commercial or Retail Uses” which include restaurants, shops, services, and smaller 
format employment uses. This land use designation is most common in areas of the city from earlier development 
patterns, with Local Centers being more commonplace in newer parts of the city. For single properties that are 
commercial but surrounded by Neighborhood, Multiple Use is the preferred designation. 

STAFF ANALYSIS:  The applicant is requesting a Special Exception to permit a Transitional Living Center Use in the 
RS-3  (Table 5.020, Table 5-2);  

10.5



REVISED 6/29/2023 

Transitional living uses are subject to the following supplemental regulations:  

Staff would recommend approving the the exception per conceptual plan showing the footprint and location of the 
exisitng structures. Additonal parking may need to be added to meet code.  

SAMPLE MOTION: 

Move to _________ (approve/deny) a  Special Exception to permit a Transitional Living Center Use in the RS-3 
(Table 5.020, Table 5-2) 

 Per the Conceptual Plan(s) shown on page(s) ______ of the agenda packet.

 Subject to the following conditions (including time limitation, if any):
______________________________________________.

The Board finds that the requested Special Exception will be in harmony with the spirit and intent of the Code and 
will not be injurious to the neighborhood or otherwise detrimental to the public welfare. 

10.6



REVISED 6/29/2023 

Subject Property  

Facing North on Memorial  

10.7



ZCO-149727-2023 (5707 S MEMORIAL DR E Tulsa, OK 74145) Markup 
Summary #1

Subject: Note
Page Label: 1
Author: danabox
Date: 5/30/2023 8:40:07 AM
Color: 

Sec. 40.130-B To avoid over-concentration, all
detention and correctional facilities, emergency
and protective shelters, homeless centers, residential
treatment centers and
transitional living center uses must be separated from
one another by a minimum
distance of 2,640 feet, as measured in a straight line
from the nearest point on the
lot line of the property occupied by one of these uses
to the nearest point on a lot
line of the other property occupied by one of the
subject uses (see Figure 40-6).
The separation distance requirements of this
subsection may be reduced if
approved through the special exception approval
process. 
Review Comment:  Clearly identify the radius
measurement, measure the distance from your
property to the closest facility near your property. 
Identify on the map.  Your facility can be no closer
than 2,640 feet to the next facility.

Note (3)

CITY OF TULSA
CORRECTIONS SUMMARY

This constitutes a Plan Review to date in response to the information submitted with and after the above referenced application. Additional issues may develop
when the review continues upon receipt of additional information requested in this letter or upon additional submittal from the client. Any code items not

reviewed are still in force, and it shall be the responsibility of the owner and design professional(s) to ensure that all code requirements are satisfied.

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES
175 E 2ND ST., STE 405

TULSA,OK 74103
918-596-9456

10.8



Subject: Note
Page Label: 2
Author: danabox
Date: 5/30/2023 8:42:17 AM
Color: 

Sec.70.080-C: Applications for Zoning Clearance must
be accompanied by a legal description of the lot and
plans, drawn to scale. 
Review comment: Submit a site plan with the following
information: 
•Actual shape and dimensions of the lot;
•Location and dimensions of all easements;
•Lot lines and names of abutting streets;
•The location, size and height of any existing buildings
or structures to be erected or altered, including
distances to lot lines;
•The location, dimensions and height of proposed
buildings or structures to be erected or altered;
•The intended use of existing and proposed buildings,
structures or portion of the lot;
•Location and dimensions of parking areas. This
includes the parking spaces, the maneuvering areas
necessary to enter and exit the spaces and the drives
providing access to the parking spaces and
maneuvering areas from a public or private street or
other parking areas.

Subject: Note
Page Label: 1
Author: danabox
Date: 5/30/2023 8:47:12 AM
Color: 

Sec.5.020 Table 5-2: Your proposed facility is
designated a Residential/Group Living/Transitional
Living Center use and is located in an RS-3 zoning
district.
Review Comments: Transitional Living Center uses
are only allowed in an RS-3 zone by Special
Exception. Submit a Special Exception reviewed and
approved per Sec.70.120 to allow a Transitional Living
Center use in a RS-3 zoned district. Contact the Tulsa
Planning Office at 918-584-7526 for next steps and
further instruction.

CITY OF TULSA
CORRECTIONS SUMMARY

This constitutes a Plan Review to date in response to the information submitted with and after the above referenced application. Additional issues may develop
when the review continues upon receipt of additional information requested in this letter or upon additional submittal from the client. Any code items not

reviewed are still in force, and it shall be the responsibility of the owner and design professional(s) to ensure that all code requirements are satisfied.

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES
175 E 2ND ST., STE 405

TULSA,OK 74103
918-596-9456

10.9



Jú
dtl

I7-s i.*_v

50

50

Actual shape ¡nd dimensions of tüe lot with lo't lin€$ and nanç of abntting streets'

.È
et7.ãl .s

5707 S. temorid Dr' E, Tu*sa, Ot( 74'l¡$5

Legat: BEc NWc STV TH E6ã),64 SW349.4t' sltr479,64wf04.88 t6{6,5? POB LESS BEG

Ì{rtrc sltr TH saû6.s? E6t} trs rno Ni zS w N3t r .57 ffi8 Næ5 w}5 PoB & LEss BEG /*58

& 250S t''wc Nw swrH Egg2.21$ty.89 Stfl{79.8r W44,88 ù15 YUiS N125 w t{ffi-57 FO6

sEc 36 î913 2.Ê5ACS

tc,
âsB**i

I

I

-"t
I

I

ffi

¡E

ôr
t
Eù
E
1t1

16

gt

.(r,

I

;

I

t
tr

:

i
)

ì

I
I
I

ffi
r.ä
åc-

s ,,\

ú,
C¡
G'

Ð.ü*

3rffi0
Lffi
AË"

10.10



i

Hl-l

Å

-l+ ou:T

ffecÊ¡ rr!\l^

14 oo1

,1 lê p,tl

I
I

É."1 å -¡ç I hrlrco lrdf g$*¡t¡r¡r
tr*r¡ ßßlb\'¡ 1. ÈlrYÂ.

2'*lÊ'äîÅ Îyå-Ëin-
l¡tf ÞÈt^t1l4¡ú1.BÊr-'brb\

D.Î,Ls.qÈ ll.'t¡;Élì F¡.q
iHsElÀlf EËrsß|..'

, ÀllÀ.
Â. ttrÊ htrsoslùËL\ì.- Ì f¡ûËT ftr¡L.
t- Hër C.qf ÊT¡rÈ1- F¡t---s GrËÈ aL

ú¿¡hÍ €Latr'lr r lT3.¡i. Èr- ü¡\} ^LL'Ì^IlrúÌì àtt- fft.
o'$$tI'"å¡'S^iSTi.io

l$lahB.¡, l\\Ê 
^Iß\.1.äl:lf *"åËtrïl,ç

?itc u{¡ c^9 of l'r,^14-
È? I ¡al rY f¡'l¡

fT tl.fo\ñlT t¡.f

tl
flI

osf

n H

ðo' oRrq

9All4*

"2
(òs*G fl.+'-tt.Ol

Page 4 of 14

10.11



Intended [-]se: Transitional Housing

These are all the existing and proposed buildings, structures or portions of the lot. There
are no plans to erect or alter proposed buildings or structures. Parking spaces and entries
and exits are shown.

5707 S. Memorial Dr. 8., Tulsa, OK74145

Legat: BEc NWC SW TH 8620.64 SW349.40 SW479.64 W104,88 N646.57 POB LESS BEG

NWC SW TH 5646.57 E60 N5 W1o N125 W5 N311.57 W10 N205 W35 POB & LESS BEG 45E

& 2505 NWC NW SW TH 8332.21SW.89 SW479.64 W44.88 N5 W10 N125 W5 N266.57 POB

sEc 36 19 13 2.65ACS

10.12



Intended Use: Transitional Housing

These are all the existing and proposed buildings. structures or portions of the lot. There

âre no plans to erect or alter proposed buildings or structures' Parking spaces and enrries

and exits are shown.

5707 S. Memorial Dr. E., Tulsa, OK74145

Legat: BEG NWC SW TH E620.54 SW349.40 SW479.64 W104.88 N646.57 POB LESS BEG

NWC SW TH 5646.57 E60 N5 Wlo N 125 W5 N3l1 .57 W1 0 N205 W35 POB & LESS BEG 458

& 25oS NWC NW SW TH 8932.21SW.89 SW479.64 W44.88 N5 W10 N125 W5 N266.57 POB

sEc 36 19 13 2.65ACS

10.13



6/6/23. 9:54 AM câlcmâps.oom

5707 S. Memorial Dr. E., Tulsa, OK74146

Legal: BEG NWC SW TH E620.64 SW349.40 sw4?9'64w104'88 N646'57 POB LESS BEG

NWC SW TH S646.5t Êeo ¡¡o w0 Nt25 W5 N311.57 Wlo N205 w35 POB & LESS BEG 458

a 250s Nwc Nw sw in Ê332.2'l sw.89 sw479.64 W44.88 lü wl' Nl25 W5 N266,57 POB

sEG 3619 13 2.65ACS

,ür f
f$Ë

nù

t
I I0¡þ

t
T

s
#

t€tlrp/ f
FÛT{TATIA:

f llrt 5r

fir ,r*t'r*"*

'Ì^"*- f 5tn'st

Ê 5Ìh gr

srLv€i
5P¡IHG5

I 55rh 5r

ç eor¡ Pl

f, 5{Xh 5t

_ÈÀ

ü
'Ëö
1ö

lJru Ð

Í4t 
, $¡

tend tt 
.+

^p
"Ç **SUilGår! {"1

;i
.r, :lÊ

I Slrr gl

f Éoûr 5l

I ltrh 3r

E 61it St

fi
'E
t"

cof,rtlrRct
I
I

b

t

5rl

E 5órh tr

¡ 57rh 5t

t ltrk n

¡ 59rh fr

.lÉ$

IltËfurttvÊ
¡.f¡.a.f¡¡

fj*dt

t 65lh .Þ

F Strr

I J6{h 5t

wooorAN
vt[w pARi I

{f,

, uÈts

.Þ.

1

{
,ç

soulH t 59n er !l
E 60ri 5r ?

'-ft
I¡ flrt ¡r

I ôil¡!ú 5l

E:t¿n¿n

$,r*,, I
ñ1.
'¡Håoow i'rtoun¡tttr :'

6ìd Fl

t {taô St

t$ålh 
Fl

f e¡"c f¡

ìts

!.65rh Pf

' ''86É{ti'Sr - '

ã'I
ts

*,

I

L

CT

,-ñ

:o
iF'o

s'" r
rs

8UR1{ING TBIE

6¿nd çr

t 6t.d ft

6rEH fÂG rf5

'l
d'"

c

f,
{
6*1¡f*s..iF

ûlr
Þ
¡¡
Þ
t: 6Íttr Þl

e ¡oh st € t6th 3r

Ê

.Þ
ô

ð66?r!5r

--,: :, 
: j..ffii:i t,',' 

ru;.,,.,ri 
tt,

No detention and correctional facilities, emergency and protective shelters, homelesscenters' residential treatment centers and traisitiånar nving conters are located with a2,640 feet radius of the location.

10.14



10.15





REVISED 6/29/2023 

Case Number: BOA-23550 

Hearing Date: 07/11/2023 1:00 
PM 

Case Report Prepared by: 

Austin Chapman 

Owner and Applicant Information: 

Applicant: Linda Waytula   

Property Owner: Jeff McCoy 

Action Requested: Variance to allow drive-through facilities to be located on the street-
facing side of the property (Sec. 55.100-C.2) 

Location Map: Additional Information: 

Present Use: Vacant lot     

Tract Size: 1.1 acres 

Location: 5115 E. 51 St. 

Present Zoning: CS 

11.1



§̈¦44

S 
YA

LE
 A

VE E 51ST ST S

E 47TH PL S

S F
UL

TO
N 

AV
E

S B
RA

DE
N 

AV
E

S D
AR

LIN
GT

ON
 AV

E

E SKELLY DR

S V
AN

DA
LIA

 AV
E

E 54TH ST S

E 49TH ST SE 50TH ST S

S F
UL

TO
N 

CT

S F
UL

TO
N 

PLE S
KELLY

 DR

19-13 27
0 200 400

Feet oBOA-23550 Note:  Graphic overlays may not precisely
align with physical features on the ground.

Aerial Photo Date: 2023
Subject
Tract

SUBJECT TRACT

11.2



E 51ST ST S

S B
RA

DE
N A

VE

E 49TH ST S

19-13 27
0 50 100

Feet oBOA-23550 Note:  Graphic overlays may not precisely
align with physical features on the ground.

Aerial Photo Date: 2023
Subject
Tract

11.3



PUD-86
PUD-766 PUD-86-A

PUD-244

PUD-175

PUD-398

RS-2

CS
CH

RM-2

RM-1

RM-3

RM-1

OM

RS-2

CS

OM

CS

OL

RS-3

RD

RS-2

RM-1

RS-3

RM-2

RM-1

RM-1

RM-2

R
S-

3

CH

PKPK

R
S-

3§̈¦44

S 
YA

LE
 A

VE E 51ST ST S

E 47TH PL S

S F
UL

TO
N 

AV
E

S B
RA

DE
N 

AV
E

S D
AR

LIN
GT

ON
 AV

E

E SKELLY DR

S V
AN

DA
LIA

 AV
E

E 54TH ST S

E 49TH ST SE 50TH ST S

S F
UL

TO
N 

CT

S F
UL

TO
N 

PLE S
KELLY

 DR

19-13 27
0 200 400

Feet oBOA-23550

SUBJECT TRACT

11.4



REVISED 6/29/2023 

BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT 
CASE REPORT 

STR: 9327  Case Number: BOA-23550 
CD: 5

HEARING DATE: 07/11/2023 1:00 PM 

APPLICANT: Linda Waytula 

ACTION REQUESTED: Variance to allow drive-through facilities to be located on the street-facing side of the property 
(Sec. 55.100-C.2) 

LOCATION: 5115 E. 51 St. ZONED: CS 

PRESENT USE: Vacant lot  TRACT SIZE: 47835.61 SQ FT 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION: PRT LTS 17 & 18 BEG SWC LT 18 TH N22.41 SE19.60 SE216.56 E69.07 S7.42 W304.50 
POB; LTS 17 & 18 LESS PRT BEG SWC LT 18 TH N22.41 SE19.60 SE216.56 E69.07 S7.42 W304.50 POB, 
CANFIELD SUB CITY OF TULSA, TULSA COUNTY, STATE OF OKLAHOMA 

RELEVANT PREVIOUS ACTIONS:  None.  

RELATIONSHIP TO THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN: The Tulsa Comprehensive Plan identifies the subject property as 
part of a “Neighborhood” Land Use designation.  

Neighborhoods are “Mostly Residential Uses” which includes detached, missing middle, and multi-dwelling unit 
housing types. Churches, schools, and other low-intensity uses that support residents’ daily needs are often 
acceptable, particularly for properties abutting Multiple Use, Local Center, or Regional Center land use areas. 
Multi-dwelling unit housing that takes access off of an arterial is considered Multiple Use, Local Center, or Regional 
Center. If a multi-dwelling unit housing property takes access off of a lower-order street separated from the arterial, 
then it would be considered Neighborhood. 

STATEMENT OF HARDSHIP: Please see attached exhibit.  

STAFF ANALYSIS:  The applicant is requesting a Variance to allow drive-through facilities to be located on the street-
facing side of the property (Sec. 55.100-C.2) 

11.5



REVISED 6/29/2023 

Applicant is proposing a drive through restaurant with lanes and windows facing Braden Ave. 

Facts staff finds favorable for variance request:  
 None.

Facts Staff find unfavorable for the variance request:  

 The applicant has not provided any physical constraints on the property other than it being a corner lot.

 Property is currently vacant and it is unclear why a drive-through cannot be designed to meet code.

 As of the writing of this staff report the applicant has not provided any alternative to show what hardship
would be created if the drive through were to meet the zoning code.

SAMPLE MOTION: Move to _________ (approve/deny) a Variance to allow drive-through facilities to be located on 
the street-facing side of the property (Sec. 55.100-C.2)  

 Finding the hardship(s) to be________________________________.

 Per the Conceptual Plan(s) shown on page(s) ______ of the agenda packet.

 Subject to the following conditions ___________________________.

In granting the Variance the Board finds that the following facts, favorable to the property owner, have been 
established:  

a. That the physical surroundings, shape, or topographical conditions of the subject property would result in
unnecessary hardships or practical difficulties for the property owner, as distinguished from a mere
inconvenience, if the strict letter of the regulations were carried out;

b. That literal enforcement of the subject zoning code provision is not necessary to achieve the provision’s
intended purpose;

c. That the conditions leading to the need of the requested variance are unique to the subject property and
not applicable, generally, to other property within the same zoning classification;

d. That the alleged practical difficulty or unnecessary hardship was not created or self-imposed by the
current property owner;

e. That the variance to be granted is the minimum variance that will afford relief;

f. That the variance to be granted will not alter the essential character of the neighborhood in which the
subject property is located, nor substantially or permanently impair use or development of adjacent
property; and

g. That the variance to be granted will not cause substantial detriment to the public good or impair the
purposes, spirit, and intent of this zoning code or the comprehensive plan.”

11.6



REVISED 6/29/2023 

Statement of Hardship: 

11.7



REVISED 6/29/2023 

Facing North on Braden Ave.  

Subject property 

11.8



11.9



EXHIBIT A

1. Carl's Jr. - 4994 E. 41st St, Tulsa, OK74135 (Drive-Thru window faces S. Darlington Ave)

Drive-Thru pick up window

2. Schlotzsky's - 4905 E. 41st St, Tulsa, OK74135 (Order Point faces S. Yale Ave)

Menu board/order point

3. Wendy's - 2098 S Wheeling Ave, Tulsa, OK74104 (Drive-Thru window faces S. Wheeling Ave)

Drive-Thru pick up window

11.10



lP
 --

i.Ll 
r'll

f- 
rñ

-:Ll-ll u-
(n rrn
(1)-'
() 

{Ð

-- 
f,l{

:>
 þ-

(J 
:=

Ìn 
:>

f: 
(-'¡

-- "::
i: 

:;
.-l- 

l-

'¡ 
ll

¡r_\ ¡-_

¿
r\ 

:>

:ì =
>

t-\ 
!-

\r Ir
\/ ::

.,i;-
]>

.:
<

(" 
,,r'l",

*- 
lirt

ü)<
>

\! 
;.,

sÍ' \ \¿
r-,l!

-- 
):!

=
: 

r!

)'à:
*i 

*;

:ll(!¡ì.:l
trl

^i=U -. 
rll

\

-'-. 
' 

ñ

;,À
 r

i\" r

u.:'a)
¡¡Ø
at\ 

\{.J
f ì 

9" 
!:.:r

-¡
=

,Þ
;ì

'!;; Þ
5,-
-qJ

ry- ,,
:.' \
)t, -<

.j;:,
.:r,l

ñ\ 
(.'., 

\t)

\l 
,] 

lqi
F

." t-

--î
(J,i ¿

r

-.t .-
l-* 

!^:'
.i.P

:
-i: 

t'õ

iÞ
.. Ii\ 

+
!,

lJ¡ 1.!J s;

.-.. 
r-

l0

(U
>

\L 
:;

l¡! 
w

 
:.:

J.r 
! 

\3)

(s) [\

'-r-:- 
;"--:

lrg

t

¡år{

.^È
F

 
tÍ.)

t'^, v¿

,, 
{l)

gF

._ñ
(Lf,

u..¡ lll
"^Ø
çJ 

á\
,.v
u 

dr
rr 

Y
[ìJ 

F

>
^

U
*

_*v

<
-

æ"a\ 
=

l

=
 

f:--
ffil.E

 
! 

rr
fl

g\>
-=

_d/i- 
'=

 
.å

Þ
q n!¿

il¡ 
\v

]H
 

eÃ

¡-9
\J.r

:: \'
-! 

N
-

t\
\l

17 
5-

-L^
f\v_ -.î
;- 

ru
tv 

dñ

¿
l-

tf-_t.F
.P

 
êñ

tF
¡ V

)
,". c)
\ü-
;*- i-t-
t-lt-" iri
LL*
.* ['\
\)¿

 -
\/_(N

-
1-

:
0

..^ rn
l/, 

6)
:>

 >
,

'i=
 c)

l- 
rñ

1Ð
o

-! 
4,

1

.i,i!

-E
:

\.J

II

!t

ü;- 
tf.2)

r;!l

tg\
íql

t-.
19tl

iuiq.
iur

,.?r;11

¡,J.

rÊt9L

þn

ì:l;il

E
.

ìLq
!!i

I.

¡,"i 
I

,:lf: 
:.;:::. 

: 
r:

1,

."J,

Ë
.'tïi

?¿
a í

Y
ï."

'I

-b

t

't-
.L'

ft':,2

ll
.-,:'*Ï.

i,ßI
:!!,1
rq-
Elrì

Tt.

((:t

<
1::

:1 
i- 

r 
2-!!:1_ 

i

¡

IqI

tr=
^ 

!

F
i'r

,¡

ú':

l! 
It

¡"1.r.

l-

g't-,ã

.-1i,.

, .i-\
.i/'!

.t)rÞrJ'-t l

,irl

- 
, 

,t 
'{... 

I

11.11



EXHIBIT A
10. Whataburger - 4888 E. 21st St., Tulsa, OK74114 (Drive-Thru window faces E. 21st St

and the Order Point faces S. Yale Ave)

Drive-Thru pick up window

Menu board/order point

1 1 . McDonald's - 7010 S Zurich Ave, Tulsa , OK74136 (Drive-Thru window faces S. Yale Ave and the
Order Points face S. Zurich Ave)

F

!
I
I

I
I

' ' : ...-,-.*

ët4=l'a. Menu board/order points

Drive-Thru pick up window

12. Chick-fil-A - 7129 S Olympia Ave, Tulsa , OK74132 (Order Point faces Tulsa Hills Drive)
13. Arby's - 7117 S Olympia Ave, Tulsa, OK74132 (Order Point faces W. 71st St. S.)
14. McDonald's - 8952 S Memorial Dr, Tulsa, OK74133 (Drive-Thru window faces E. 71st St.)
15. Freddy's Frozen Custard -10305 S Memorial Dr, Tulsa, OK74133 (Drive-Thru window faces E.

103rd St. and the Order Point faces S. 82nd E. Ave)
16. Burger King - 3242 E. 1 1th St., Tulsa, OK74104 (Drive-Thru window faces S. Harvard Ave)

11.12


	BOA-2023-04-25-Minutes-Draft.pdf
	BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT
	The notice and agenda of said meeting were posted in the City Clerk’s office, City Hall, on April 19, 2023, at 2:33 p.m., as well as at the Office of INCOG, 2 West Second Street, Suite 800.
	UMINUTES
	On MOTION of Barrientos, the Board voted 5-0-0 (Barrientos, Bond, Radney, Stauffer, Wallace “ayes”, no “nays”; no “abstentions”) to UAPPROVEU the Minutes of April 11, 2023 (Meeting No. 1314).

	BOA-2023-05-09-Minutes-Draft.pdf
	BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT
	The notice and agenda of said meeting were posted in the City Clerk’s office, City Hall, on May 3, 2023, at 3:25 p.m., as well as at the Office of INCOG, 2 West Second Street, Suite 800.
	MINUTES
	On MOTION of Barrientos, the Board voted 5-0-0 (Barrientos, Bond, Radney, Stauffer, Wallace “ayes”, no “nays”; no “abstentions”) to APPROVE the Minutes of April 11, 2023 (Meeting No. 1314).
	*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*.
	*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*.
	*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*.*.

	BOA-2023-05-23-Minutes-Draft.pdf
	BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT
	The notice and agenda of said meeting were posted in the City Clerk’s office, City Hall, on May17, 2023, at 3:30 p.m., as well as at the Office of INCOG, 2 West Second Street, Suite 800.
	MINUTES
	On MOTION of Barrientos, the Board voted 5-0-0 (Barrientos, Bond, Radney, Stauffer, Wallace “ayes”, no “nays”; no “abstentions”) to CONTINUE the Minutes of April 25, 2023 (Meeting No. 1316) to the next BOA meeting on June 13, 2023.

	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page



